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Forward Looking Statements

The information in this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act). Such statements are based
upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts may be
deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,”
“strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Our
actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that
might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report in the section
titled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings. We undertake no obligation to
publicly release any revisions to the forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report.

Part I

 Item 1.    Business

Overview

Riverbed® has developed an innovative and comprehensive solution to the fundamental problems of wide-area distributed computing.
Historically, computing within an organization across wide area networks (WANs) has been plagued by poor performance, IT complexity and high
cost. Our Steelhead® appliances enable our customers to improve the performance of their applications and access to their data across WANs,
typically increasing transmission speeds by 5 to 50 times and in some cases by up to 100 times. Our products also offer the ability to simplify IT
infrastructure and realize significant capital and operational cost savings. Our goal is to establish our solution as the preeminent performance and
efficiency standard for organizations relying on wide-area distributed computing. We believe our products and services can provide significant
benefits in millions of locations worldwide.

A common misconception is that increasing or optimizing bandwidth alone can adequately reduce the inefficiencies and performance
problems inherent in wide-area distributed computing. Increasing or optimizing bandwidth may allow an organization to increase the amount of
data that can traverse a WAN at a given point in time. However, WAN performance problems resulting from the distance between locations across
a WAN and resulting from network and application protocol inefficiencies are not addressed by increasing or optimizing bandwidth alone.
Inadequate bandwidth is only one of three inter-related causes of these performance problems. We believe that these problems can best be
solved by simultaneously addressing all three inter-related root causes: software application protocol inefficiencies, transport network protocol
inefficiencies and insufficient or unavailable bandwidth.

Unlike alternative approaches, our Steelhead appliances simultaneously address these root causes across a broad range of applications.
Our appliances utilize our proprietary software to improve the performance of applications and access to data over distance by reducing:
 

 � application protocol inefficiencies through our proprietary Application Streamlining techniques;
 

 � network protocol inefficiencies through our proprietary Transport Streamlining techniques; and
 

 � bandwidth requirements through our proprietary Data Streamlining techniques and data compression.
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Our Steelhead appliances are installed at both ends of a WAN connection and are designed to be more easily and transparently integrated

into existing networks than alternative products. Our products address a broad range of widely used software applications, are scalable across
networks of all sizes and address the wide-area distributed computing needs of every major industry.

We were founded in May 2002. Prior to the first commercial shipments of our products in May 2004, our activities were primarily focused
on research and development of a comprehensive Wide-area Data Services (WDS) solution for organizations relying on wide-area distributed
computing, development of a customer and partner support program to support our product offerings and the hiring of the personnel needed to
sell, market and support our product and services. Since that time, our products have been sold to more than 1,600 customers worldwide, from
large global organizations with hundreds or thousands of locations to smaller organizations with as few as two locations. We sell our products and
support directly through our sales force and indirectly through distribution partners, including value-added resellers (VARs). We operate
internationally primarily through a number of wholly owned subsidiaries that are designed primarily to support our sales, marketing and support
activities outside the United States.

We have achieved broad industry recognition for our innovative technology: The Wall Street Journal selected our Steelhead appliances as
a winner of one of its “2005 Technology Innovation Awards.” Network Computing Magazine recently presented us with its “Well-Connected Award”
for Remote Office Solutions in 2006, InfoWorld magazine presented us with a “Technology of the Year” award in both 2005 and 2006, and in
October 2006, we were positioned by Gartner in the Leaders’ Quadrant in the “WAN Optimization Controller (WOC) Magic Quadrant.” This report
positions vendors in one of four quadrants based on the companies’ vision and ability to execute on that vision. The four quadrants are Leaders,
Challengers, Visionaries and Niche Players.

Industry Background

We believe there are over four million remote offices of U.S.-based companies alone. We also believe millions of remote computing
locations exist for companies based outside the U.S. Many of these locations represent potential sites for our products.

We refer to WDS as the market for providing global access to data and applications across WANs with local area network (LAN)-like
performance. The WDS market is large and growing. The key drivers of demand in this market are the increasingly geographically distributed
nature of organizations and employees, the growing business dependence on application performance and real-time access to data and the
increasing desirability of consolidation of IT resources to achieve compelling cost, management and data protection benefits.

Increasingly Distributed Organizations and Workforces

Organizations are becoming more geographically distributed, placing operations closer to customers and partners to improve efficiency and
responsiveness. Businesses are becoming more global by expanding into new markets, migrating manufacturing facilities to lower-cost locations
and outsourcing certain business processes. In addition, mergers, acquisitions, partnerships and joint ventures continue to expand the geographic
scope of existing enterprises.

Organizations are Increasingly Dependent on Timely Access to Critical Data and Applications

Application performance and effective access to data are critical to executing, maintaining and expanding business operations. Employees
are increasingly dependent on a wide array of software applications to perform their jobs effectively, such as E-mail, document management,
enterprise resource planning and customer relationship management.
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Benefits of IT Infrastructure Consolidation

As organizations have become more geographically distributed, installing and managing IT infrastructure has become increasingly costly
and complex. Accordingly, IT managers often seek to consolidate IT infrastructure resources into headquarters or centralized datacenter locations,
which can provide a number of benefits, including:
 

 � reduction in capital costs as IT infrastructure resources (file servers, E-mail servers, Web servers, application servers, back-up systems
and databases) are consolidated and shared within an organization;

 

 � reduction in IT support costs as fewer personnel are required to manage more centralized data and applications;
 

 � more efficient and reliable data back-up and recovery and application and database administration by managing these processes from a
central point of control;

 

 � improved data protection as consolidated IT infrastructure resources are less vulnerable to theft, loss and misuse; and
 

 � enhanced ability to implement internal controls and comply with other regulatory requirements as centralized data and applications are
easier to monitor, store and access.

Despite these benefits, many organizations have foregone or delayed consolidation projects because of performance problems.

Wide-Area Distributed Computing Challenges

Technological advances in computing, networking, semiconductor and storage technologies have improved users’ ability to access data
and use applications rapidly across their LANs and store enormous amounts of information economically. However, these same applications and
storage technologies, which were often designed to operate optimally on LANs, perform slowly across WANs and frequently exhibit the following
performance challenges:
 

 � delays in accessing, saving and transferring files;
 

 � slow execution of critical software application functions;
 

 � incomplete or inconsistent back-up and recovery of sensitive data; and
 

 � loss of worker productivity and increased end-user frustration.

Although many companies have attempted to solve these problems solely by adding bandwidth, we believe these performance problems
can best be solved by addressing not only bandwidth challenges but also, and usually more importantly, the effects of latency and protocol
chattiness:
 

 

� Latency and protocol chattiness — “Latency” is the amount of time it takes data to travel distances across a WAN. “Chattiness” refers to
the numerous interactions between clients and servers that are often required by applications or network transport protocols to complete
an operation or transfer data. When combined in geographically distributed computing environments, latency and chattiness can result
in dramatically slower performance. For example, a simple request to open a file may require hundreds if not thousands of sequential
round-trip interactions that, when aggregated, can result in substantial delays. This problem arises from two distinct sources:

 

 
– Application protocol chattiness — Most business applications were designed for optimal use within LAN environments and employ

unique communications procedures that cause high chattiness, resulting in slow performance for the end-user when transmitted over
a WAN; and
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– Network protocol chattiness — Transmission Control Protocol (TCP), the underlying transport protocol for most WAN traffic, divides

data into relatively small packets that are sent sequentially across the WAN, and require return acknowledgement from the recipient.
These numerous round trips across the WAN can result in slow performance for the end-user.

 

 

� Bandwidth limitations — Bandwidth is defined as the amount of data that can traverse a network in a given amount of time and is
typically measured in megabits per second (Mbps). While most organizations’ LANs typically operate at 100 or 1,000 Mbps, their remote
office WAN connections typically operate at 2 Mbps or less. This often results in WAN congestion and poor application and data
services performance. In addition, WAN outages limit the effectiveness of workers who are dependent on remote access to data and
applications.

Limitations of Alternative Approaches

Historically, organizations have implemented partial solutions in attempting to improve the performance of wide-area distributed computing,
including:

Additional Investment in Bandwidth and IT Infrastructure Resources
 

 
� Bandwidth — Organizations often attempt to improve application performance by making costly investments in more bandwidth. While

additional bandwidth may reduce network congestion, no amount of bandwidth can address performance issues caused by high latency
and application and network protocol chattiness; and

 

 
� IT infrastructure resources — Deploying additional IT infrastructure resources at remote locations can increase selected application and

data services performance. However, this approach is expensive, complex to manage and increases the risks of data inconsistency and
compromised security.

Deployment of Point Products

Our competitors have designed products that fail to address all of the root causes of wide-area distributed computing problems for a broad
range of applications. Such products, which we refer to as point products, include:
 

 

� Caching — Cache-based architectures are application specific, and accordingly only improve the performance of applications for which
they are written. For example, wide area file services (WAFS) approaches only address poor performance of file-based applications.
Caches store frequently accessed data objects (files, web pages or attachments) locally at remote locations and replicate and
synchronize that data with servers, but this approach has limitations. For instance, when an end-user changes and renames a data
object, caches no longer recognize that this data object has moved across the network and cannot optimize its transfer. In addition,
caching approaches have inflexible architectures with limited ability to extend to other applications and also increase the risk of data
inconsistency; and

 

 

� WAN optimization — WAN optimization products, which typically offer some combination of compression, TCP optimization and
quality-of-service functions, can result in a reduction of network congestion and more efficient utilization of bandwidth. However, WAN
optimization products typically do not address application chattiness and do not provide for continued access to remote files during WAN
failures.

In addition to their limited application, these point products often involve deployment and operational complexities that cause network
disruption and inefficiency. They may often require server or client re-configuration, or complex pre-installation configuration that demands
significant amounts of time from IT personnel.
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Need for a Comprehensive Solution

Alternative approaches have failed to comprehensively address all of the root causes of wide-area distributed computing problems for a
broad range of applications, and offer only limited performance enhancement. Some vendors have attempted to combine capabilities of otherwise
more limited approaches through partnerships and acquisitions, but the resulting products have been poorly integrated and have failed to improve
the performance of a sufficiently wide array of applications. We believe significant demand exists for an integrated, flexible and comprehensive
WDS solution that adequately addresses the root causes of the fundamental performance problems of wide-area distributed computing.

The Riverbed Solution

We have developed an innovative and comprehensive solution that broadly addresses the inter-related root causes of poor performance of
wide-area distributed computing: latency and protocol chattiness, and bandwidth limitations. By simultaneously addressing these causes, we are
able to improve significantly the performance of applications and access to data across WANs and enable the consolidation of costly IT
infrastructure. Our WDS solution consists of the Riverbed Optimization System (RiOS™), our proprietary software that is embedded on a general
purpose hardware computing platform to form our Steelhead appliances.

Through the application of our proprietary technology, our WDS solution simultaneously addresses each of these root causes of poor WAN
performance:
 

 � Application protocol chattiness — Our Application Streamlining technology significantly reduces unnecessary protocol chattiness for a
broad range of applications;

 

 � Network protocol chattiness — Our Transport Streamlining technology employs a variety of techniques to significantly improve TCP
performance. Our technology allows more data to be transmitted in each trip, which reduces the number of trips required; and

 

 
� Bandwidth limitations — Our Data Streamlining technology employs sophisticated data mapping and pattern recognition techniques to

minimize the amount of redundant data traversing WAN connections. Our Steelhead appliances detect requests for redundant
information and send very little more than the data that has actually been modified over the WAN.

When combined, these key technologies allow us to deliver significant benefits to our customers, including the ability to:
 

 

� Accelerate performance of applications and access to data over the WAN — Our solution enables our customers to recognize dramatic
increases in performance of applications and access to data across a WAN, typically increasing transmission speeds by 5 to 50 times
and in some cases by up to 100 times. Benefits include increased employee productivity, more efficient collaboration of globally
distributed workgroups and more consistent rollout and adoption of enterprise applications;

 

 
� Consolidate geographically distributed IT resources — Our solution enables the consolidation of remote office infrastructure, including

servers, storage back-up systems, databases and IT support personnel, while achieving more LAN-like performance. Also, consolidation
enhances data security by centralizing IT resources in more secure datacenters;

 

 � Reduce the need for WAN bandwidth — Our solution nearly eliminates redundant traffic traversing the WAN and enables more efficient
use of existing bandwidth, reducing the pressure to add bandwidth, which is often expensive or unavailable, as network traffic increases;
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� Shorten storage back-up and replication time over the WAN — Our solution enables back-up and replication of data over the WAN in a
fraction of the time previously allocated to the task. Additional benefits to our solution include reduced IT support needed to execute
daily back-up procedures, as well as reduced security concerns related to storing and transporting backed-up data on physical tape
media at every remote computing location;

 

 
� Provide local storage for continued access to remote files during WAN failures — Our solution includes a Proxy File Services (PFS)

feature that ensures continued access to data and applications during WAN failures. PFS also manages synchronization of locally
modified data with the central datacenter when the WAN connection is restored; and

 

 
� Improve productivity and reduce frustration for IT managers and end-users — Our solution allows users in sites linked by a WAN to

collaborate and share files and other data without the delays normally caused by WANs. Additional benefits include faster development
cycles, better data synchronization, lower error rates and more flexibility with respect to staffing and personnel coordination.

Our products are designed to be easily and transparently deployed into our customers’ networks. Our products are also designed to be
easily managed, scalable across networks of all sizes and to address the wide-area distributed computing needs of every major industry.

The Riverbed Strategy

Our goal is to establish our solution as the preeminent performance and efficiency standard for organizations relying on wide-area
distributed computing. Key elements of our strategy include:
 

 
� Maintain and extend our technological advantages — We believe that we offer the broadest ability to enable rapid, reliable access to

applications and data for our customers. We intend to enhance our position as a leader and innovator in the WDS market. We also
intend to continue to sell new capabilities into our installed base;

 

 
� Enhance and extend our product line — We plan to introduce new models of our current products as well as enhancements to their

capabilities in order to address our customers’ size and application requirements. We also plan to introduce new products to extend our
market and utilize our technology platform to extend our capabilities;

 

 � Increase market awareness — To generate increased demand for our products, we will continue promoting our brand and the
effectiveness of our comprehensive WDS solution;

 

 � Scale our distribution channels — We intend to leverage and expand our indirect channels to extend our geographic reach and market
penetration; and

 

 � Enhance and extend our support and services capabilities — We plan to enhance and extend our support and services capabilities to
continue to support our growing global customer base.

Products

Our Steelhead appliances consist of our RiOS proprietary software that is embedded on a general purpose hardware computing platform.
Our line of Steelhead appliances addresses the needs of customers ranging from small office deployments to large headquarters and datacenter
locations. The U.S. list prices for our ten Steelhead appliance models currently range from $3,495 to $119,995.

Our Central Management Console (CMC) is a complementary product designed to centrally manage many Steelhead appliances
distributed across a WAN, simplifying the tasks of deploying, configuring, monitoring, reporting and upgrading large numbers of Steelhead
appliances. The U.S. list prices of our CMC appliances currently range from $4,995 to $49,995.
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Our InterceptorTM is a complementary product designed to enable flexible and scalable deployment of a cluster of Steelhead appliances in

complex, high traffic data center environments without requiring complex network reconfiguration, making the deployment of a Riverbed-based
solution simpler, faster and more scalable than alternatives. The U.S. list price of our Interceptor appliance is currently $49,995.

In addition to accelerating the performance of applications across the WAN, Steelhead and CMC appliances utilize our Management
Streamlining technology to simplify deployment, configuration, management, and ongoing maintenance, thereby lowering the total cost of
ownership of our products. Management Streamlining offers the following benefits:
 

 

� Ease of deployment — Our products are designed to be more easily and seamlessly integrated into networks than alternative
approaches with full support for most existing routing and networking configurations. Steelhead appliances can automatically detect
each other within an organization’s WAN and be automatically configured across WAN links to begin optimizing data without the need to
manually set up complicated appliance-to-appliance network tunnels; and

 

 
� Simplified management — Our products simplify remote-site appliance management by enabling remote configuration, management

and updating of Steelhead appliances. In addition, our products also provide performance reporting capabilities necessary to deliver
relevant performance information to centralized IT resources.

Technology

The Riverbed Optimization System (RiOS) is our proprietary software platform that provides the core intelligence for our Steelhead
appliances. To achieve performance improvements across a broad range of applications, RiOS integrates four key sets of technologies: Data
Streamlining, Transport Streamlining, Application Streamlining and Management Streamlining.

Data Streamlining

Our Data Streamlining technologies address bandwidth limitations in existing networks. Our patented approach can be applied to all data
and applications that run over TCP to reduce bandwidth consumption by dramatically reducing the need to send the same data multiple times over
the WAN. Data Streamlining also supports the classification of individual data packets for quality-of-service and route control.

In a non-optimized WAN setting, each time data is requested by a remote user, all of the data must be sent across the WAN regardless of
whether identical data (or an insignificantly modified version of the data) has previously been sent. In wide-area distributed computing
environments where Steelhead appliances have been deployed, all of the requested data must be sent across the WAN only the first time data is
requested by a user, at which time that data is stored on the Steelhead appliances on both sides of the network. In subsequent requests,
redundant data segments will not be sent regardless of what application is requesting the data or which user is making the request. The detection
of repetitive data patterns is very granular, with a typical segment of data being as small as approximately 100 bytes. This fine level of granularity
enables Steelhead appliances to detect tiny changes in files, E-mails, web pages and other application data, sending only those changes across
the WAN.

Each end-user request for data is sent directly to the intended authoritative application server as opposed to a cache that typically utilizes a
copy of the data. Our Steelhead appliance intercepts the server response, identifies redundant data patterns and then sends only the new
segments across the WAN to the end-user. All of the existing segments are represented by references which point to those
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already existing segments stored on the end-user side of the WAN connection. In this way, significantly less traffic needs to be sent to deliver
large amounts of data to the end-user. In addition, this approach eliminates data consistency issues inherent in cache-based approaches.

Transport Streamlining

Transport Streamlining enhances the performance of the TCP protocol by increasing the amount of data carried per TCP round trip,
thereby reducing the number of round trips required to move a given amount of data over the WAN. We accomplish this by both increasing the
default TCP payload and by filling the window with references to data rather than actual data.

We also enhance TCP performance by reducing the time associated with creating new TCP connections (especially for small, short-lived
transfers), adapting transfer parameters based on real-time network characteristics and assigning priority for necessary packet resends due to
packet loss. A component of Transport Streamlining, High Speed TCP, also addresses the TCP chattiness and latency that is particularly
pronounced in high speed connections (for example OC-12 (622 Mbps)).

Application Streamlining

Application Streamlining provides a further mechanism to enhance the performance of specific applications. Many applications were
designed for use over a LAN and require hundreds to thousands of interactions between client and server to execute even simple requests, such
as opening a file. By understanding the semantics of particular application protocols, Steelhead appliances reduce chattiness, collapsing hundreds
of client-server interactions into a few round trips over the WAN.

While most important business applications that run over TCP immediately benefit from Data Streamlining and Transport Streamlining,
Application Streamlining enables us to add additional acceleration for specific applications. We have built specific Application Streamlining
modules that support file, E-mail, web and database application protocols (CIFS, MAPI, HTTP and MS-SQL). We have also built special modules
to address protocol inefficiencies for common storage back-up and replication applications. We believe these applications are especially inefficient
in wide-area distributed computing. We have designed our architecture to enable additional Application Streamlining modules to be incorporated
easily over time.

Application Streamlining also provides for disconnected operations via the PFS feature. Using PFS, IT managers can provide remote users
with policy-based access to files even during WAN failures.

Management Streamlining

Management Streamlining allows for simplified implementation and administration of our Steelhead appliances. Unlike alternative
approaches which usually require changes to clients, servers, routers and switches or the addition of an overlay network of tunnels, Steelhead
appliances are designed to be transparently installed in existing IT infrastructure with minimal administration. The auto-discovery capabilities of
RiOS allow our Steelhead appliances to identify automatically all Steelhead appliances on the WAN, typically without a need to reconfigure any
network infrastructure. Our appliances automatically intercept WAN traffic without any further configuration requirements to applications, clients, or
other network infrastructure, while allowing non-optimized traffic to simply pass through.

Our RiOS software provides IT administrators with simplified management of Steelhead appliances through Command Line Interface (CLI),
Graphical User Interface (GUI) and an optional Central Management Console.
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Other key elements of Management Streamlining include touchless configuration options, over-the-wire software upgrades for Steelhead

appliances, singular and grouped appliance management and customizable reporting analytics.

Customers

Our products have been sold to over 1,600 customers worldwide in every major industry, including finance, engineering, professional
services, manufacturing, media, healthcare, pharmaceuticals, utilities, telecom, government, retail, architecture, construction and technology. Our
products are deployed in a wide range of organizations, from large global organizations with hundreds or thousands of locations to smaller
organizations with as few as two locations. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006, no single customer accounted
for 10% or more of our consolidated revenue.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and support through indirect distribution partners and our field sales force:
 

 � Indirect distribution partners — We have over 200 channel partners worldwide, primarily VARs. These partners help market and sell our
products to a broad array of organizations and allow us to leverage our field sales force; and

 

 � Field sales force — We have a field sales force that is responsible for managing all direct and indirect sales within each of our
geographic territories.

Our marketing activities include lead generation, advertising, website operations, direct marketing, public relations, technology conferences
and trade shows.

Support and Services

We offer tiered customer support programs depending upon the service needs of our customers’ deployments. Support contracts provide
customers rights to unspecified software product upgrades and maintenance releases issued when and if available during the support period.
Product support includes internet access to technical content, as well as telephone access to technical support personnel. Support contracts
typically have a one year term. We have support centers in New York, San Francisco, Mountain View, Amsterdam, London, Singapore and Tokyo,
which enables us to respond at all times. As we expand internationally, we plan to continue to hire additional technical support personnel to
service our growing international customer base.

Primary product support for customers of our indirect distribution partners is often provided by the partners themselves and we provide
back-up support.

Our product sales include a warranty on hardware and software. Hardware is typically warranted against material defects for 12 months.
Software is typically warranted to meet published specifications for a period of 90 days.

Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to our business. To this end, we have assembled a team of engineers with
expertise in various fields, including networking, application, storage and systems management. We have invested significant time and financial
resources into the development of our Steelhead line of appliances and our RiOS software platform. We plan to expand our product offerings and
solutions capabilities in the future and plan to dedicate significant resources
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to these continued research and development efforts. Further, as we expand internationally and into different sectors, we may incur additional
costs to conform our products to comply with local laws or local product specifications.

Research and development expenses were $19.2 million, $8.1 million and $4.3 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Manufacturing

We outsource manufacturing of all Steelhead appliances. Our manufacturers provide us with limited warranties to cover general
component failures, but we do not receive any guarantees regarding quality control or replacement times. In addition, the lead times associated
with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantity requirements and delivery schedules. Despite outsourcing
manufacturing operations for cost-effective scale and flexibility, we perform rigorous quality control testing intended to ensure the reliability of
Steelhead appliances once deployed.

Shortages in components that we use in our products are possible and our ability to predict the availability of such components may be
limited. Some of these components are available only from single or limited sources of supply. Our ability to timely deliver products to our
customers would be materially adversely impacted if we needed to qualify replacements for any of a number of the components used in our
Steelhead appliances.

We outsource our logistics functions to third parties. These third parties ship our products on our behalf and perform certain other shipping
and physical distribution capabilities.

Competition

The WDS market is highly competitive and continually evolving. We believe we compete primarily on the basis of offering a comprehensive
WDS solution that broadly addresses the root causes of poor performance of wide-area distributed computing. We believe other principal
competitive factors in our market include product performance, ability to deploy easily into existing networks and ability to remotely manage
products. We believe that our solution performs better than competitive products as measured by a broad range of metrics encompassing
application performance, compression ratios and data transfer times. Our ability to sustain such a competitive advantage depends on our ability to
achieve continuous technological innovation and adapt to the evolving needs of our customers.

We believe we are currently the only provider of a comprehensive WDS solution. However, a large number of vendors provide one or more
of the component optimization technologies that comprise the WDS market or have made recent acquisitions in an attempt to bolster their current
WAN optimization or WAFS platforms. For example, in May 2006, Packeteer, a WAN optimization vendor, acquired Tacit Networks, a WAFS
vendor.

Our primary competitors include Cisco Systems (through its Actona acquisition), Juniper Networks (through its Peribit Networks
acquisition), F5 Networks (through its Swan Labs acquisition), Packeteer (through its Tacit Networks acquisition) and Citrix Systems (through its
Orbital Data acquisition). We also face competition from a large number of smaller private companies and new market entrants.

We compete with cache-based architectures, including Cisco Systems’ WAE and WAAS products. Caches store copies of data in a local
cache to help client-side servers avoid having to request the retransmission of the same data again across a WAN. Our WDS architecture, which
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includes our Data Streamlining technology, is a substitute for caching. Our Data Streamlining technology employs sophisticated data mapping and
pattern recognition techniques to minimize the amount of redundant data traversing WAN connections. Our Steelhead appliances detect requests
for redundant information and send little more than the data that has actually been modified over the WAN. In addition, caches store only the
specific data objects associated with a particular caching technology. For instance, file caches only store files, while web caches only store static
web objects. Our Steelhead appliances store WAN traffic at the byte level, without regard for the application that was used or data object name.

We also compete with WAN optimization products, including Juniper’s WX appliances, which typically offer some combination of
compression, TCP optimization and quality-of-service functions, in order to reduce network congestion and to more efficiently utilize bandwidth.
Our Steelhead appliances employ our Data Streamlining algorithms to remove repeat traffic, and thereby reduce network congestion and more
efficiently utilize bandwidth. Further, our Steelhead appliances include Transport Streamlining and Application Streamlining techniques to optimize
the behavior of TCP and other application protocols.

We believe that we compete favorably in each of the sub-segments of WAN optimization and WAFS in addition to being the only provider
of a comprehensive WDS solution.

Intellectual Property

Our success as a company depends upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. To accomplish this, we rely
on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, as well as customary contractual
protections.

We have been granted three United States patents for our Content-Based Segmentation Scheme (which covers aspects of our Data
Streamlining) and a United States patent for aspects of our Transaction Accelerator system (the architectural framework of RiOS). The granted
United States patents will expire in 2022. United States patent filings are intended to provide the holder with a right to exclude others from making,
using, selling or importing in the U.S. the inventions covered by the claims of granted patents. We have United States provisional and
non-provisional patent applications pending, as well as counterparts pending in other jurisdictions around the world. We do not know whether any
of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents or whether the examination process will require us to narrow our claims.
Our granted United States patents, and to the extent any future patents are issued, any such future patents may be contested, circumvented or
invalidated over the course of our business, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing these patents. Therefore, the exact
effect of having a patent cannot be predicted with certainty.

Our two registered trademarks in the United States are Riverbed and Steelhead. Our three registered trademarks in Japan are Riverbed,
Steelhead and Riverbed (stylized). Our two registered trademarks in the European Community are Riverbed (stylized) and Steelhead. We also
have United States trademark applications pending to register Riverbed (stylized), RiOS, Interceptor and the Riverbed Design mark, and a
European Community trademark application pending for the mark Riverbed.

In addition to the foregoing protections, we generally control access to and use of our proprietary software and other confidential
information through the use of internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers and
partners, and our software is protected by United States and international copyright laws.
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We also incorporate third-party software programs into our Steelhead and Central Management Console appliances pursuant to license

agreements. These software programs enable us to configure a storage adapter for specific redundant disk setups, initialize and diagnose
hardware on certain models, and help manage statistics and reporting. Any disruption in our access to these software programs could result in
significant delays in our product releases and could require substantial effort to locate or develop a replacement program.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 325 employees in offices across the United States, Europe and the Asia Pacific region. Of these, 151
were engaged in sales and marketing, 109 in research and development, 33 in support and services and 32 in finance, administration and
operations. None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we consider current employee relations to be good.

Available Information

Our Internet address is www.riverbed.com. There we make available, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our website. The information
found on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.

 Item 1A.    Risk Factors

Set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report, and in other documents we file with the SEC, are risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. Because
of the following factors, as well as other variables affecting our operating results, past financial performance should not be considered as a reliable
indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We compete in new and rapidly evolving markets and have a limited operating history, which make it difficult to predict our future
operating results.

We were incorporated in May 2002 and shipped our first Steelhead appliance in May 2004. We have a limited operating history and offer a
single line of products in an industry characterized by rapid technological change. It is very difficult to forecast our future operating results. You
should consider and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainty frequently encountered by early stage companies in rapidly
evolving markets characterized by rapid technological change, changing customer needs, evolving industry standards and frequent introductions
of new products and services. As we encounter rapidly changing customer requirements and increasing competitive pressures, we likely will be
required to reposition our product and service offerings and introduce new products and services. We may not be successful in doing so in a
timely and appropriately responsive manner, or at all. Furthermore, because we compete in an early stage market, many of our target customers
have not purchased products similar to ours and might not have a specific budget for the purchase of our products and services. All of these
factors make it difficult to predict our future operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future results difficult to predict and could cause our operating
results to fall below expectations or our guidance.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be
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meaningful. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. In addition, a significant portion of our quarterly
sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which we believe reflects customer buying patterns of products similar to ours and other
products in the technology industry generally. As a result, our quarterly operating results are difficult to predict even in the near term. If our
revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts or below any guidance we may provide to the market,
the price of our common stock would likely decline substantially.

In addition to other risk factors listed in this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may affect our operating results include:
 

 � fluctuations in demand, including due to seasonality, for our products and services;
 

 � fluctuations in sales cycles and prices for our products and services;
 

 � reductions in customers’ budgets for information technology purchases and delays in their purchasing cycles;
 

 � the timing of recognizing revenue in any given quarter as a result of software revenue recognition rules;
 

 � the sale of our products in the timeframes we anticipate, including the number and size of orders in each quarter;
 

 � our ability to develop, introduce and ship in a timely manner new products and product enhancements that meet customer requirements;
 

 � the timing of product releases or upgrades by us or by our competitors;
 

 � any significant changes in the competitive dynamics of our markets, including new entrants or substantial discounting of products;
 

 � our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses and the costs of the components we purchase;
 

 � volatility in our stock price, which may lead to higher stock compensation expenses pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R); and

 

 � general economic conditions in our domestic and international markets.

We have a history of losses and we may not achieve profitability in the future.

We have not yet achieved profitability. We experienced a net loss of $15.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. As of
December 31, 2006, our accumulated deficit was $47.3 million. We expect to continue to incur losses, and we may not become profitable for the
foreseeable future, if ever. We expect to make significant expenditures related to the development of our business, including expenditures to hire
additional personnel relating to sales and marketing and technology development. In addition, as a public company, we incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We would have to generate and sustain significantly increased
revenue to achieve profitability. Our revenue growth trends in prior periods are not likely to be sustainable, and we may not achieve sufficient
revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including those discussed in
other risk factors and factors that we cannot foresee.

We face intense competition that could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our financial results.

The market for our products is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in the future. Other companies may introduce new
products in the same markets we serve or intend to enter.
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This competition could result in increased pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses and failure to
increase, or the loss of, market share, any of which would likely seriously harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

Competitive products may in the future have better performance, lower prices and broader acceptance than our products. Many of our
current or potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and significantly greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources than we do. Potential customers may prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers
rather than a new supplier regardless of product performance or features. Currently, we face competition from a number of established
companies, including Cisco Systems (which acquired Actona Technologies), Juniper Networks (which acquired Peribit Networks), F5 Networks
(which acquired Swan Labs), Packeteer (which acquired Tacit Networks) and Citrix Systems (which acquired Orbital Data). We also face
competition from a large number of smaller private companies and new market entrants.

We expect increased competition from other established and emerging companies if our market continues to develop and expand. For
example, third parties currently selling our products could market products and services that compete with our products and services. In addition,
some of our competitors have made acquisitions or entered into partnerships or other strategic relationships with one another to offer a more
comprehensive solution than they individually had offered. We expect this trend to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain their
market positions in an evolving industry and as companies enter into partnerships or are acquired. Many of the companies driving this
consolidation trend have significantly greater financial, technical and other resources than we do and are better positioned to acquire and offer
complementary products and technologies. The companies resulting from these possible consolidations may create more compelling product
offerings and be able to offer greater pricing flexibility, making it more difficult for us to compete effectively, including on the basis of price, sales
and marketing programs, technology or product functionality. Continued industry consolidation may adversely impact customers’ perceptions of
the viability of smaller and even medium-sized technology companies and consequently customers’ willingness to purchase from such companies.
These pressures could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We also face competitive pressures from other sources. For example, Microsoft has announced its intention to improve the performance of
its software for remote office users. Our products are designed to improve the performance of many applications, including applications that are
based on Microsoft protocols. Accordingly, improvements to Microsoft application protocols may reduce the need for our products, adversely
affecting our business, operating results and financial condition. Improvement in other application protocols or in the Transmission Control
Protocol (TCP), the underlying transport protocol for most WAN traffic, could have a similar effect. In addition, we market our products, in
significant part, on the anticipated cost savings to be realized by organizations if they are able to avoid the purchase of costly IT infrastructure at
remote sites by purchasing our products. To the extent other companies are able to reduce the costs associated with purchasing and maintaining
servers, storage or applications to be operated at remote sites, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We rely on indirect distribution partners, including value-added resellers, to sell our products, and disruptions to, or our failure to
develop and manage, our distribution channels and the processes and procedures that support them effectively could adversely affect
our business.

Our future success is highly dependent upon establishing and maintaining successful relationships with a variety of indirect distribution
partners. A significant amount of our revenue is derived through indirect channel sales, and we expect indirect channel sales to continue to
increase as
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a percentage of our total revenue. Accordingly, our revenue depends in large part on the effective performance of these channel partners. By
relying on indirect channels, we may have little or no contact with the ultimate users of our products, thereby making it more difficult for us to
establish brand awareness, ensure sell-through of our products necessary for us to recognize revenue, ensure proper delivery and installation of
our products, service ongoing customer requirements and respond to evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partners and training them in our technology and product offerings requires significant time and
resources. In order to develop and expand our distribution channel, we must continue to scale and improve our processes and procedures that
support our channel, including investment in systems and training, and those processes and procedures may become increasingly complex and
difficult to manage. We have no long-term contracts or minimum purchase commitments with any of our value-added resellers or other indirect
distributors, and our contracts with these channel partners do not prohibit them from offering products or services that compete with ours. Our
competitors may be effective in providing incentives to existing and potential channel partners to favor their products or to prevent or reduce sales
of our products. Our channel partners may choose not to offer our products exclusively or at all. Our failure to establish and maintain successful
relationships with channel partners would likely materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We rely on third parties to perform shipping and other logistics functions on our behalf. A failure or disruption at a logistics partner
would adversely impact our business.

Currently, we use third party logistics partners to perform storage, packaging, shipment and handling for us. We intend to utilize additional
logistics service providers in connection with any expansion of our international sales. Although the logistics services required by us may be
readily available from a number of providers, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement these relationships. Therefore, if one or
more of our logistics partners suffers an interruption in its business, or experiences delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its operations,
or we have to change or add additional logistics partners, our ability to ship products to our customers would be delayed and our business,
operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

If functionality similar to that offered by our products is incorporated into existing network infrastructure products, organizations may
decide against adding our appliances to their network, which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Other providers of network infrastructure products are offering or announcing functionality aimed at addressing the problems addressed by
our products. For example, Cisco Systems has communicated its intent to incorporate WAN optimization functionality into certain of its router
products. The inclusion of, or the announcement of intent to include, functionality perceived to be similar to that offered by our products in products
that are already generally accepted as necessary components of network architecture may have an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell
our products. Furthermore, even if the functionality offered by other network infrastructure providers is more limited than our products, a significant
number of customers may elect to accept such limited functionality in lieu of adding additional appliances from an additional vendor. Many
organizations have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to design and operate their networks and have established deep
relationships with other providers of network infrastructure products, which may make them reluctant to add new components to their networks,
particularly from new vendors. In addition, an organization’s existing vendors or new vendors with a broad product offering may be able to offer
concessions that we are not able to match because we currently offer only a single line of products and have fewer resources than many of our
competitors. If organizations are reluctant to add additional network infrastructure from new vendors or otherwise decide to work with their existing
vendors, our business, operating results and financial condition will be adversely affected.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed or we could be required to incur
significant expenses to enforce our rights.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken
to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude misappropriation of our proprietary information or infringement of our intellectual
property rights, and our ability to police such misappropriation or infringement is uncertain, particularly in countries outside of the United States.
Further, with respect to patent rights, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents or
whether the examination process will require us to narrow our claims, and even if patents are issued, they may be contested, circumvented or
invalidated over the course of our business. Moreover, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection
or competitive advantages, and, as with any technology, competitors may be able to develop similar or superior technologies to our own now or in
the future. Protecting against the unauthorized use of our products, trademarks and other proprietary rights is expensive, difficult and, in some
cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of management
resources, either of which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Furthermore, many of our current and potential
competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights than we do. Accordingly, despite
our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietary technology could harm our business.

Third parties could claim that our products or technology infringe their proprietary rights. We expect that infringement claims may increase
as the number of products and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur. In addition, to the extent that we gain greater visibility and
market exposure as a public company, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement claims. Any claim of
infringement by a third party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, and could distract
our management from our business. Furthermore, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires us to pay
substantial damages. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from offering our products. In addition,
we might be required to seek a license for the use of such intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or
at all. Alternatively, we may be required to develop non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense and may
ultimately not be successful. Any of these events could seriously harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Third parties may
also assert infringement claims against our customers and channel partners. Any of these claims would require us to initiate or defend potentially
protracted and costly litigation on their behalf, regardless of the merits of these claims, because we generally indemnify our customers and
channel partners from claims of infringement of proprietary rights of third parties. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay
damages on behalf of our customers or channel partners, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense. As a result, our sales are
difficult to predict and may vary substantially from quarter to quarter, which may cause our operating results to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of our revenue is difficult to predict. Our sales efforts involve educating our customers about the use and benefit of our products,
including their technical capabilities and potential cost savings to an organization. Customers typically undertake a significant evaluation process
that has in
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the past resulted in a lengthy sales cycle, in some cases over twelve months. We spend substantial time, effort and money in our sales efforts
without any assurance that our efforts will produce any sales. In addition, product purchases are frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple
approvals, and unplanned administrative, processing and other delays. If sales expected from a specific customer for a particular quarter are not
realized in that quarter or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

We are susceptible to shortages or price fluctuations in our supply chain. Any shortages or price fluctuations in components used in
our products could delay shipment of our products, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Shortages in components that we use in our products are possible and our ability to predict the availability of such components may be
limited. Some of these components are available only from single or limited sources of supply. For example, our Steelhead appliances depend on
network bypass cards to provide a fail-to-wire capability. These bypass cards use high speed relays available only from a single vendor.
Significant time and effort would be required to locate a new vendor for this component, if available at all. In addition, our ability to timely deliver
products to our customers would be materially adversely impacted if we needed to qualify replacements for the systems, motherboards, chassis
and storage adapters used in our Steelhead appliances. We would be similarly affected by shortages in the availability, or the complete
unavailability, of the central processing units, bypass cards, disks, fans and power supplies that we use in our appliances. Specifically, the
unavailability of any of these components would prevent us from shipping products because each of these components is necessary to the proper
functioning of our appliances. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantity
requirements and delivery schedules.

Any growth in our business or the economy is likely to create greater pressures on us and our suppliers to project overall component
demand accurately and to establish optimal component inventory levels. In addition, increased demand by third parties for the components we use
in our products may lead to decreased availability and higher prices for those components. We carry very little inventory of our products and
product components, and we rely on our suppliers to deliver necessary components to our contract manufacturers in a timely manner based on
forecasts we provide. We rely on purchase orders rather than long-term contracts with our suppliers. As a result, even if available, we may not be
able to secure sufficient components at reasonable prices or of acceptable quality to build products in a timely manner, which would seriously
impact our ability to deliver products to our customers, and our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

If we fail to predict accurately our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays
which would harm our business. We are dependent on contract manufacturers with whom we do not have long-term supply contracts,
and changes to those relationships, expected or unexpected, may result in delays or disruptions that could harm our business.

We depend on independent contract manufacturers who use standard components to manufacture and assemble our products. We rely on
purchase orders with all of our contract manufacturers and do not have long-term supply arrangements with any of them. As a result, our contract
manufacturers are not obligated to supply products to us for any specific period, in any specific quantity or at any specific price. Our orders may
represent a relatively small percentage of the overall orders received by our contract manufacturers from their customers. As a result, fulfilling our
orders may not be considered a priority by one or more of our contract manufacturers in the event the contract manufacturer is constrained in its
ability to fulfill all of its customer obligations in a timely
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manner. We provide demand forecasts to our contract manufacturers. If we overestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may
assess charges or we may have liabilities for excess inventory, each of which could negatively affect our gross margins. Conversely, because lead
times for required materials and components vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and the
demand for each component at a given time, if we underestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may have inadequate materials
and components required to produce our products, which could interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in delays in shipments and
deferral or loss of revenue.

Although the contract manufacturing services required to manufacture and assemble our products may be readily available from a number
of established manufacturers, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement contract manufacturer relationships. Therefore, if one or
more of our contract manufacturers suffers an interruption in its business, or experiences delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its
manufacturing operations, or we have to change or add additional contract manufacturers, our ability to ship products to our customers would be
delayed and our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

If we lose key personnel or are unable to attract and retain personnel on a cost-effective basis, our business would be harmed.

Our success is substantially dependent upon the performance of our senior management and key technical and sales personnel. Our
management and employees can terminate their employment at any time, and the loss of the services of one or more of our executive officers or
other key employees could harm our business. Our success also is substantially dependent upon our ability to attract additional personnel for all
areas of our organization, particularly in our sales, research and development and customer service departments. Competition for qualified
personnel is intense, and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel on a timely basis, on competitive terms, or at all. If
we are unable to attract and retain the necessary technical, sales and other personnel on a cost-effective basis, our business, operating results
and financial condition would be adversely affected.

We may not generate positive returns on our research and development investments.

Developing our products is expensive, and the investment in product development may involve a long payback cycle. In the year ended
December 31, 2006, our research and development expenses were $19.2 million, or approximately 21% of our total revenue. Our future plans
include significant investments in research and development and related product opportunities. We believe that we must continue to dedicate a
significant amount of resources to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive position. These investments may take several
years to generate positive returns, if ever.

Our ability to sell our products is highly dependent on the quality of our support and services offerings, and our failure to offer high
quality support and services would have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

Once our products are deployed within our customers’ networks, our customers depend on our support organization to resolve any issues
relating to our products. A high level of support is critical for the successful marketing and sale of our products. If we or our channel partners do
not effectively assist our customers in deploying our products, succeed in helping our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and
provide effective ongoing support, it would adversely affect our ability to sell our products to existing customers and could harm our reputation with
potential customers. In addition, as we expand our operations internationally, our support organization will face additional challenges
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including those associated with delivering support, training and documentation in languages other than English. As a result, our failure to maintain
high quality support and services would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business would be harmed.

We have expanded our operations significantly since inception and anticipate that further significant expansion will be required. This future
growth, if it occurs, will place significant demands on our management, infrastructure and other resources. To manage any future growth, we will
need to hire, integrate and retain highly skilled and motivated employees. We will also need to continue to improve our financial and management
controls, reporting systems and procedures. We are currently converting to a new enterprise resource planning software system that will replace a
substantial majority of our finance, sales and inventory management systems. We may encounter delays or difficulties in converting to the new
enterprise resource planning system, including loss of data and decreases in productivity as our personnel become familiar with new systems. If
we experience delays or difficulties in implementing the new enterprise resource planning system or other systems and procedures, our ability to
properly run our business could be adversely affected. If we do not effectively manage our growth, our business, operating results and financial
condition would be adversely affected.

If we do not successfully anticipate market needs and develop products and product enhancements that meet those needs, or if those
products do not gain market acceptance, our business and financial results will be adversely affected.

We may not be able to anticipate future market needs or be able to develop new products or product enhancements to meet such needs.
For example, our failure to address additional application-specific protocols, particularly if our competitors are able to provide such functionality,
could adversely affect our business. In addition, any new products or product enhancements that we introduce may not achieve any significant
degree of market acceptance or be accepted into our sales channel by our channel partners, which would adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Organizations are increasingly concerned with the security of their data, and to the extent they elect to encrypt data being transmitted
from the point of the end-user, rather than only across the WAN, our products will become less effective.

Our products are designed to remove the redundancy associated with repeated data requests over a WAN, either through a private
network or a virtual private network (VPN). The ability of our products to reduce such redundancy depends on our products’ ability to recognize the
data being requested. Our products currently do not detect repeated data patterns if the data is encrypted as it passes through our Steelhead
appliances. Since most organizations currently encrypt most of their data transmissions only between sites and not on the LAN, the data is not
encrypted when it passes through our appliances. If more organizations elect to encrypt their data transmissions from the end-user to the server,
our products will offer little performance improvement unless we are successful in incorporating additional functionality into our appliances that
address those encrypted transmissions. Our failure to provide such additional functionality could adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced information technology spending may adversely impact our business.

Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology, and in particular for Wide-area Data Services, and on the
economic health of our current and prospective customers. The
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market we serve is emerging and the purchase of our products involves material changes to established purchasing patterns and policies. In
addition, the purchase of our products is often discretionary and may involve a significant commitment of capital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions, or a reduction in information technology spending even if economic conditions improve, would likely adversely impact our
business, operating results and financial condition in a number of ways, including longer sales cycles, lower prices for our products and services
and reduced unit sales.

If our products do not interoperate with our customers’ networks, installations will be delayed or cancelled, which would harm our
business.

Our products must interoperate with our customers’ existing networks, which often have different specifications, utilize multiple protocol
standards and products from multiple vendors, and contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time. If we find errors in
the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers’ networks or problematic network configurations or settings, as we have in
the past, we may have to modify our software or hardware so that our products will interoperate with our customers’ networks. This could cause
longer installation times for our products and could cause order cancellations, either of which would adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Our products are highly technical and may contain undetected software or hardware errors, which could cause harm to our reputation
and adversely affect our business.

Our products, including software product upgrades and releases, are highly technical and complex and, when deployed, are critical to the
operation of many networks. Our products have contained and may contain undetected errors, defects or security vulnerabilities. Some errors in
our products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by customers. Any errors, defects or security vulnerabilities
discovered in our products after commercial release could result in loss of revenue or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customers and
increased service and warranty cost, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, we
could face claims for product liability, tort or breach of warranty, including claims relating to changes to our products made by our channel
partners. Our contracts with customers contain provisions relating to warranty disclaimers and liability limitations, which may not be upheld.
Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management’s attention and adversely affect the market’s perception of us
and our products. In addition, if our business liability insurance coverage proves inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms
or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

We may engage in future acquisitions that could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders and harm our business,
operating results and financial condition.

In the future we may acquire other businesses, products or technologies. We have not made any acquisitions to date. Our ability as an
organization to make acquisitions is unproven. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates and we may not be able to complete
acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our
goals, or may be viewed negatively by customers, financial markets or investors. In addition, any acquisitions that we make could lead to
difficulties in integrating personnel and operations from the acquired businesses and in retaining and motivating key personnel from these
businesses. Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operations, divert management from day-to-day responsibilities, increase our expenses and
adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. Future acquisitions may reduce our cash available for operations and
other uses and could result in an increase in amortization expense related to identifiable assets acquired, potentially dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Our international sales and operations subject us to additional risks that may adversely affect our operating results.

In 2005, we derived approximately 18% of our revenue from customers outside the United States. This number increased to approximately
27% in 2006. We have sales and technical support personnel in numerous countries worldwide. We expect to continue to add personnel in
additional countries. Our international operations subject us to a variety of risks, including:
 

 � the difficulty of managing and staffing international offices and the increased travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated
with multiple international locations;

 

 � difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting accounts receivable, and longer payment cycles, especially in emerging markets;
 

 � tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our products in certain foreign
markets;

 

 � increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk; and
 

 � reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

International customers may also require that we localize our products. The product development costs for localizing the user interface of
our products, both graphical and textual, could be a material expense to us if the software requires extensive modifications. To date, such changes
have not been extensive and the costs have not been material.

As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage
these and other risks associated with our international operations. Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our
international operations and reduce our international sales, adversely affecting our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our use of open source and third-party software could impose limitations on our ability to commercialize our products.

We incorporate open source software into our products. Although we monitor our use of open source closely, the terms of many open
source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that could
impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. In such event, we could be required to seek licenses
from third parties in order to continue offering our products, to re-engineer our products or to discontinue the sale of our products in the event
re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.

We also incorporate certain third-party technologies, including software programs, into our products and may need to utilize additional
third-party technologies in the future. However, licenses to relevant third-party technology may not continue to be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. Therefore, we could face delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or
developed, and integrated into our current products. These delays, if they occur, could materially adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition. We currently use third-party software programs in our Steelhead appliances and our Central Management Console
appliances. For example, in our Steelhead appliances, we use third-party software to configure a storage adapter for specific redundant disk
setups as well as to initialize and diagnose hardware on certain models and in our Central Management Console appliances we use third-party
software to help manage statistics and reporting. Each of these software programs is currently available from only one
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vendor. As a result, any disruption in our access to these software programs could result in significant delays in our product releases and could
require substantial effort to locate or develop a replacement program. If we decide in the future to incorporate into our appliances any other
software program licensed from a third party, and the use of such software program is necessary for the proper operation of our appliances, then
our loss of any such license would similarly adversely affect our ability to release our products in a timely fashion.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject us to liability or impair our ability to compete in
international markets.

Our products are subject to U.S. export controls and may be exported outside the U.S. only with the required level of export license or
through an export license exception, because we incorporate encryption technology into our products. In addition, various countries regulate the
import of certain encryption technology and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products or could limit our customers’
ability to implement our products in those countries. Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the
introduction of our products in international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our products throughout
their global systems or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries altogether. Any change in export or import
regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or
technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our
products to, existing or potential customers with international operations. For example, we will need to comply with Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment Directive laws, which are being adopted by certain European Economic Area countries on a country-by-country basis. Failure to
comply with these and similar laws on a timely basis, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products would likely adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management devotes substantial time to new
compliance initiatives.

We incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses as a public company, including costs resulting from regulations regarding
corporate governance practices. For example, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Global Market require that we satisfy certain
corporate governance requirements relating to independent directors, audit committees, distribution of annual and interim reports, stockholder
meetings, stockholder approvals, solicitation of proxies, conflicts of interest, stockholder voting rights and codes of conduct. Our management and
other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations have increased our
legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and regulations
could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive
officers.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, for the year ending December 31, 2007, we must perform system and process evaluation and
testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management and our independent registered public accounting firm to report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the subsequent
testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur
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substantial expense and expend significant management time on compliance-related issues. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, or if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock would likely decline and we could be
subject to sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Global Market, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require
additional financial and management resources.

If we need additional capital in the future, it may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at all.

We have historically relied on outside financing and cash flow from operations to fund our operations, capital expenditures and expansion.
We may require additional capital from equity or debt financing in the future to fund our operations or respond to competitive pressures or strategic
opportunities. We may not be able to secure timely additional financing on favorable terms, or at all. The terms of any additional financing may
place limits on our financial and operating flexibility. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity, convertible debt securities or
other securities convertible into equity, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and
any new securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. If we are unable to
obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, if and when we require it, our ability to grow or support our business and to
respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, floods and other natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade
problems such as computer viruses or terrorism.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. A significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition,
our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. In
addition, acts of terrorism or war could cause disruptions in our or our customers’ business or the economy as a whole. To the extent that such
disruptions result in delays or cancellations of customer orders, or the deployment of our products, our business, operating results and financial
condition would be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have been highly volatile. Further, our common stock has a limited trading
history. Since our initial public offering in September 2006 through February 8, 2007, our stock price has fluctuated from a low of $13.60 to a high
of $36.25. Factors that could affect the trading price of our common stock could include:
 

 � variations in our operating results;
 

 � announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us
or by our competitors;

 

 � the gain or loss of significant customers;
 

 � recruitment or departure of key personnel;
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 � changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities analysts who follow our common
stock;

 

 � significant sales, or announcement of significant sales, of our common stock by us or our stockholders;
 

 � market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole;
 

 � adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our business; and
 

 � the expiration of lock-up agreements.

On February 7, 2007, we announced our intention to file a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for the sale to the public of
approximately 2.35 million shares of our common stock by us and approximately 2.65 million shares by selling stockholders. The filing of the
registration statement or sale of stock pursuant to the registration statement could cause our stock price to fluctuate significantly.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences loss of investor confidence, the trading price of
our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The trading price of our common
stock might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Each of
these factors, among others, could have a material adverse effect on an investment in our common stock. Some companies that have had volatile
market prices for their securities have had securities class actions filed against them. If a suit were filed against us, regardless of its merits or
outcome, it could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources. This could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.

A significant portion of our outstanding common stock will soon be released from restrictions on resales and may be sold in the market
in the near future. Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders, particularly our directors and executive officers, sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market, or are perceived by the public market as intending to sell, the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly. As noted
above, we recently announced our intention to file a registration statement for the sale to the public of approximately 2.65 million shares of our
common stock by existing stockholders. As of December 31, 2006, 66,180,286 shares of our common stock were outstanding. Of these shares,
the 10,090,321 shares sold in our initial public offering were freely tradable without restriction in the public market as of December 31, 2006,
without giving effect to the proposed follow-on public offering described above. The remaining 56,089,965 shares are subject to market standoff
agreements entered into by our stockholders with us or contractual lock-up agreements entered into by our stockholders with the underwriters for
our initial public offering. See the section titled “Shares Eligible for Future Sale” in the preliminary prospectus for our proposed follow-on public
offering for further information about the market standoff, contractual lock-up and other resale restrictions of our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will continue to depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business, including securities analysts employed by our underwriters who are currently prohibited under rules of the NASD
from publishing research about us or our business for a limited period of time. If we do not continue to maintain adequate research coverage or if
one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price would likely
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decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could
decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Insiders have substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters.

Our directors and executive officers and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 71.8% of our outstanding
common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.
This concentration of ownership could limit your ability to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third
party from acquiring control over us.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
company and may affect the trading price of our common stock.

We are a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years
after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our management or control
over us that stockholders may consider favorable.

 Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

 Item 2.    Properties

We lease approximately 95,420 square feet of office space in San Francisco, California, of which 31,622 square feet are under a lease that
expires on February 13, 2007 and which space was recently vacated as part of a move to our new corporate headquarters. Our new San
Francisco facility is approximately 63,798 square feet under a lease that expires in 2010. In addition, we lease approximately 14,452 square feet of
office space in Mountain View, California pursuant to a lease that expires in 2010. We also maintain customer service centers in New York, San
Francisco, Mountain View, Amsterdam, London, Singapore and Tokyo, and sales offices in multiple locations worldwide. We believe that our
current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs and we intend to add new facilities or expand existing facilities as necessary.

 Item 3.    Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various claims, complaints and legal actions in the normal course of business from time to time. We do not believe we
are party to any currently pending legal proceedings the outcome of which will have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial
position. There can be no assurance that existing or future legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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Part II

 Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “RVBD” since our initial public offering on
September 21, 2006. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq
Global Market.
 

   High   Low
Third Quarter 2006 (from September 21, 2006)   $ 19.70  $ 13.60
Fourth Quarter 2006   $ 35.17  $ 17.52
First Quarter 2007 (through February 8, 2007)   $ 36.25  $ 28.06

The last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market was $30.98 per share on February 8, 2007.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors currently intends to retain any future earnings to
support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business and does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock
for the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board.

Stockholders

As of January 31, 2007, there were 149 registered stockholders of record of our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock between September 21, 2006 (the date
of our initial public offering) and December 31, 2006, with the cumulative total return of (i) the Nasdaq Computer Index and (ii) the Nasdaq
Composite Index, over the same period. This graph assumes the investment of $100,000 on September 21, 2006 in our common stock, the
Nasdaq Computer Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any. The graph assumes the initial
value of our common stock on September 21, 2006 was the closing sales price of $15.30 per share.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the
graph below is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock. Information used
in the graph was obtained from FactSet, a source believed to be reliable, but we are not responsible for any errors or omissions in such
information.

 
     9/21/2006      10/31/2006      11/30/2006      12/29/2006  
Riverbed   100.0  156.7  228.0  200.7
Nasdaq Composite Index   100.0  105.8  108.7  107.9
Nasdaq Computer Index   100.0  106.3  110.3   107.6
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

(a) Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 4,101,450 shares of common stock to
our employees and directors under our 2002 Stock Plan at exercise prices ranging from $4.50 to $7.75 per share. During this period, we also
issued an aggregate of 243,321 shares of common stock to employees and directors pursuant to the exercise of stock options for cash
consideration with aggregate exercise proceeds of approximately $200,750. These issuances were undertaken in reliance upon the exemption
from registration requirements of Rule 701 or Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

On February 10, 2006, we issued and sold 3,738,318 shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock to eighteen institutional investors
for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $20,000,000. This issuance was deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act
in reliance upon Regulation D of the Securities Act as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering. All shares of such Series D
preferred stock converted into shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis upon the closing of our initial public offering.

On December 12, 2006, we issued an aggregate of 97,522 shares of our common stock to Lighthouse Capital Partners IV, L.P. and
Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. pursuant to the net exercise provisions of warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $0.836 per share. No cash was paid to us for such issuance of our common stock. This issuance was deemed to be exempt from
registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public
offering.

The recipients of securities in each transaction represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view
to or for sale in connection with any distribution and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in these transactions. All
recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering (IPO) pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-133437) which the SEC declared effective on September 20, 2006. Under the registration statement, we registered the offering and sale
of an aggregate of 9,990,321 shares of our common stock, and another 100,000 shares of our common stock sold by a selling stockholder. The
offering did not terminate until after the sale of all of the shares registered on the registration statement. All of the shares of common stock issued
pursuant to the registration statement, including the shares sold by the selling stockholder, were sold at a price to the public of $9.75 per share.
The managing underwriters were Goldman, Sachs & Co., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., and Thomas Weisel
Partners LLC.

As a result of the IPO, we raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds, or approximately $87.5 million in net proceeds after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and offering expenses of $3.1 million. No payments for such expenses were made directly
or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, or
(iii) any of our affiliates. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares in the IPO by the selling stockholder. On October 2, 2006 we
used $1.5 million of the net proceeds to repay our credit facility. We anticipate that we will use the remaining net proceeds from the IPO for
general corporate purposes, which may include expansion of our domestic and international sales and marketing organizations, investments in our
infrastructure to support our growth, further development and expansion of our service offerings and possible acquisitions of complementary
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businesses, technologies or other assets. Pending such uses, we plan to invest the net proceeds in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade
securities. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from that described in the final prospectus filed with
the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b).

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.
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 Item 6.    Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and
related notes thereto and with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations which are included
elsewhere in this Annual Report. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. The consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31,
2003 and the period from inception to December 31, 2002, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are
derived from audited consolidated financial statements which are not included in this Annual Report.
 
   Year Ended December 31,   Period from

May 23, 2002
(Inception) to
December 31,

2002  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2006   2005   2004   2003   

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:       
Revenue:       

Product   $ 70,967  $ 17,759  $ 2,325  $ —  $ — 
Support and services    12,315   1,925   106   —   — 
Ratable product and related support and services    6,925   3,257   131   —   — 

                     

Total revenue    90,207   22,941   2,562   —   — 
                     

Cost of revenue:       
Cost of product    23,504   5,843   806   —   — 
Cost of support and services    4,748   1,276   508   —   — 
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    1,900   1,475   209   —   — 

                     

Total cost of revenue (1)    30,152   8,594   1,523   —   — 
                     

Gross profit    60,055   14,347   1,039   —   — 
                     

Operating expenses       
Sales and marketing(1)    48,080   19,722   5,586   976   43 
Research and development(1)    19,215   8,108   4,266   2,360   144 
General and administrative(1)    9,294   3,531   1,033   665   76 

                     

Total operating expenses    76,589   31,361   10,885   4,001   263 
                     

Operating loss    (16,534)   (17,014)   (9,846)   (4,001)   (263)
                     

Total other income, net    992   (77)   24   27   2 
                     

Loss before income taxes    (15,542)   (17,091)   (9,822)   (3,974)   (261)
Provision for income taxes    303   55   5   —   — 

                     

Loss before cumulative change in accounting principle    (15,845)   (17,146)   (9,827)   (3,974)   (261)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   280   —   —   — 

                     

Net loss   $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)  $ (9,827)  $ (3,974)  $ (261)
                     

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)  $ (1.82)  $ (0.16)
                     

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per
share    26,977   9,401   5,760   2,189   1,667 
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
 
   Year Ended December 31,   Period from

May 23, 2002
(Inception) to
December 31,

2002

(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004   2003   

Cost of revenue   $ 520  $ 40  $ 1  $ —  $ —
Sales and marketing    4,636   482   78     —
Research and development    2,541   397   12   —   —
General and administrative    1,521   368   1   —   —

                    

Total stock-based compensation   $ 9,218  $ 1,287  $ 92  $     —  $     —
                    

 
   As of December 31,  
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004   2003   2002  
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data        
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 105,330  $ 10,410  $ 23,380  $ 12,717  $ 6,256 
Working capital    101,319   6,411   23,382   12,033   6,174 
Total assets    150,769   23,644   26,838   13,229   6,273 
Preferred stock warrant liability    —   594   —   —   — 
Current and long-term debt    —   2,461   1,374   239   — 
Convertible preferred stock    —   36,385   36,469   16,453   6,444 
Common stock and additional paid-in-capital    162,033   10,130   612   12   —   
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)    108,980   (29,911)   (13,931)   (4,223)   (261)
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 Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The information in this Annual Report contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such statements are
based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical facts
may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,”
“continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report in the
section titled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly release any revisions to the
forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report.

Overview

We were founded in May 2002 by experienced industry leaders with a vision to improve the performance of wide-area distributed
computing. Having significant experience in caching technology, our executive management team understood that existing approaches failed to
address adequately all of the root causes of this poor performance. We determined that these performance problems could be best solved by
simultaneously addressing inefficiencies in software applications and WANs, as well as insufficient or unavailable bandwidth. This innovative
approach served as the foundation of the development of our products. We began commercial shipments of our products in May 2004 and now
offer ten models of our Steelhead appliances as well as our Central Management Console and Interceptor.

We are headquartered in San Francisco, California. Our personnel are located throughout the United States and in numerous countries
worldwide. We expect to continue to add personnel in the United States and internationally to provide additional geographic sales and technical
support coverage.

In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering (IPO) of common stock in which we sold and issued 9,990,321 shares of our
common stock, at an issue price of $9.75 per share. We raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately $87.5
million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and other offering costs of $3.1 million. Upon the
closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into 39,441,439 shares of common stock.

We believe that our current value proposition, which enables customers to improve the performance of their applications and access to
their data across WANs, while also offering the ability to simplify IT infrastructure and realize significant capital and operations cost savings,
should allow us to grow our business. Our product revenue growth rate will depend significantly on continued growth in the WDS market and our
ability to continue to attract new customers in that market. Our growth in support and services revenue is dependent upon increasing the number
of products under support contracts, which is dependent on both growing our installed base of customers and renewing existing support contracts.
Our future profitability and rate of growth, if any, will be directly affected by the continued acceptance of our products in the marketplace, as well
as the timing and size of orders, product mix, average selling prices and costs of our products and general economic conditions. Our ability to
attain profitability will also be affected by the extent to which we must incur additional
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expenses to expand our sales, marketing, development, and general and administrative capabilities to grow our business. The largest component
of our expenses is personnel costs. Personnel costs consist of salaries, benefits and incentive compensation for our employees, including
commissions for sales personnel and stock-based compensation for all employees. We expect that each of these expenses will continue to grow
in absolute dollars and decrease as a percentage of revenue over time.

Revenue.    We derive our revenue from sales of our products and support and services. Our revenue has grown rapidly since we began
shipping products in May 2004, increasing from $2.6 million in 2004 to $22.9 million in 2005 and $90.2 million in 2006. This growth has been
driven primarily by an expansion of our customer base, coupled with increased purchases from existing customers. As of December 31, 2004, our
products had been sold to 68 customers as compared to more than 1,600 customers as of December 31, 2006.

We sell our products directly through our sales force and indirectly through resellers. We derived 59% of our revenue through indirect
channels in 2005 and 75% of our revenue through indirect channels in 2006. We expect revenue from resellers to constitute a substantial majority
of our future revenue.

In 2005, we began to distribute our products through OEM partners. We distribute our products through OEM partners by licensing our
software for a royalty to OEMs who embed it on their appliance hardware and sell it under their own brand name. As we describe in the section
titled “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” below, we had made sales but had not recognized any revenue on these agreements through
March 31, 2006 due to undelivered future obligations such as training and consulting. In the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we satisfied all future
obligations to one OEM, except for support. As such, in the second quarter we began amortizing revenue relating to this OEM arrangement over
the remaining support period for each sale made under the arrangement. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized $2.2 million
of revenue relating to our arrangement with this OEM. We expect amortized revenue from this OEM arrangement to decline over time as the OEM
has shifted to a reseller arrangement.

Cost of Revenue.    Cost of product revenue consists of the costs of the appliance hardware, manufacturing, shipping and logistics costs
and expenses for inventory obsolescence and warranty obligations. We utilize third parties to design and manufacture our Steelhead appliance
hardware, embed our proprietary software and perform shipping logistics. Cost of support and service revenue is primarily comprised of the
personnel costs of providing technical support and professional services. Cost of ratable product and related support and services consists of
hardware, support and service costs related to transactions recognized ratably. As we expand internationally and into other sectors, we may incur
additional costs to conform our products to comply with local laws or local product specifications. In addition, as we expand internationally, we will
continue to hire additional technical support personnel to support our growing international customer base.

Gross Margin.    Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including the mix and average selling
prices of our products, support and services, new product introductions and enhancements, the cost of our appliance hardware, and the mix of
distribution channels through which our products are sold.

Operating Expenses.    Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses. Personnel-related costs are the most significant component of each of these expense categories. We grew from 70 employees at
December 31, 2004 to 325 employees at December 31, 2006. We expect to continue to hire significant numbers of new employees to support our
anticipated growth. The timing of these additional hires has and could materially affect our operating expenses, both in absolute dollars and as a
percentage of revenue, in any particular period. We anticipate that each of the following categories of operating
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expenses will increase in dollar amounts, but will decline as a percentage of total revenue in the long-term. We expect interest income to increase
in 2007 compared to 2006 as a result of investing cash balances from our IPO proceeds for a full year in 2007.

Sales and marketing expenses represent the largest component of our operating expenses and include personnel costs, sales
commissions, marketing programs and facilities costs. Marketing programs are intended to generate revenue from new and existing customers,
and are expensed as incurred. We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase as we hire additional personnel and spend more on
marketing programs with the intent to grow our revenue. The majority of our international personnel are engaged in sales and support activities.
The percentage of sales and marketing expenses incurred internationally grew from 11% in 2004 to 34% in 2006.

Research and development expenses primarily include personnel costs and facilities costs. Quality assurance infrastructure depreciation
and related costs of product quality efforts are also included. We expense research and development expenses as incurred. We are devoting
substantial resources to the continued development of additional functionality for existing products and the development of new products. We
intend to continue to invest significantly in our research and development efforts because we believe they are essential to maintaining our
competitive position. Investments in research and development personnel costs are expected to increase in total dollars, but to decrease as a
percentage of revenue over time. Investments in research and development assets will affect our liquidity by increasing cash used in investing
activities. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel and facilities related to our
executive, finance, human resource, information technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services. Professional services
include outside legal, audit and information technology consulting costs.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense.    Effective January 1, 2006, we began to measure and recognize compensation expense for all
stock-based payments at fair value, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004) Share-Based
Payment, or SFAS 123(R). Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123 (R) we accounted for stock options under the intrinsic value method in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we
implemented the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plan). Under the Purchase Plan, employees may purchase shares of common
stock at a price per share that is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock as of the beginning or the end of a purchase
period. The Purchase Plan is compensatory and results in compensation expense to be accounted for under SFAS 123(R). We expect to continue
to incur significant stock-based compensation expense.

Other Income (expense), net.    Other income (expense), net includes interest income on cash balances. Cash has historically been
invested primarily in money market funds. Other income, net also includes interest expense on our outstanding debt and losses or gains on
conversion of non-U.S. dollar transactions into U.S. dollars. In 2006 and 2005, other income (expense), net included the impact of recording our
outstanding preferred stock warrants at fair value. As described below, subsequent to our IPO, we are no longer required to remeasure our
warrants to fair value.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle.    On June 29, 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position 150-5, Issuer’s Accounting under
FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are Redeemable. Under Statement 150, the
freestanding warrants that were related to our convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities and were recorded at fair value. We adopted
FSP 150-5 and accounted for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle as of the beginning of the third quarter of 2005. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, the impact of the change in accounting principle was to increase net loss by $510,000, or $0.05 per share. The
impact consisted of a $280,000 cumulative charge for adoption as of July 1, 2005,
 

36

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007



Table of Contents
reflecting the fair value of the warrants as of that date, and $230,000 of additional expense that was recorded in other income (expense), net to
reflect the increase in fair value between July 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005. In the year ended December 31, 2006 (through the date of our
IPO), we recorded $644,000 of additional expense reflected as other income (expense), net to reflect the increase in fair value through
September 20, 2006. Subsequent to our IPO and the associated conversion of our outstanding convertible preferred stock to common stock, the
warrants were reclassified to common stock and additional paid in capital and are no longer subject to remeasurement.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of
the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. We
believe that the estimates and judgments upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these
estimates and judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our consolidated
financial statements could be adversely affected. The accounting policies that reflect our more significant estimates and judgments and which we
believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include revenue recognition, stock-based
compensation, inventory valuation and allowances for doubtful accounts.

Revenue Recognition

Our software is integrated on appliance hardware and is essential to the functionality of the product. We provide unspecified software
updates and enhancements related to our products through support contracts. As a result, we account for revenue in accordance with Statement
of Position, or SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
With Respect to Certain Transactions, for all transactions involving the sale of software. We recognize product revenue when all of the following
have occurred: (1) we have entered into a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery has occurred, which is when product title
transfers to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable and free of contingencies and significant uncertainties; and
(4) collection is probable.

Product revenue consists of revenue from sales of our appliances. Product sales include a perpetual license to our software. Product
revenue is generally recognized upon transfer of title at shipment, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. Shipping charges billed
to customers are included in product revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue. Product revenue on sales to
resellers is recorded once we have received persuasive evidence of an end-user and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Substantially all of our agreements do not provide for rights of return.

Substantially all of our products have been sold in combination with product support services, which consist of software updates and
support. Software updates provide customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to maintenance releases and patches
released during the term of the support period. Support includes internet access to technical content, telephone and internet access to technical
support personnel and hardware support. Revenue for support services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term, which
is typically one year.

We use the residual method to recognize revenue when a product agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future
date and vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Through December 31, 2006, in virtually
all of our contracts, the only element that remained undelivered at the time of delivery of the product was
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support and updates. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the contract
fee is recognized as product revenue. If evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is generally
deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. When the undelivered element is support,
revenue for the entire arrangement is bundled and recognized ratably over the support period. Revenue related to these arrangements is included
in ratable product and related support and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. VSOE of fair value for
elements of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when sold separately, and for product
support and updates, is additionally measured by the renewal rate offered to the customer. Prior to the third quarter of 2005, we had not
established VSOE for the fair value of support contracts provided to our reseller class of customers. As such, prior to the third quarter of 2005, we
recognized all revenue on transactions sold through resellers ratably over the term of the support contract, typically one year. Beginning in the
third quarter of 2005, we determined that we had established VSOE of fair value of support for products sold to resellers, and began recognizing
product revenue upon title transfer at shipment, provided the remaining criteria for revenue recognition had been met.

In 2005, we began to distribute our products through OEM partners. We distribute our products through OEM partners by licensing our
software for a royalty to OEMs who embed it on their appliance hardware and sell it under their own brand name. Our OEM agreements include
certain technology development, training and support obligations. Through March 31, 2006, we had not established VSOE for our future
obligations such as training and consulting to our OEM partners and all revenue on such agreements had been deferred through March 31, 2006.
In the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we satisfied all future obligations to one OEM, except for support. As such, in the second quarter we began
amortizing revenue relating to this OEM arrangement over the remaining support period for each sale made under the arrangement. In the year
ended December 31, 2006, we recognized $2.2 million of ratable revenue relating to this OEM arrangement, which is classified as ratable product
and related support and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Our fees are typically considered to be fixed or determinable at the inception of an arrangement, generally based on specific products and
quantities to be delivered. Substantially all of our contracts do not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that our
agreements contain such terms, we recognize revenue once the acceptance provisions or right of return lapses. Payment terms to customers
generally range from net 30 to 60 days. In the event payment terms are provided that differ from our standard business practices, the fees are
deemed to not be fixed or determinable and revenue is recognized when the payments become due, provided the remaining criteria for revenue
recognition have been met.

We assess the ability to collect from our customers based on a number of factors, including credit worthiness of the customer and past
transaction history of the customer. If the customer is not deemed credit worthy, we defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is
received and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation, or FIN 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 25 and had adopted the
disclosure only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS
123) and SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure (SFAS 148) using the minimum value method.
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In accordance with APB 25, stock-based compensation expense, which is a non-cash charge, resulted from stock option grants at exercise

prices that, for financial reporting purposes, were deemed to be below the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of
grant. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we granted options to employees to purchase a total of 7,821,750 shares of
common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.10 to $1.75 per share. In connection with the preparation of our financial statements, we
reassessed the estimated fair value of our common stock in light of the expected completion of our IPO. Based upon the reassessment, we
determined that the reassessed fair value of the options to purchase 7,821,750 shares of common stock granted in 2004 and 2005 ranged from
$0.10 to $4.07 per share. As a result of the reassessed fair value of options granted, we recorded deferred stock-based compensation relative to
these options of $9.3 million and $567,000 in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which is being amortized over the
service period, which generally corresponds to the vesting period of the applicable options on a straight-line basis. During the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, we amortized $2.4 million, $1.3 million, and $92,000 of deferred compensation expense, net of
reversals, relative to these options, respectively. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R),
Share-Based Payment, using the prospective transition method, which requires us to apply the provisions of SFAS 123(R) to new awards granted,
and to awards modified, repurchased or cancelled, after the effective date. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense
recognized beginning January 1, 2006 is based on a combination of the following: (a) the grant-date fair value of stock option awards and
employee stock purchase plan shares granted or modified after January 1, 2006; and (b) the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation
related to stock option awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, which was calculated using the intrinsic value method as previously permitted
under APB 25.

Under SFAS 123(R), we estimated the fair value of stock options granted using a Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single option
award approach. This model utilizes the estimated fair value of common stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use the expected term of
the option, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk free interest rates and expected dividend yield of our common stock. This
fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. Options
typically vest with respect to 25% of the shares one year after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder ratably on a monthly
basis over the following three years. Employee stock purchase plan shares typically vest over two years, and include two purchase dates per year.

The fair value of options granted and employee stock purchase plan shares were estimated at the date of grant using the following
assumptions:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2006
Employee and Director Stock Options   
Expected life in years   4.5-6.1
Risk-free interest rate   4.6%-5.1%
Volatility   62%-81%
Dividend yield   —
Weighted average fair value of grants   $3.67-$18.40

Employee Stock Purchase Plan   
Expected life in years   0.5-2.0
Risk-free interest rate   4.8%-5.1%
Volatility   42%-47%
Dividend yield   —
Weighted average fair value of grants   $15.02-$15.52
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The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding, giving consideration to the contractual

terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior as influenced by changes to the terms of our
stock-based awards. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we have elected to use the simplified method of determining the expected term as
permitted by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 107. The computation of expected volatility for the year ended December 31, 2006 is based on the
historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry and market capitalization data. As
required by SFAS 123(R), management estimates expected forfeitures and is recognizing compensation costs only for those equity awards
expected to vest.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the total compensation cost related to stock options granted under SFAS 123(R) to employees
and directors but not yet recognized was approximately $25.0 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $467,000. This cost will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is typically 4 years. Amortization in the year ended December 31, 2006 was $3.5 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the total compensation cost related to the employee stock purchase plan under SFAS 123(R) to
employees and directors was approximately $22.7 million. This cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is 2
years. Amortization in the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.5 million.

In 2006 and 2005, we issued performance based stock option awards to purchase 15,000 and 150,000 shares, respectively. We recorded
$624,000 and $41,000 of stock-based compensation expense in the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related to these
awards.

In 2006, we accelerated the vesting of 42,188 unvested shares held by former employees. As a result of the modifications, we recognized
additional compensation expense of $233,000 in 2006.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, our loss before income taxes and net loss for the year ended December 31,
2006, was $6.2 million higher than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted loss per share
for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $0.23 higher than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25.

We account for stock compensation arrangements with non-employees in accordance with SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force, or
EITF, No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods
or Services, using a fair value approach. For stock options granted to non-employees, the fair value of the stock options is estimated using a
Black-Scholes valuation model. Stock compensation expense associated with non-employees has been immaterial to date.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories consist of hardware and related component parts and are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. A
large portion of our inventory relates to evaluation units located at customer locations as some of our customers test our equipment prior to
purchasing. Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of our forecasted consumption is written down to estimated realizable value based on historical
usage, expected demand and evaluation unit conversion rate and age. Inherent in our estimates of market value in determining inventory valuation
are estimates related to economic trends, future demand for our products and technological obsolescence of our products. If future demand or
market conditions are less favorable than our projections, additional inventory write-downs could be required and would be reflected in cost of
product in the period the revision is made. Inventory write-downs are reflected as cost of product and amounted to approximately $1.5 million,
$772,000 and $174,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.
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Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the applicable portion of receivables
when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these percentages, we
analyze our historical collection experience and current economic trends. If the historical data we use to calculate the allowance for doubtful
accounts does not reflect the future ability to collect outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be needed and the
future results of operations could be materially affected. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $472,000 and $90,000 at December 31, 2006
and 2005.

Results of Operations

Revenue

We derive our revenue from sales of our appliances and product support and services. We began shipping our products in May 2004. In
2004, our customers were primarily located in the United States, and we had limited sales to customers in the United Kingdom. In 2005 and 2006,
we expanded our operations in Europe and the Asia Pacific region. We rely significantly, both domestically and internationally, on sales through
indirect channels.

Product revenue primarily consists of revenue from sales of our Steelhead appliances and is typically recognized upon shipment. Support
and services revenue includes unspecified software license updates and product support. Support revenue is recognized ratably over the
contractual period, which is typically one year. Service revenue includes installation and training, which to date has been insignificant, and is
recognized as the services are performed. Ratable product and related support and services revenue includes revenue from arrangements in
which product and support are bundled and no VSOE of fair value for support pricing in the arrangements exists. The total revenue from these
arrangements is recognized ratably over the support period, typically one year. We did not recognize any revenue prior to 2004.

Support and services revenue includes software updates, support and training. Support contracts provide customers rights to unspecified
software upgrades and maintenance releases issued during the support period. Support includes internet access to technical content, as well as
telephone access to technical support personnel. Support and software updates revenue is recognized over the contractual period, which is
typically one year. Training services are instructor led courses on the use of our products. Training revenue is recognized as the services are
performed and to date has been insignificant.
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   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Total Revenue   $ 90,207  $ 22,941  $ 2,562

Total Revenue by Type:       
Product    70,967   17,759   2,325
Support and services    12,315   1,925   106
Ratable product and related support and services    6,925   3,257   131

% Revenue by Type:       
Product    79%   78%   91%
Support and services    14%   8%   4%
Ratable product and related support and services    7%   14%   5%

Total Revenue by Geography:       
Domestic    65,675   18,866   2,206
International    24,532   4,075   356

% Revenue by Geography:       
Domestic    73%   82%   86%
International    27%   18%   14%

Total Revenue by Sales Channel:       
Direct    22,177   9,500   2,513
Indirect    68,030   13,441   49

% Revenue by Sales Channel:       
Direct    25%   41%   98%
Indirect    75%   59%   2%

2006 Compared to 2005:    Product revenue increased in 2006 due primarily to an increase in new customers and additional purchases by
existing customers. As of December 31, 2006, our products had been sold to over 1,600 customers, compared to approximately 500 as of
December 31, 2005. We believe the market for our products has grown due to increasingly distributed organizations, which increases dependence
on timely access to data and applications.

Substantially all of our customers purchase support when they purchase our products. The increase in support and services revenue on an
absolute basis and as a percentage of total revenues is a result of increased product and first year support sales combined with the renewal of
support contracts by existing customers. As our customer base grows, we expect the proportion of revenue generated from support and services
to increase over time.

The increase in ratable product and related support and services revenue in the year ended December 31, 2006 was due to the
amortization of revenue from one of our OEM arrangements. Prior to the second quarter of 2006, we had undelivered obligations to this OEM and
all revenue relating to this arrangement was deferred. In the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we satisfied all future obligations to this OEM, except
for support. As such, in the second quarter we began amortizing revenue relating to this arrangement over the remaining support period for each
sale made under the arrangement. In the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized $2.2 million of revenue associated with this
arrangement.

In the year ended December 31, 2006, we derived 75% of our revenue from indirect channels compared to 59% in the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase in indirect channel revenue is due to the growing market for our products described above and our increased
focus on expanding our indirect channel sales. We expect indirect channel revenue to continue to be a significant portion of our revenue.

We generated 27% of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2006 from international locations, compared to 18% in the year ended
December 31, 2005. We continue to expand into international locations and introduce our products in new markets and expect international
revenue to increase in absolute dollars.
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2005 Compared to 2004:    Product revenue increased in 2005 due to an increase in new customers, both domestically and internationally,

additional purchases by existing customers and a full year of sales activities in 2005 compared to eight months in 2004. As of December 31, 2005,
our products had been sold to approximately 500 customers, compared to approximately 60 as of December 31, 2004. The increase in product
revenue relates, to a lesser extent, to the establishment of VSOE of fair value for support sold in connection with our reseller transactions
commencing in the third quarter of 2005.

In 2004, we derived 2% of our revenue from indirect channels compared to 59% in 2005. The percentage of our revenue derived from
indirect channels increased from 10% in the first quarter of 2005 to 78% in the fourth quarter of 2005.

The increase in support and services revenue is a result of increased product sales combined with the renewal of support contracts by
existing customers. As a percentage of total revenue, support and services revenue has increased due primarily to the fact that we did not ship
products and sell support contracts until May 2004.

Prior to the third quarter of 2005, we recognized revenue on transactions sold through resellers ratably over the life of the agreement,
typically twelve months. Once VSOE of fair value of support was established, we began recognizing product revenue for our reseller class of
customers upon shipment, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria were met. The increase in ratable product and related support and
services revenue in 2005 was primarily due to an increase in new customers and additional purchases from existing customers transacted through
resellers.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of product revenue consists of the costs of the appliance hardware, manufacturing, shipping and logistics costs and expenses for
inventory obsolescence and warranty obligations. Cost of support and service revenue consists of salary and related costs of technical support
personnel. Cost of ratable product and related support and services consists of hardware, support and service costs related to transactions
recognized ratably.
 
   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Total revenue   $ 90,207  $ 22,941  $ 2,562
Cost of product    23,504   5,843   806
Cost of support and services    4,748   1,276   508
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    1,900   1,475   209

            

Gross profit    60,055  $ 14,347  $ 1,039
Gross margin    67%   63%   41%

2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in cost of product revenue was due primarily to increased hardware costs associated with
increased shipments of our products to customers. Cost of support and services revenue increased as we added more technical support
headcount domestically and abroad to support our growing customer base. Technical support headcount was 33 employees as of December 31,
2006 compared to 15 employees as of December 31, 2005. Cost of ratable product and related support and services increased due to more
ratable reseller arrangements being amortized in the first half of 2006 partially offset by a decrease in the third quarter of 2006 as reseller
arrangements entered into in the third quarter of 2005 were no longer recognized ratably and the one year amortization period for these contracts
was complete. The increase in cost of ratable product and related support and services was not proportionate to the increase in ratable product
and related support and services revenue as there are minimal costs associated with the ratable revenue recognized from our OEM
arrangements.
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Gross margins increased to 67% in the year ended December 31, 2006 from 63% in the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to

increased margins on support and services.

2005 Compared to 2004:    The increase in cost of product was due largely to increased hardware costs associated with more shipments of
our products to customers. Cost of support and services increased as we added more technical support personnel to support our growing
customer base. Technical support headcount was 15 employees as of December 31, 2005 compared to 4 employees as of December 31, 2004.

Gross margin increased from 41% in 2004 to 63% in 2005 due to the significant increase in our revenue, which grew at a higher rate than
expenses. We do not expect gross margin to continue to increase at the same rate it increased from 2004 to 2005.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses primarily include personnel costs, sales commissions, marketing programs and facilities costs.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Sales and marketing expenses   $ 48,080  $ 19,722  $ 5,586
Percent of total revenue    53%   86%   218%

2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in the number of sales and
marketing employees, as sales and marketing headcount grew to 151 employees as of December 31, 2006 from 77 employees as of
December 31, 2005. The increase in employees resulted in higher salary expense, employee-related benefits and fees for recruitment of new
employees. Additionally, commission expense increased in the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2005 due to the substantial increase in revenue. Salaries and commissions accounted for $15.3 million, travel and entertainment expenses
accounted for $2.2 million, and marketing related activities accounted for $1.8 million of the $28.4 million increase in sales and marketing
expenses. Stock-based compensation, which was $4.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $482,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2005, accounted for approximately $4.2 million of the increase in sales and marketing expenses. The percentage of sales and
marketing expenses incurred internationally grew to 34% in the year ended December 31, 2006 from 27% in the year ended December 31, 2005.
We plan to continue to make significant investments in sales and marketing with the intent to add new customers and increase penetration within
our existing customer base by increasing the number of sales personnel worldwide, expanding our domestic and international sales and marketing
activities, building brand awareness and sponsoring additional marketing events. We expect future sales and marketing expenses to continue to
increase and continue to be our most significant operating expense. Generally sales personnel are not immediately productive and sales and
marketing expenses do not immediately result in revenue. Hiring additional sales personnel reduces short-term operating margins until the sales
personnel become productive and generate revenue. Accordingly, the timing of sales personnel hiring and the rate at which they become
productive will affect our future performance. If we are successful in achieving our business objectives, we expect that sales and marketing
expenses will decrease as a percentage of revenue over time.

2005 Compared to 2004:    The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in the number of sales and
marketing employees, as sales and marketing headcount grew to 77 employees as of December 31, 2005 from 32 employees as of December 31,
2004. International
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headcount growth accounted for 34% of the total headcount increase as we expanded our worldwide sales operations in 2005. The increase in
headcount resulted in higher salary expense, employee-related benefits, commissions, travel and entertainment, and recruiting fees. Salaries and
commissions accounted for $7.2 million and travel and entertainment expenses accounted for $1.4 million of the $14.1 million increase in sales
and marketing expenses. Commission expense increased from 2004 to 2005 due to the substantial increase in revenue. Stock-based
compensation expense, which was $482,000 in 2005 compared to $78,000 in 2004, accounted for $404,000 of the increase in sales and
marketing expenses. As the number of sales and marketing employees increased, we experienced an increase in facilities costs related to
additional space at our headquarters as well as sales offices worldwide.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and facilities costs. We expense research and development
expenses as incurred.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Research and development expenses   $ 19,215  $ 8,108  $ 4,266
Percent of total revenue    21%   35%   167%

2006 Compared to 2005:    Research and development expenses increased in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2005 due to an increase in personnel and facility related costs as a result of research and development headcount
increasing to 109 employees as of December 31, 2006 from 66 employees as of December 31, 2005. Salaries accounted for $5.1 million of the
$11.1 million increase in research and development expenses. Stock-based compensation, which was $2.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to $397,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, accounted for $2.1 million of the increase in research and
development expenses. In addition, depreciation and related expenses increased as a result of additional information technology assets
purchased in the second half of 2005 and in 2006. We plan to continue to invest in research and development as we develop new models and
make further enhancements to existing models.

2005 Compared to 2004:    Research and development expenses increased from 2004 to 2005 due to an increase in personnel and facility
related costs as a result of research and development headcount increasing to 66 employees as of December 31, 2005 from 29 employees as of
December 31, 2004. Salaries accounted for $1.9 million of the $3.8 million increase in research and development expenses. Stock-based
compensation, which was $397,000 in 2005 compared to $12,000 in 2004, accounted for $385,000 of the increase in research and development
expenses. In addition, depreciation and related expenses increased as a result of additional information technology assets purchased in 2005.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for personnel and facilities related to our
executive, finance, human resources, information technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services. Professional services
include legal, audit and information technology consulting costs.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
General and administrative expenses   $ 9,294  $ 3,531  $ 1,033
Percent of total revenue    10%   15%   40%
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2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the

year ended December 31, 2005 is due to an increase in personnel costs, primarily as a result of headcount increasing to 32 employees as of
December 31, 2006 from 16 employees as of December 31, 2005, and an increase in professional services fees. Salaries accounted for $1.8
million and professional service fees accounted for $1.7 million of the $5.8 million increase in general and administrative expenses. The additional
personnel and professional services fees are primarily to address the legal, finance, human resources, recruiting and information technology
functions required of a newly public company. Stock-based compensation, which was $1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to $368,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, accounted for approximately $1.2 million of the increase in general and
administrative expenses. We expect to spend more money on general and administrative expenses as we plan to hire additional personnel and
incur costs for the implementation of new infrastructure technology systems. In 2007, we will also incur significant costs related to public company
compliance requirements.

2005 Compared to 2004:    The increase in general and administrative expenses from 2004 to 2005 is due to an increase in personnel
costs, primarily as a result of a headcount increase to 16 employees as of December 31, 2005 from 5 employees as of December 31, 2004, and
an increase in professional services fees. Salaries accounted for $690,000 and professional service fees accounted for $502,000 of the $2.5
million increase in general and administrative expenses. The additional personnel and professional services fees are primarily the result of our
on-going efforts to build the legal, finance, human resources, recruiting and information technology functions required of a growing company.
Stock-based compensation, which was $368,000 in 2005 compared to $1,000 in 2004, accounted for $367,000 of the increase in general and
administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income, interest expense, warrant expense and foreign currency exchange gains
(losses).
 

   Year ended December 31,  
(dollars in thousands)   2006   2005   2004  
Interest income   $ 2,096  $ 457  $ 116 
Interest expense    (247)   (239)   (94)
Other    (857)   (295)   2 

             

Total other income (expense), net   $ 992  $ (77)  $ 24 
             

2006 Compared to 2005:    Other income (expense), net increased in 2006 due primarily to interest income on higher cash balances. In
February 2006, we received net proceeds of $19.9 million from the issuance of 3,738,318 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock. In
September 2006, we received net IPO proceeds of $87.5 million. Interest expense decreased slightly as we paid off the balance of our credit
facility on October 2, 2006. Other expense increased due to recording our preferred stock warrants to fair value. In 2006 and 2005 we recorded
$644,000 and $230,000 of warrant expense respectively. Subsequent to our IPO, we are no longer required to record the warrants to fair value.

2005 Compared to 2004:    Other income (expense), net decreased in 2005 due primarily to a $230,000 charge we recognized subsequent
to the adoption of FASB Staff Position 150-5, Issuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar
Instruments on Shares That Are Redeemable, which required us to classify our preferred stock warrants as liabilities and record them at fair value.
Interest expense increased in 2005 due to $1.1 million of additional borrowings under our credit facility in 2005 as compared to 2004. These
decreases to other
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income (expense), net were partially offset by increased interest income. Interest income increased due to average cash balances increasing from
$9.0 million in 2004 to $15.8 million in 2005. In December 2004, we received net proceeds of $19.9 million from the issuance of 9,345,796 shares
of Series C convertible preferred stock.

Provision for Income Taxes

Since inception, we have incurred operating losses and, accordingly, have not recorded a provision for income taxes for any of the periods
presented other than foreign provisions for income tax. As of December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state
income tax purposes of $29.7 million and $30.8 million, respectively. We also had federal and state research and development tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $1.1 million. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. If not utilized, the federal and state
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will expire between 2013 and 2026. Utilization of these net operating losses and credit
carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that are applicable if
we experience an “ownership change” that may occur, for example, by a change in significant shareholder allocation or equity structure.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statement of operations data for each of the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2006. In management’s opinion, the data has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report, and reflects all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair
presentation of this data. The results of historical periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year or any future
period.
 
  For the three months ended  
(in thousands, except
per share data)

 2006   2005  
 Dec. 31   Sep. 30   Jun. 30   Mar. 31   Dec. 31   Sep. 30   Jun. 30   Mar. 31  

Revenue:         
Product  $ 26,798  $ 19,303  $ 14,030  $ 10,836  $ 8,467  $ 5,426  $ 1,991  $ 1,875 
Support and services   4,930   3,595   2,267   1,523   910   510   316   189 
Ratable product and related support

and services   2,097   1,720   1,746   1,362   1,228   1,151   593   285 
                                

Total revenue   33,825   24,618   18,043   13,721   10,605   7,087   2,900   2,349 
                                

Cost of revenue:         
Cost of product   8,927   6,211   4,776   3,590   2,584   1,812   873   574 
Cost of support and services   1,897   1,304   855   692   543   306   215   212 
Cost of ratable product and related

support and services   456   390   557   497   493   474   336   172 
                                

Total cost of revenue   11,280   7,905   6,188   4,779   3,620   2,592   1,424   958 
                                

Gross profit   22,545   16,713   11,855   8,942   6,985   4,495   1,476   1,391 
Operating expenses   26,094   19,458   17,948   13,089   11,563   8,040   6,613   5,145 

                                

Operating loss   (3,549)   (2,745)   (6,093)   (4,147)   (4,578)   (3,545)   (5,137)   (3,754)
Other income (expense), net   1,286   (275)   83   (102)   (114)   (56)   41   52 

                                

Loss before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle   (2,263)   (3,020)   (6,010)   (4,249)   (4,692)   (3,601)   (5,096)   (3,702)

Provision for income taxes   148   77   41   37   33   9   7   6 
                                

Loss before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle   (2,411)   (3,097)   (6,051)   (4,286)   (4,725)   (3,610)   (5,103)   (3,708)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle   —   —   —   —   —   280   —   — 

                                

Net loss  $ (2,411)  $ (3,097)  $ (6,051)  $ (4,286)  $ (4,725)  $ (3,890)  $ (5,103)  $ (3,708)
                                

Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.04)  $ (0.16)  $ (0.46)  $ (0.36)  $ (0.43)  $ (0.39)  $ (0.58)  $ (0.47)
                                

Stock-based compensation expense
included in above  $ 4,786  $ 2,080  $ 1,457  $ 895  $ 554  $ 434  $ 237  $ 62 

                                

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portion of our quarterly sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which we believe reflects
customer buying patterns of products similar to ours and other products in the technology industry generally. As a result, our quarterly operating
results are difficult to predict even in the near term.

Commencing with the first shipment of our products in the second quarter of 2004, revenue has increased sequentially in each of the
quarters presented, due to increases in the number of products
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sold to new and existing customers, international expansion, and, beginning in the third quarter of 2005, the recognition of reseller product
revenue upon shipment due to the establishment of VSOE of fair value of product support on reseller arrangements. Prior to the third quarter of
2005, we recognized product revenue on transactions sold through resellers ratably over the life of the support contract, typically 12 months.
Subsequent to the third quarter of 2005, the dollar value of revenue and percentage of total revenue derived from such reseller arrangements that
are recognized ratably has decreased and is expected to continue to decrease each quarter as revenue from reseller arrangements are no longer
recognized over the life of the arrangement.

Operating expenses in all quarters increased sequentially as we continued to add headcount and related costs to accommodate the
growing business.

In the third quarter of 2005, we adopted FASB Staff Position 150-5, Issuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding
Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are Redeemable. This Staff Position affirmed that our preferred stock warrants were
subject to the requirements in Statement 150, regardless of the timing of the redemption feature or the redemption price and required us to classify
the warrants as liabilities and adjust them to fair value at each reporting period. We recorded a $280,000 cumulative charge for adoption as of
July 1, 2005, reflecting the fair value of the warrants as of that date, and $120,000, $110,000, $172,000, $43,000 and $429,000 of additional
expense that was recorded in other income (expense), net in the quarters ended September 30, 2005, December 31, 2005, March 31,
2006, June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006, respectively, to reflect the increase in fair value of the warrants. Subsequent to our IPO and the
associated conversion of our outstanding convertible preferred stock to common stock, the warrants were reclassified to common stock and
additional paid in capital and are no longer subject to remeasurement.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
   As of December 31,
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Working capital   $ 101,319  $ 6,411   $ 23,382
Cash and cash equivalents    105,330   10,410   23,380
Marketable securities    3,999   —   —
 
   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004  
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ 297  $ (12,505)  $ (9,783)
Cash (used in) investing activities    (10,509)   (2,401)   (667)
Cash provided by financing activities    105,090   1,988   21,119 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments in time deposits held at major banks, commercial paper, United States
government agency discount notes, money market mutual funds and other money market securities with maturities at the date of purchase of 90
days or less.

Prior to our IPO in September 2006, we funded our operations primarily through private sales of our convertible preferred stock and
collections from our customers and, to a lesser extent, borrowings under a credit facility. In February 2006, we completed the sale of our Series D
convertible preferred stock with aggregate net proceeds of $19.9 million. In September 2006, we completed our IPO which provided us with
aggregate net proceeds of $87.5 million.

Pursuant to certain lease agreements and as security for our merchant services agreement with our financial institution, we are required to
maintain cash reserves, classified as restricted cash.
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Current restricted cash totaled $121,000 and $122,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and long-term restricted cash totaled $1.5
million and $85,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Long-term restricted cash consists primarily of a $1.4 million letter of credit for
the security deposit on the lease of our corporate headquarters and is restricted until the end of the lease term on August 30, 2010.

Since the fourth quarter of 2004, we have expanded our operations internationally. Our sales contracts are denominated in United States
dollars and as such, the increase in our revenue derived from international customers has not affected our cash flows from operations. As we fund
our international operations, our cash and cash equivalents are affected by changes in exchange rates. To date, the foreign currency effect on our
cash and cash equivalents has been immaterial.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Prior to 2006, we experienced negative cash flows from operations as we continued to expand our business and build our infrastructure
domestically and internationally. We had positive cash flows from operations in the year ended December 31, 2006. Our cash flows from operating
activities will continue to be affected principally by the extent to which we grow our revenue and spend on increasing personnel in order to grow
our business. The timing of hiring sales personnel in particular affects cash flows as there is a lag between the hiring of sales personnel and the
generation of revenue and cash flows from sales personnel. To a lesser extent, the start-up costs associated with international expansion have
also negatively affected our cash flows from operations. Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers. Our
primary uses of cash from operating activities are for personnel related expenditures, cost of product, rent payments and technology costs.

Cash provided by operating activities was $297,000 in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to cash used in operations of $12.5
million in the year ended December 31, 2005 due to our high revenue growth, resulting in a lower net loss as well as improvements in working
capital.

Cash used in operating activities increased from 2004 to 2005 due to our increased net loss resulting from higher operating expenses to
support our growth in 2005. Additionally, inventory purchases increased in 2005 as our sales volumes were higher in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities primarily relate to capital expenditures to support our growth and investments in marketable
securities.

Cash used in investing activities increased in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended December 31, 2005 due to
increased capital expenditures and restricted cash. Capital expenditures in the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily related to increased
research and development lab equipment expenditures, increased computer equipment for new employees and increased software for internal
use as we began to implement new systems.

Cash used in investing activities increased from 2004 to 2005 due to increased capital expenditures. Research and development lab
equipment expenditures, consisting of servers, switches, and other equipment used to test our products, represented 56% of total additions in
2005.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Prior to September 2006, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of convertible preferred stock totaling $56.3 million
and collections from customers and, to a lesser extent, borrowings under our credit facility. In February 2006, we sold 3,738,318 shares of our
Series D
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convertible preferred stock for net proceeds of $19.9 million. In September 2006, we completed our IPO and received net proceeds of $87.5
million.

On June 7, 2004, we entered into a loan and security agreement with a financial institution for a $2.5 million credit facility, and we borrowed
$1.4 million and $1.1 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively. We made principal payments of $938,000 in the first nine months of 2006 and repaid
the remaining balance on our loan on October 2, 2006 from the proceeds of our IPO.

We believe that our net proceeds from operations, together with our cash balance at December 31, 2006, will be sufficient to fund our
projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. We may need to raise additional capital or incur additional indebtedness to
continue to fund our operations in the future. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth,
the expansion of our sales and marketing activities, the timing and extent of expansion into new territories, the timing of introductions of new
products and enhancements to existing products, and the continuing market acceptance of our products. We may enter into arrangements for
potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, services or technologies, which also could require us to seek additional
equity or debt financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006:
 
   Year ending December 31,

   Total   2007   2008   2009   2010   

2011
and

beyond
   (in thousands)
Other Contractual Obligations             
Operating leases(1)   $ 8,152  $ 2,356  $ 2,477  $ 2,054  $ 1,177  $     88
Purchase obligations(2)    160   85   50   23   2   —

                        

Total contractual obligations   $ 8,312  $ 2,441  $ 2,527  $ 2,077  $ 1,179  $ 88
                        

(1) In 2007, we entered into a new operating lease. The operating lease amounts presented do not reflect the impact of this 2007 lease as it
was entered into subsequent to December 31, 2006. As a result of this lease, our operating lease obligations increased by $1.2 million,
representing an increase of $146,000 in 2007, $222,000 in 2008, $236,000 in 2009, $245,000 in 2010 and $335,000 in 2011 and beyond.

(2) Represents amounts associated with agreements that are enforceable, legally binding and specify terms, including: fixed or minimum
quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of payment. Obligations under
contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities
often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes, nor did we have any undisclosed material transactions or commitments
involving related persons or entities.
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Other

At December 31, 2006, we did not have commercial commitments under lines of credit, standby repurchase obligations or other such debt
arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 17 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for recent accounting pronouncements that could have an effect on us.

 Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

Our sales contracts are denominated in United States dollars and therefore our revenue is not subject to foreign currency risk. Our
operating expenses and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the
British pound, Euro and Singapore dollar. To date, we have not entered into any hedging contracts since exchange rate fluctuations have had little
impact on our operating results and cash flows.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $105.3 million and $10.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
These amounts were invested primarily in money market funds. The unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital purposes.
We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair
value as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce future investment income. If overall interest rates had
fallen by 10% in 2006, our interest income would have declined approximately $208,000, assuming consistent investment levels.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Riverbed Technology, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Riverbed Technology, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15.
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Riverbed Technology, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, under the heading Stock-Based Compensation, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, effective January 1, 2006.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position 150-5 (FSP 105-5) “Issuer’s
Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar Instruments on Shares that are Redeemable,” during the
year ended December 31, 2005.

/s/    ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 8, 2007
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RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

 
   As of December 31,  
   2006   2005  

ASSETS  
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $105,330  $ 10,410 
Marketable securities    3,999   — 
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $472 and $90 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005    18,148   5,357 
Other receivables    118   128 
Inventory    7,452   3,530 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    5,438   1,650 

         

Total current assets    140,485   21,075 
         

Fixed assets, net    7,718   2,324 
Other assets    2,566   245 

         

Total assets   $150,769  $ 23,644 
         

LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)  
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 11,113  $ 3,970 
Current portion of long-term debt    —   1,250 
Accrued compensation and related benefits    8,285   2,880 
Other accrued liabilities    2,931   1,079 
Preferred stock warrant liability    —   594 
Deferred revenue    16,837   4,891 

         

Total current liabilities    39,166   14,664 
         

Long-term debt, net of current portion    —   1,211 
Deferred revenue non-current    2,245   708 
Other long-term liabilities    378   587 

         

Total long-term liabilities    2,623   2,506 
         

Commitments and contingencies    
Convertible preferred stock    —   36,385 
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):    

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value — 30,000 shares authorized, no shares outstanding    —   — 
Common stock and additional paid-in-capital; $0.0001 par value — 600,000 and 60,000 shares authorized as of

December 31, 2006 and 2005, 66,180 and 16,721 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2006
and 2005    162,033   10,130 

Deferred stock-based compensation    (5,704)   (8,495)
Accumulated deficit    (47,333)   (31,488)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (16)   (58)

         

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)    108,980   (29,911)
         

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $150,769  $ 23,644 
         

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
   Year ended December 31,  
   2006   2005   2004  
Revenue:     

Product   $ 70,967  $ 17,759  $ 2,325 
Support and services    12,315   1,925   106 
Ratable product and related support and services    6,925   3,257   131 

             

Total revenue    90,207   22,941   2,562 
             

Cost of revenue:     
Cost of product    23,504   5,843   806 
Cost of support and services    4,748   1,276   508 
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    1,900   1,475   209 

             

Total cost of revenue    30,152   8,594   1,523 
             

Gross profit    60,055   14,347   1,039 
             

Operating expenses:     
Sales and marketing    48,080   19,722   5,586 
Research and development    19,215   8,108   4,266 
General and administrative    9,294   3,531   1,033 

             

Total operating expenses    76,589   31,361   10,885 
             

Operating loss    (16,534)   (17,014)   (9,846)
             

Other income (expense), net:     
Interest income    2,096   457   116 
Interest expense    (247)   (239)   (94)
Other    (857)   (295)   2 

             

Total other income (expense), net    992   (77)   24 
             

Loss before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    (15,542)   (17,091)   (9,822)
Provision for income taxes    303   55   5 

             

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    (15,845)   (17,146)   (9,827)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   280   — 

             

Net loss   $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)  $ (9,827)
             

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)
             

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share    26,977   9,401   5,760 
             

Stock-based compensation expense included in above:     
Cost of support and services   $ 520  $ 40  $ 1 
Sales and marketing    4,636   482   78 
Research and development    2,541   397   12 
General and administrative    1,521   368   1 

             

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 9,218  $ 1,287  $ 92 
             

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

(in thousands)
 

  
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Common Stock
And Additional
Paid-in-Capital   

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation  
Accumulated

Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

  Shares  Amount   Shares   Amount              
Balance at December 31, 2003  26,358 $ 16,453     11,653  $ 12  $ —  $ (4,235)  $ —  $ (4,223)
Issuance of Series B warrants in

connection with financing  —  70  —   —   —   —   —   — 
Issuance of Series C preferred stock

for cash net of issuance costs of
$54  9,346  19,946  —   —   —   —   —   — 

Stock options exercised  —  —  1,724   170   —   —   —   170 
Stock options repurchased  —  —  (105)   (5)   —   —   —   (5)
Reclassification of options exercised

but not vested  —  —  —   (132)   —   —   —   (132)
Deferred stock-based compensation

related to options granted to
employees  —  —  —   567   (567)   —   —   — 

Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation, net of reversals for
terminated employees  —  —  —   —   92   —   —   92 

Comprehensive loss:            
Currency translation adjustments  —  —  —   —   —   —   (6)   (6)

Net loss  —  —  —   —   —   (9,827)   —   (9,827)
             

Comprehensive loss  —  —  —   —   —   —   —   (9,833)
                             

Balance at December 31, 2004  35,704  36,469  13,272   612   (475)   (14,062)   (6)   (13,931)
Stock options exercised  —  —  3,652   940   —   —   —   940 
Stock options repurchased  —  —  (203)   (18)   —   —   —   (18)
Reclassification of options exercised

but not vested  —  —  —   (711)   —   —   —   (711)
Deferred stock-based compensation

related to options granted to
employees  —  —  —   9,307   (9,307)   —   —   — 

Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation, net of reversals for
terminated employees  —  —  —   —   1,287   —   —   1,287 

Reclassification of warrants to
liabilities (Note 2)  —  (84)  —   —   —   —   —   — 

Comprehensive loss:            
Currency translation adjustments  —  —  —   —   —   —   (52)   (52)
Net loss  —  —  —   —   —   (17,426)   —   (17,426)

             

Comprehensive loss  —  —  —   —   —   —   —   (17,478)
                             

Balance at December 31, 2005  35,704  36,385  16,721   10,130   (8,495)   (31,488)   (58)   (29,911)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 — (Continued)

(in thousands)
 

  
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Common Stock
And Additional
Paid-in-Capital   

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation  
Accumulated

Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount              
Issuance of Series D

preferred stock for cash
net of issuance costs of
$85  3,738  $ 19,915     —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Preferred stock converted to
common at IPO  (39,442)   (56,300)  39,442   56,300   —   —   —   56,300 

Proceeds from IPO, net of
expenses  —   —  9,990   87,496   —   —   —   87,496 

Stock options exercised  —   —  254   213   —   —   —   213 
Stock options repurchased  —   —  (325)   (34)   —   —   —   (34)
Reclassification of options

exercised but not vested  —   —  —   263   —   —   —   263 
Reclassification of warrant

liability upon IPO  —   —  —   1,238   —   —   —   1,238 
Warrant exercise  —   —  98   —   —   —   —   — 
Amortization of deferred

stock-based compensation
related to options granted
to employees net of
reversals for terminated
employees  —   —  —   (389)   2,791   —   —   2,402 

Stock-based compensation  —   —  —   6,816   —   —   —   6,816 
Comprehensive loss:            
Currency translation

adjustments  —   —  —   —   —   —   42   42 
Net loss  —   —  —   —   —   (15,845)   —   (15,845)

           

Comprehensive loss  —   —  —   —   —   —   —   (15,803)
                              

Balance at December 31,
2006  —  $ —  66,180  $ 162,033  $ (5,704)  $ (47,333)  $ (16)  $108,980 

                              

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 
   Year ended December 31,  
   2006   2005   2004  
Operating Activities:     

Net loss   $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)  $ (9,827)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization    2,037   831   245 
Stock-based compensation    9,218   1,287   92 
Amortization of warrants    39   21   22 
Revaluation of warrants to fair value    644   230   — 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   280   — 
Provision for trade receivable allowances    474   75   31 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

(Increase) in trade receivables    (13,266)   (4,049)   (1,413)
(Increase) in inventory    (5,186)   (2,901)   (771)
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets    (3,887)   (1,295)   (370)
Increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities    12,362   5,673   1,323 
Increase in income taxes payable    224   50   5 
Increase in deferred revenue    13,483   4,719   880 

             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    297   (12,505)   (9,783)
             

Investing Activities:     
Capital expenditures    (5,110)   (2,259)   (601)
Purchase of available for sale securities    (3,999)   —   — 
Increase in other assets    (1,400)   (142)   (66)

             

Net cash used in investing activities    (10,509)   (2,401)   (667)
             

Financing Activities:     
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs    19,915   —   19,946 
Proceeds from Initial Public Offering, net of expenses    87,496   —   — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of repurchases    179   922   165 
Payments of debt    (2,500)   —   (426)
Proceeds from issuance of debt    —   1,066   1,434 

             

Net cash provided by financing activities    105,090   1,988   21,119 
             

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    42   (52)   (6)
             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    94,920   (12,970)   10,663 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    10,410   23,380   12,717 

             

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 105,330  $ 10,410  $ 23,380 
             

Supplemental schedule of cash flow data:     
Cash paid for interest   $ 206  $ 219  $ 71 
Cash paid for income taxes    79   4   — 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.    ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Riverbed Technology, Inc. was founded on May 23, 2002 and has developed a comprehensive solution to the fundamental problems of
wide-area distributed computing. Our Steelhead appliances enable our customers simply and efficiently to improve the performance of their
applications and access to their data over wide area networks (WANs). We began commercial shipments of our products in May 2004.

Initial Public Offering

In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering (IPO) of common stock in which we sold and issued 9,990,321 shares of our
common stock, including 1,290,321 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of
$9.75 per share. We raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately $87.5 million in net proceeds after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and other offering costs of $3.1 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of
convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into 39,441,439 shares of common stock.

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated. Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. These accounting principles require us to make certain
estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, as
well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Significant estimates and assumptions made by
management include the determination of the fair value of stock awards issued, the allowance for doubtful accounts, and inventory valuation. We
believe that the estimates and judgments upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these
estimates and judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our consolidated
financial statements will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

Our software is integrated on appliance hardware and is essential to the functionality of the product. We provide unspecified software
updates and enhancements related to our products through support contracts. As a result, we account for revenue in accordance with Statement
of Position, or SOP 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9, “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
With Respect to Certain Transactions,” for all transactions involving the sale of software. We recognize product revenue when all of the following
have occurred: (1) we have entered into a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery has occurred, which is when product title has
transferred to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable and free of contingencies and significant uncertainties; and
(4) collection is probable.

Product revenue consists of revenue from sales of our appliances. Product sales include a perpetual license to our software. Product
revenue is generally recognized upon transfer of title at
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shipment, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and the
related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue. Product revenue on sales to resellers is recorded once we have received
persuasive evidence of an end-user and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Substantially all of our agreements do not provide
for rights of return.

Substantially all of our product sales have been sold in combination with support services, which consist of software updates and support.
Software updates provide customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to maintenance releases and patches released
during the term of the support period. Support includes internet access to technical content, telephone and internet access to technical support
personnel and hardware support. Revenue for support services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term, which is
typically one year.

We use the residual method to recognize revenue when a product agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future
date and vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Through December 31, 2006, in virtually
all of our contracts, the only element that remained undelivered at the time of delivery of the product was support and updates. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the contract fee is recognized as product revenue. If
evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is generally deferred and recognized when delivery of
those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. When the undelivered element is support, revenue for the entire arrangement is
bundled and recognized ratably over the support period. Revenue related to these arrangements is included in ratable product and related support
and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangement is based
upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when sold separately and for support and updates is additionally measured
by the renewal rate offered to the customer. Prior to the third quarter of 2005, we had not established VSOE for the fair value of support contracts
provided to our reseller class of customers. As such, prior to the third quarter of 2005, we recognized all revenue on transactions sold through
resellers ratably over the term of the support contract, typically one year. Beginning in the third quarter of 2005, we determined that we had
established VSOE of fair value of support for products sold to resellers, and began recognizing product revenue upon delivery, provided the
remaining criteria for revenue recognition had been met.

In 2005, we began to distribute our products through OEM partners. We distribute our products through OEM partners by licensing our
software for a royalty to OEMs who embed it on their appliance hardware and sell it under their own brand name. Our OEM agreements include
certain technology development, training and support obligations. Through March 31, 2006, we had not established VSOE for our future
obligations such as training and consulting to our OEM partners and all revenue on such agreements had been deferred through March 31, 2006.
In the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we satisfied all future obligations to one OEM, except for support. As such, in the second quarter we began
amortizing revenue relating to this OEM arrangement over the remaining support period for each sale made under the arrangement. In the year
ended December 31, 2006, we recognized $2.2 million of ratable revenue relating to this OEM arrangement, which is classified as ratable product
and related support and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operation.

Our fees are typically considered to be fixed or determinable at the inception of an arrangement, generally based on specific products and
quantities to be delivered. Substantially all of our contracts do not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that our
agreements contain such
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terms, we recognize revenue once the acceptance provisions or right of return lapses. Payment terms to customers generally range from net 30 to
60 days. In the event payment terms are provided that differ from our standard business practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixed or
determinable and revenue is recognized when the payments become due, provided the remaining criteria for revenue recognition have been met.

We assess the ability to collect from our customers based on a number of factors, including credit worthiness of the customer and past
transaction history of the customer. If the customer is not deemed credit worthy, we defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is
received and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation, or FIN 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 25 and had adopted the
disclosure only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS
123) and SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure (SFAS 148) using the minimum value method.

In accordance with APB 25, stock-based compensation expense, which is a non-cash charge, resulted from stock option grants at exercise
prices that, for financial reporting purposes, were deemed to be below the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of
grant. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we granted options to employees to purchase a total of 7,821,750 shares of
common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.10 to $1.75 per share. In connection with the preparation of our financial statements, we
reassessed the estimated fair value of our common stock in light of the expected completion of our IPO. Based upon the reassessment, we
determined that the reassessed fair value of the options to purchase 7,821,750 shares of common stock granted in 2004 and 2005 ranged from
$0.10 to $4.07 per share. As a result of the reassessed fair value of options granted, we recorded deferred stock-based compensation relative to
these options of $9.3 million and $567,000 in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which is being amortized over the
service period, which generally corresponds to the vesting period of the applicable options on a straight-line basis. During the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively, we amortized $2.4 million, $1.3 million and $92,000 of deferred compensation expense, net of
reversals, relative to these options, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, using the
prospective transition method, which requires us to apply the provisions of SFAS 123(R) to new awards granted, and to awards modified,
repurchased or cancelled, after the effective date. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense recognized beginning
January 1, 2006 is based on a combination of the following: (a) the grant-date fair value of stock option and employee stock purchase plan awards
granted or modified after January 1, 2006; and (b) the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation related to stock option awards granted
prior to January 1, 2006, which was calculated using the intrinsic value method as previously permitted under APB 25.

Under SFAS 123(R), we estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single
option award approach. This model utilizes the estimated
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fair value of common stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our
common stock, risk free interest rates and expected dividend yield of our common stock. This fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. Options typically vest with respect to 25% of the shares one
year after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder ratably on a monthly basis over the following three years. Employee stock
purchase plan shares typically vest over two years, and include two purchase dates per year.

The fair value of options granted and employee stock purchase plan shares were estimated at the date of grant using the following
assumptions:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2006
Employee and Director Stock Options   
Expected life in years    4.5 – 6.1
Risk-free interest rate    4.6% – 5.1%
Volatility    62% – 81%
Dividend yield    —
Weighted average fair value of grants   $ 3.67 – $18.40
Employee Stock Purchase Plan   
Expected life in years    0.5 – 2.0
Risk-free interest rate    4.8% – 5.1%
Volatility    42% – 47%
Dividend yield    —
Weighted average fair value of grants   $ 15.02 – $15.52

The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding, giving consideration to the contractual
terms of the stock-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior as influenced by changes to the terms of our
stock-based awards. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we have elected to use the simplified method of determining the expected term of
stock options as permitted by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 107. The computation of expected volatility for the year ended December 31, 2006 is
based on the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry and market capitalization
data. As required by SFAS 123(R), management estimated expected forfeitures and is recognizing compensation costs only for those equity
awards expected to vest.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the total compensation cost related to stock options granted under SFAS 123(R) to employees
and directors but not yet recognized was approximately $25.0 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $467,000. This cost will be amortized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is typically 4 years. Amortization in the year ended December 31, 2006 was $3.5 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the total compensation cost related to the employee stock purchase plan under SFAS 123(R) to
employees and directors was approximately $22.7 million. This cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is
2 years. Amortization in the year ended December 31, 2006 was $2.5 million.

In 2006 and 2005, we issued performance based stock option awards to purchase 15,000 and 150,000 shares, respectively, of our
common stock. We recorded $624,000 and $41,000 of stock-
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based compensation expense in the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, related to these awards.

In 2006, we accelerated the vesting of 42,188 unvested shares held by former employees. As a result of the modifications, we recognized
additional compensation expense of $233,000 in 2006.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, our loss before income taxes and net loss for the year ended December 31,
2006, was $6.2 million higher than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted loss per share
for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $0.23 higher than if we had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB 25. We
account for stock compensation arrangements with non-employees in accordance with SFAS 123 and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF,
No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or
Services, using a fair value approach. For stock options granted to non-employees, the fair value of the stock options is estimated using a
Black-Scholes valuation model. Stock compensation expense associated with non-employees has been immaterial to date.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories consist of hardware and related component parts and are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. A
large portion of our inventory relates to evaluation units located at customer locations as some of our customers test our equipment prior to
purchasing. Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of our forecasted demand is written down to estimated realizable value based on historical
usage, expected demand, and evaluation unit conversion rate and age. Inherent in our estimates of market value in determining inventory
valuation are estimates related to economic trends, future demand for our products and technological obsolescence of our products. Inventory
write-downs are reflected as cost of product and amounted to approximately $1.5 million, $772,000 and $174,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of trade receivables when
collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these rates, we analyze our
historical collection experience and current economic trends. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $472,000 and $90,000 at December 31,
2006 and 2005.

Software Development Costs

We account for costs incurred for computer software purchased or developed for internal use in accordance with Statement of position
98-1 (SOP 98-1), Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. SOP 98-1 requires companies to
capitalize qualifying computer software costs, which are incurred during the application development stage and amortize them over the software’s
estimated useful life.

We capitalized $1.3 million, $69,000 and $0 in internal use software during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Amortization expense related to these assets totaled $43,000, $31,000 and $0 during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004,
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respectively. We did not record amortization on $1.3 million of 2006 additions to software development costs as the software was not placed into
service as of December 31, 2006.

Warranty Reserve

Upon shipment of products to our customers, we provide for the estimated cost to repair or replace products that may be returned under
warranty. Our warranty period is typically 12 months from the date of shipment to the end-user customer for hardware and 90 days for software.
For existing products, the reserve is estimated based on actual historical experience. For new products, the warranty reserve is based on historical
experience of similar products until such time as sufficient historical data has been collected for the new product. Warranty reserves amounted to
approximately $735,000 and $138,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

The following is a summary of the warranty reserve activity for the three years ended December 31, 2006:
 

(in thousands)   
Beginning

balance   

Additions
charged to
operations  

Warranty
costs

incurred   
Ending
balance

Warranty reserve analysis:        
Year ended December 31, 2004   $ —  $ 45  $ —  $ 45

                

Year ended December 31, 2005   $ 45  $ 382   (289)  $ 138
                

Year ended December 31, 2006   $ 138  $ 1,226  $ (629)  $ 735
                

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with remaining maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of investments in marketable securities at the time of purchase in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and reevaluate such determination
at each balance sheet date. Securities, which are classified as available for sale at December 31, 2006, are carried at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized gains and losses to date have been
immaterial. Fair value is determined based on quoted market rates. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be
other-than-temporary on securities available for sale are included as a component of interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on the
specific-identification method. Interest on securities classified as available for sale is included as a component of interest income.

Deferred Inventory Costs

When our products have been delivered, but the product revenue associated with the arrangement has been deferred as a result of not
meeting the revenue recognition criteria in SOP 97-2,
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we also defer the related inventory costs for the delivered items in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin 43 Restatement and Revision of
Accounting Research Bulletins.

Spares

We hold spare parts to service our customers who purchase support. We classify spare parts as other long term assets and amortize the
spares over an estimated useful life of three years. At December 31, 2006 and 2005 our spares balance was $876,000 and $0, respectively. In
2006, we amortized $192,000 to cost of support and services relating to spares.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are
recorded for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and amounts recognized for income tax purposes. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount of
future tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Investment policies have been implemented that limit investments to investment grade securities. The risk with
respect to trade receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations we perform on our customers and by the diversification of our customer base.
Collateral is not required for trade receivables. We did not have any customer that represented more than 10% of our revenue in 2006 or 2005. In
2004, we had one customer that represented 10.4% of revenue.

We outsource the production of our hardware to third-party manufacturing facilities. Some of the components in our products are available
only from single or limited sources of supply. Through December 31, 2006, we had no long-term contractual commitment with any manufacturer.

Foreign Currency Translation

While the majority of our revenue contracts are denominated in United States dollars, we have operating expenses in various foreign
currencies. The functional currency of a foreign operation is the local country’s currency. Consequently, expenses of operations outside the United
States are translated into United States dollars using average exchange rates for the period reported while assets and liabilities of operations
outside the United States are translated into United States dollars using end of period exchange rates. The effects of foreign currency translation
adjustments not affecting accumulated deficit are included in stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive loss consists of other comprehensive income and net loss. Other comprehensive income includes certain changes in
equity that are excluded from net loss. Specifically, cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income.
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Comprehensive loss has been reflected in the consolidated statements of convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Accumulated other comprehensive loss was $16,000 and $58,000 December 31, 2006 and 2005, resulting entirely from cumulative foreign
currency translation.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. We assess these assets for impairment based on estimated undiscounted future
cash flows from these assets. If the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, a loss is recorded for the
excess of the asset’s carrying value over the fair value. To date we have not recognized any impairment loss for long-lived assets.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $295,000, $836,000 and $379,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Research and Development

All costs to develop our products are expensed as incurred. Software development costs are capitalized beginning when a product’s
technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. Generally, our products
are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. As a result, costs subsequent to achieving technological feasibility have not
been significant and all software development costs have been expensed as incurred.

Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants

Freestanding warrants and other similar instruments related to shares that are redeemable are accounted for in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity. On March 31, 2003, we issued
a warrant for the purchase of 32,967 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.455 per share. On June 7, 2004,
we issued warrants for the purchase of 100,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.836 per share. Under
Statement No. 150, these warrants that were related to our convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheet. The warrants were subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value was recognized as a component of
other income (expense), net. Subsequent to the IPO and the associated conversion of our outstanding convertible preferred stock to common
stock, the warrants were reclassified to common stock and additional paid-in-capital and are no longer subject to re-measurement. During the year
ended December 31, 2006, the warrants to purchase 100,000 common shares were exercised.

2.    CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

On June 29, 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position 150-5, Issuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants
and Other Similar Instruments on Shares That Are
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Redeemable. Under Statement 150, the freestanding warrants that were related to our convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities and
were recorded at fair value. We previously accounted for freestanding warrants for the purchase of our convertible preferred stock under EITF
Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods
or Services. We adopted FSP 150-5 and accounted for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle as of the beginning of the third
quarter of 2005. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the impact of the change in accounting principle was to increase net loss by $510,000, or
$0.05 per share. The impact consists of a $280,000 cumulative charge for adoption as of July 1, 2005, reflecting the fair value of the warrants as
of that date, and $230,000 of additional expense that has been recorded in other income (expense), net to reflect the increase in fair value
between July 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005. In the year ended December 31, 2006 (through the date of our IPO), we recorded $644,000 of
additional expense reflected as other income (expense), net to reflect the increase in the fair value of the warrants.

The impact of the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle on net loss per common share was as follows:
 
   Year ended December 31,  
   2006   2005   2004  
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted:     

Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   $ (0.59)  $ (1.82)  $ (1.71)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   (0.03)   — 

             

Net loss   $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)
             

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands)    26,977   9,401   5,760 
             

3.    NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares, including options, common stock subject
to repurchase, warrants and convertible preferred stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of loss per share:
 
   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2006   2005   2004  
Net loss   $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)  $ (9,827)

             

Weighted average common shares outstanding net of weighted-average common shares subject
to repurchase    26,977   9,401   5,760 

             

Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)
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The following weighted average outstanding options, common stock subject to repurchase and convertible preferred stock were excluded
from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods presented because including them would have had an antidilutive effect:
 
   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Options to purchase common stock and common stock subject to repurchase   7,715  8,113   7,264
Convertible preferred stock (as converted basis)   28,045  35,704  35,704
Convertible preferred stock warrants (as converted basis)   125  133  133

4.    CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of highly liquid investments in time deposits held at major banks, commercial paper, United
States government agency discount notes, money market mutual funds and other money market securities with remaining maturities at the date of
purchase of 90 days or less. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was approximately $105.3 million
and $10.4 million, and the weighted average interest rates were 5.3% and 3.1%, respectively. The carrying value approximates fair value at
December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Marketable securities consist of commercial paper and certificates of deposit with original maturities of one year of less. As of
December 31, 2006, amortized cost of marketable securities equals fair value.

Restricted Cash

Pursuant to certain lease agreements and as security for our merchant services agreement with our financial institution, we are required to
maintain cash reserves, classified as restricted cash. Current restricted cash totaled $121,000 and $122,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and long-term restricted cash totaled $1.5 million and $85,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Long-term restricted
cash consists primarily of a $1.4 million letter of credit for the security deposit on the lease of our corporate headquarters and is restricted until the
end of the lease term on August 30, 2010.

5.    INVENTORY

Inventories consist primarily of hardware and related component parts and are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or
market. Inventory is comprised of the following:
 
   December 31,
(in thousands)   2006   2005
Raw materials   $ 320  $ 772
Finished goods    7,132   2,758

        

Total   $ 7,452  $ 3,530
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6.    FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which is typically two to three years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Fixed assets consisted of the following:
 
   Estimated

Useful
Lives

  December 31,  
(in thousands)     2006   2005  

Computer hardware   3 years   $ 2,315  $ 1,022 
Computer software   2-5 years   1,411   69 
Research and development lab equipment   3 years    3,152   1,706 
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures   3 years    965   360 
Leasehold improvements   2-3 years   2,646   183 

           

Total fixed assets      10,489   3,340 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization      (2,771)   (1,016)

           

Fixed assets, net     $ 7,718  $ 2,324 
           

7.    DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue consisted of the following:
 
   December 31,
(in thousands)   2006   2005
Product   $ 2,895  $ 266
Support and services    9,456   2,041
Ratable product and related support and services    4,486   2,584

        

Deferred revenue, current    16,837   4,891
        

Support and services, non-current    2,220   164
Ratable product and related support and services, non-current    25   544

        

Deferred revenue, non-current    2,245   708
        

Total deferred revenue   $ 19,082  $ 5,599
        

Deferred product revenue relates to arrangements where not all revenue recognition criteria have been met. Deferred support revenue and
services represents customer payments made in advance for annual support contracts. Support contracts are typically billed on a per annum basis
in advance and revenue is recognized ratably over the support period. Deferred ratable product and related support and services revenue consists
of deferred revenue on transactions where VSOE of fair value of support had not been established and the entire arrangement is being recognized
ratably over the support period. Deferred revenue related to our OEM arrangements where we have not established VSOE of fair value of support
is included in deferred ratable product and related support and services revenue.
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8.    DEBT

On June 7, 2004, we entered into a loan and security agreement with a financial institution for a credit facility not to exceed $2.5 million.
The credit facility provided the financial institution with a blanket lien on substantially all of our assets excluding intellectual property. The
agreement required payments of interest only through December 31, 2005 with principal payments made in 24 equal installments beginning
January 1, 2006. Interest was computed per annum as 9% plus the amount that the prime rate exceeds 4%. The weighted average interest rate
for this credit facility was 12.6%, 12.1% and 11.0% for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In connection with the
loan, we issued warrants for the purchase of 100,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.836 per share.
The total fair value of the warrants was $70,000 which was being amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan and security agreement.
The unamortized warrant balance of $39,000 at December 31, 2005 was recorded as an offset to debt on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet. Amortization of the warrants was recorded as interest expense. We settled all obligations under this loan and security agreement on
October 2, 2006. Principal payments were made in the amount of $1.5 million, after taking into effect the standard monthly payment made on
October 1, 2006.

Debt consisted of the following as of December 31, 2005:
 

(in thousands)   
December 31,

2005  
Debt   $ 2,500 
Less current maturities    1,250 

     

Long-term debt    1,250 
     

Unamortized portion of warrants    (39)
     

Total long-term debt   $ 1,211 
     

9.    GUARANTEES

Our agreements with customers, as well as our reseller agreements, generally include certain provisions for indemnifying customers and
resellers and their affiliated parties against liabilities if our products infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights. To date, we have not incurred
any material costs as a result of such indemnifications and have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in our consolidated financial
statements.

As permitted or required under Delaware law and to the maximum extent allowable under that law, we have certain obligations to indemnify
our officers, directors and certain key employees for certain events or occurrences while the officer, director or employee is or was serving at our
request in such capacity. These indemnification obligations are valid as long as the director, officer or employee acted in good faith and in a
manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification obligations is unlimited; however, we have a director and officer insurance policy that mitigates our
exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.
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10.    LEASE COMMITMENTS

We lease our facilities under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Future minimum commitments for these operating leases in
place as of December 31, 2006 with a remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year are as follows:
 

(in thousands)   
December 31,

2006
2007   $ 2,356
2008    2,477
2009    2,054
2010    1,177
2011 and thereafter    88

    

Total   $ 8,152
    

The terms of certain lease agreements provide for rental payments on a graduated basis. We recognize rent expense on the straight-line
basis over the lease period and have accrued for rent expense incurred but not paid. Rent expense under operating leases was $2.1 million,
$763,000 and $330,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

On September 26, 2006, we entered into an Agreement of Sublease (Sublease) for new corporate headquarters. The term of the Sublease
is from February 1, 2007 to August 30, 2010. The aggregate minimum lease commitment is $5.1 million and is reflected in the table above. The
Sublease also calls for additional payments for electricity and a portion of real estate taxes and operating expenses. We have entered into a letter
of credit in the amount of $1.4 million to serve as the security deposit for the Sublease. The sublease also provides for a tenant improvement
allowance of up to $1.3 million. The security deposit is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

On January 25, 2007, we entered into a lease agreement for office space in New York. The term of the lease is five years commencing on
the date the premises are delivered vacant and for exclusive possession by us. The aggregate minimum lease commitment is $1.2 million, which
is not included in the table above as it was entered into subsequent to December 31, 2006.

11.    COMMON STOCK

In September 2006, we completed our IPO of common stock in which we sold and issued 9,990,321 shares of our common stock, including
1,290,321 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’ full exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of $9.75 per share. As a
result of the IPO, we raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately $87.5 million in net proceeds after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and other offering costs of $3.1 million.

In February 2006, we sold 3,738,318 shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock for net proceeds of $19.9 million. Upon the closing
of the IPO, all shares of our convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into 39,441,439 shares of common stock.

In July 2002, our board of directors adopted the 2002 Stock Plan (2002 Plan). In September 2006, all shares of common stock available for
grant under the 2002 Plan transferred to the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (2006 Plan).
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In September 2006, in connection with our IPO, our board of directors approved the 2006 Plan, the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
and the 2006 Director Stock Option Plan. The following number of shares was reserved under these plans:
 
   Shares
2006 Equity Incentive Plan   3,000,000
2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan   1,500,000
2006 Director Option Plan   500,000

Additionally, all 429,880 available shares under the 2002 Plan were transferred to the 2006 Plan.

The Plans provide for automatic replenishments as follows:
 

 �  2006 Plan—increased on January 1 of each year for five years, beginning in 2007, by a number equal to the lesser of (i) 4,000,000
shares or (ii) 5% of the shares of common stock outstanding at that time or (iii) the number of shares determined by the Board.

 

 �  2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan—increased on January 1 of each year by a number of shares equal to the lesser of (i) 750,000
shares or (ii) 1% of the shares of common stock outstanding at that time or (iii) the number of shares determined by the Board.

 

 �  2006 Director Option Plan—increased on January 1 of each year by 250,000 shares.

Options issued under our stock option plans are generally for periods not to exceed 10 years and are issued at the fair value of the shares
of common stock on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Following the IPO, the fair value of our common stock is
determined by the last sale price of such stock on the Nasdaq Global Market. Options typically vest with respect to 25% of the shares one year
after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder ratably on a monthly basis over the following three years. Options granted under
the 2002 Plan prior to May 31, 2006 have a maximum term of ten years. Beginning May 31, 2006, options granted under the 2002 Plan had a
maximum term of seven years. Options granted under the 2006 Plan had a maximum term of seven years. Prior to March 28, 2006, employees in
the United States had the right to exercise their options granted under the 2002 Plan prior to vesting. For options granted beginning March 28,
2006, optionees may only exercise vested shares. Any unvested stock issued under the 2002 Plan is subject to repurchase by us. Grants made
pursuant to the 2006 Plan generally do not provide for the immediate exercise of options.

The 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plan) became effective on the effective date of the registration statement relating to
our IPO. Under the Purchase Plan, employees may purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions at a price per share that is 85%
of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock as of the beginning of an applicable offering period or the applicable purchase date, with
purchases generally every six months. Employees’ payroll deductions may not exceed 15% of their compensation. Employees may purchase up
to 2,000 shares per purchase period provided that the value of the shares purchased in any calendar year may not exceed $25,000.
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The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding:
 

   
Shares

Available  
Options

Outstanding  

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price Per Share

   (in thousands, except per share amounts)
Balance, December 31, 2003   1,983  650  $ 0.05

Additional options authorized   813  —   —
Granted   (2,415)  2,415  $ 0.10
Exercised   —  (1,724)  $ 0.10
Repurchased   105  —  $ 0.05
Canceled   160  (160)  $ 0.06

        

Balance, December 31, 2004   646  1,181  $ 0.08
Additional options authorized   4,613  —   —
Granted   (5,407)  5,407  $ 0.66
Exercised   —  (3,652)  $ 0.26
Repurchased   203  —  $ 0.09
Canceled   138  (138)  $ 0.19

        

Balance, December 31, 2005   193  2,798  $ 0.96
Additional options authorized   7,315  —   —
Granted   (4,832)  4,832  $ 8.75
Exercised    (254)  $ 0.84
Repurchased   325  —  
Canceled   332  (332)  $ 3.73

        

Balance, December 31, 2006   3,333  7,044  $ 6.18
        

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2006 was $0.05 to $34.12.
 

Range of Exercise Price   

Options
Outstanding as
of December 31,

2006   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life  

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price Per Share   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
   (in thousands)   (in years)      (in thousands)
$0.05   – $0.60   1,338  8.18  $ 0.36  
$0.61   – $5.75   2,252  9.09  $ 3.35  
$5.76   – $16.72   2,833  8.11   $ 6.61  
$16.73 – $34.12   621  6.86  $ 26.99  

         

$0.05   – $34.12   7,044  7.82  $ 6.18  $ 173,178
         

Exercisable   2,830  8.68  $ 2.12  $ 80,871
Not exercisable   4,214  8.11   $ 8.90  $ 92,307
Vested and expected to vest(1) (2)   9,264  8.27  $ 4.69  $ 241,441

(1) Includes shares that are exercised but not vested.
 

(2) The unrecognized compensation expense associated under the fair value method for shares expected to vest (unvested shares net of
expected forfeitures) as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $25.0 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of approximately 2.5 years.
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The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock option awards and the
closing price of our common stock at December 29, 2006. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock option
awards exercised was $1.5 million, determined at the date of option exercise.

The per share weighted-average fair value and exercise price of options granted in the year ended December 31, 2006 are as follows:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2006
Weighted-average fair value:   
Options granted below reassessed value   $ 4.79
Options granted equal to reassessed value   $ 10.46
Weighted-average exercise price:   
Options granted below reassessed value   $ 5.72
Options granted equal to reassessed value   $ 19.19

At December 31, 2006 and 2005 there were 2,372,000 and 4,273,000 shares, respectively, subject to repurchase under all common stock
repurchase agreements. The cash received from the sale of these shares is initially recorded as a liability and is subsequently reclassified to
common stock as the shares vest. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there was $659,000 and $925,000, respectively, recorded in accrued
liabilities and other long-term liabilities related to the issuance of these shares.

12.    INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes included income (loss) from foreign operations of approximately $820,000, $(14,000), and $20,000 for 2006,
2005 and 2004.

The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax rate is as follows (in thousands):
 
   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004  
Expected provision at federal statutory rate, 34%   $ (5,284)  $ (5,907)  $ (3,341)
State taxes, net of federal benefit    (928)   (1,014)   (574)
Stock-based compensation expense    3,134   513   37 
Change in valuation allowance    3,751   6,663   4,220 
Federal research credit    (830)   (418)   (349)
Non-deductible expenses    327   237   14 
Foreign rate differential    24   (19)   (2)
Other permanent differences    109   —   — 

             

Total   $ 303  $ 55  $ 5 
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The following is a geographical breakdown of the provision for income taxes:
 
   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)       2006          2005          2004    
Domestic   $ —  $ —  $ —
Foreign    303   55   5

            

Total   $ 303  $ 55  $ 5
            

The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:
 
   December 31,  
(in thousands)   2006   2005  
Deferred tax assets:    

Deferred and stock-based compensation   $ 953  $ 213 
Accruals and allowances    1,525   612 
Differences in timing of revenue recognition    168   291 
Depreciation and amortization    148   3 
Tax credits    1,757   928 
Net operating loss carryforwards    11,812   10,564 

         

Total deferred tax assets    16,363   12,611 
Less: valuation allowance    (16,363)   (12,611)

         

Net deferred tax asset   $ —  $ — 
         

Since inception we have incurred operating losses and, accordingly, have not recorded a provision for income taxes for any of the periods
presented other than foreign provisions for income tax. As of December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state
income tax purposes of $29.7 million and $30.8 million, respectively. We also had federal and state research and development tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $1.1 million. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. If not utilized, the federal and state
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will expire between 2013 and 2026. Utilization of these net operating losses and credit
carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation due to provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that are applicable if
we experience an “ownership change” that may occur, for example, by a change in significant shareholder allocation or equity structure.

13.    SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes standards for reporting
information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer. Our Chief Executive Officer reviews
financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by geographic region for purposes of
allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. We have one business activity and there
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are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the consolidated
unit level. Accordingly, we are considered to be in a single reporting segment and operating unit structure.

Revenue by geography is based on the billing address of the customer. The following table sets forth revenue and long-lived assets by
geographic area:

Revenue
 

   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)   2006   2005   2004
Domestic revenue   $ 65,675  $ 18,866  $ 2,206
International revenue    24,532   4,075   356

            

Total revenue   $ 90,207  $ 22,941  $ 2,562
            

Long-lived Assets
 

   As of December 31,
(in thousands)       2006          2005    
Domestic long-lived assets   $ 7,509  $ 2,307
International long-lived assets    209   17

        

Total long-lived assets   $ 7,718  $ 2,324
        

14.    EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We have a 401(k) plan covering all eligible employees. We are not required to contribute to the plan and have made no contributions
through December 31, 2006.

15.    LEGAL MATTERS

From time to time, we may be involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. There are no matters at
December 31, 2006 that, in the opinion of management, are expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

16.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 7, 2007, we announced our intention to file a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC for the sale to the public of
approximately 2.35 million shares of our common stock by us and approximately 2.65 million shares by selling stockholders.

17.    NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, (FIN 48). This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements and
prescribes a recognition threshold of more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement of the tax uncertainty occurs if the
recognition threshold has been met. This
 

77

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007



Table of Contents
RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
Interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and
transition. FIN 48 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We do not think the adoption of FIN 48 will be material to our
financial position and results of operations.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. SAB 108 addresses the diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement
misstatements and establishes an approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements based on the effects of the
misstatements on each of our financial statements and the related disclosures. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15,
2006. We currently do not expect that the adoption of SAB 108 will have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.
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 Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no disagreements with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or
auditing scope or procedures required to be reported under this item.

 Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures

We evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2006, the end of
the period covered by this Annual Report. This evaluation (the controls evaluation) was done under the supervision and with the participation of
our Disclosure Committee and management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO).

Disclosure controls and procedures means controls and other procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed such that information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the
CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based upon the controls evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of December 31, 2006, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC and to ensure that material information relating to us and our
consolidated subsidiaries is made known to management, including the CEO and CFO.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2006 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting means a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by our fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. The
evidence of such compliance is due no later than the time we file our annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. We believe we
will have adequate resources and expertise, both internal and external, in place to meet this requirement. However, there is no guarantee that our
efforts will result in a management assurance, or an attestation by the independent auditors, that internal controls over financial reporting were
adequate.

 Item 9B.    Other Information

None.
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 Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors, Officers and Key Employees

Our executive officers, key employees and directors, and their ages and positions as of December 31, 2006, are set forth below:
 
Name   Age  Position
Jerry M. Kennelly   56  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Steven McCanne, Ph.D.   38  Chief Technology Officer and Director
Randy S. Gottfried   41  Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Business Services
Eric Wolford   40  Senior Vice President of Marketing and Business Development
David M. Peranich   45  Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales
Gordon Chaffee   37  Vice President of Engineering
Stephen R. Smoot, Ph.D.   39  Vice President of Technical Operations
Mark Day   44  Chief Scientist
Harold E. Irvine II   49  Chief Information Officer
Brett A. Nissenberg   33  General Counsel, Vice President of Corporate and Legal Affairs and Secretary
Michael R. Kourey(1)(3)   47  Director
Stanley J. Meresman(1)(3)   60  Director
Blake G. Modersitzki(1)(2)   40  Director
Christopher J. Schaepe(2)(3)   43  Director
James R. Swartz(2)   64  Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
 

(2) Member of Compensation Committee.
 

(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Jerry M. Kennelly co-founded our company in May 2002 and serves as chairman of our board of directors and as our President and Chief
Executive Officer. Immediately prior to founding our company, Mr. Kennelly spent six years at Inktomi Corporation, an infrastructure software
company, where he served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary. From June 1990 until joining Inktomi in October
1996, Mr. Kennelly worked for Sybase, Inc., an infrastructure software company, in a number of senior financial and operational positions, most
recently as Vice President of Corporate Finance. From November 1988 until June 1990, Mr. Kennelly worked at Oracle Corporation as finance
director for US Operations. From June 1980 until November 1988, Mr. Kennelly worked at Hewlett-Packard Company as Worldwide Sales and
Marketing Controller for the Tandem Computers Division. Mr. Kennelly holds a Bachelor’s degree from Williams College and a Masters degree
from the New York University Graduate School of Business Administration.

Steven McCanne, Ph.D. co-founded our company in May 2002 and has served as our Chief Technology Officer since September 2002.
He has also been a member of our board of directors since May 2002. From May 2002 to September 2002, Dr. McCanne served as our President
and Chief Executive Officer. Prior to founding our company, Dr. McCanne served as Chief Technology Officer, Media Division and later as Chief
Technology Officer for Inktomi Corporation from October 2000 to March 2002. Dr. McCanne joined Inktomi following its acquisition of FastForward
Networks, which he co-founded in May 1998. Dr. McCanne has also served on the faculty in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science at the
University of California, Berkeley. Dr. McCanne holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science and a Ph.D. in
Computer Science from the University of California, Berkeley.
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Randy S. Gottfried has served as our Chief Financial Officer since joining us in February 2004 and as our Senior Vice President of

Business Services since May 2006. From November 2003 to February 2004, Mr. Gottfried served as Chief Financial Officer of Voltage Security, a
security software company. From June 1997 to March 2001 and from July 2002 to March 2003, Mr. Gottfried held various senior finance roles,
including Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, with Inktomi Corporation. Mr. Gottfried holds a Masters degree in Business
Management from Northwestern University’s Kellogg Graduate School of Management and an undergraduate business degree from the University
of Michigan in Ann Arbor. He became a Certified Public Accountant in 1989.

Eric Wolford has served as our Senior Vice President of Marketing and Business Development since March 2005. He served as our Vice
President of Marketing and Business Development from May 2003 to March 2005. From June 2001 to May 2003, Mr. Wolford was the Senior Vice
President of Marketing and Business Development for netVmg, a network management company. From August 1999 to June 2001, he served as
Vice President of Product Marketing and Management at Inktomi Corporation and FastForward Networks (which was acquired by Inktomi in
October 2000), a provider of content delivery management software. From 1988 to 1999, Mr. Wolford served in various sales, marketing and
product management roles at AT&T. Mr. Wolford holds a Bachelor’s degree in Pre-Medicine from Pepperdine University and an M.B.A. from the
New York University Stern School of Business.

David M. Peranich has served as our Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales since July 2006. From June 2004 to November 2005,
Mr. Peranich was the Chief Executive Officer and President of Centrata, a provider of IT service delivery management solutions. From May 2001
to June 2004, Mr. Peranich held a number of management positions at Siebel Systems, most recently as Vice President and General Manager of
Worldwide Alliances. From November 2000 to February 2001, he served as Vice President of Worldwide Sales at AdFlight Corporation. From
January 1997 to October 2000, Mr. Peranich held a number of sales management positions at Remedy Corporation, most recently as Vice
President of Americas Sales. Mr. Peranich holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State
University and an M.S. in Systems Management from the University of Southern California.

Gordon Chaffee has served as our Vice President of Engineering since joining us in December 2003. From May 2002 to September 2003,
Mr. Chaffee was the Vice President of Software at netVmg. netVmg was acquired in September 2003 by Internap Corporation, an internet service
provider, and Mr. Chaffee remained at Internap until December 2003. From October 2000 to February 2002, Mr. Chaffee served as Director of
Engineering at Inktomi Corporation. Mr. Chaffee joined Inktomi following its acquisition of FastForward Networks where he worked from October
1998 to October 2000. Mr. Chaffee holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the University of California, Berkeley.

Stephen R. Smoot, Ph.D. joined us in February 2003 and has served as our Vice President of Technical Operations since May 2004.
From September 2002 to February 2003, Dr. Smoot consulted for various companies in the areas of MPEG video, networking and system design.
From October 2000 to September 2002, Dr. Smoot was a Senior Director at Inktomi Corporation focused on MPEG, streaming video and
networking. Dr. Smoot joined Inktomi following its acquisition of FastForward Networks where he served as Director of Engineering from February
1999 to October 2000. From June 1996 to February 1999, Dr. Smoot was a Director of Software Development at Imedia Corporation (now
Terayon Inc.), a communications infrastructure company. Dr. Smoot holds an M.S. and Ph.D. in Computer Science from the University of
California, Berkeley and Bachelor’s degrees in Computer Science and Mathematics from MIT.

Mark Day, Ph.D. joined us in August 2004 and has served as our Chief Scientist since January 2005. From May 2000 to August 2004, Dr.
Day served as Technical Leader at Cisco Systems in a
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number of roles, ending as technical lead for content networking product management. From December 1999 to May 2000, Dr. Day served as
Senior Scientist at SightPath, which was acquired by Cisco Systems in May 2000. From September 1994 to December 1999, Dr. Day served as a
Research Scientist at Lotus and then, after IBM’s acquisition of Lotus, at IBM, where he served in a number of roles, ending as Consulting
Engineer and Technical Assistant to the CTO. Dr. Day has also held an adjunct faculty appointment in Computer Science at Harvard University.
Dr. Day holds bachelor’s degrees in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from Washington University in St. Louis, a master’s degree in
Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from MIT, and a Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from MIT.

Harold E. Irvine II has served as our Chief Information Officer since joining us in August 2005. From September 2004 to August 2005,
Mr. Irvine was an independent consultant specializing in IT infrastructure and business systems portfolios. Mr. Irvine consulted for us in these
areas from February 2005 to April 2005. From February 2004 to September 2004, Mr. Irvine served as Director of Information Technology at Good
Technology, a wireless software company. From June 2000 to April 2003, Mr. Irvine served as Vice President of Information Technology at
Inktomi Corporation. From September 1996 to June 2000, Mr. Irvine served as Director of Client and Server Architecture at Netscape
Communications Corporation. From June 1988 to September 1996, Mr. Irvine served as Manager of Server Administration and Operations and
Manager of Network Communications at Bechtel Corporation. Mr. Irvine holds a Bachelor’s degree in Information Technology from the University
of San Francisco.

Brett A. Nissenberg has served as our General Counsel and Vice President of Corporate and Legal Affairs since joining us in February
2005, and as Secretary since April 2006. From October 1997 to January 2005, Mr. Nissenberg was an attorney with the law firm of Gunderson
Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP, where he represented investors and public and private technology companies in venture
capital and corporate financings, public offerings, mergers and acquisitions and other strategic transactions. Mr. Nissenberg holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Political Science from the University of California, Los Angeles, and a J.D. from UCLA School of Law.

Michael R. Kourey has been a member of our board of directors since March 2006. Mr. Kourey has served as Senior Vice President,
Finance and Administration and a director of Polycom, Inc., a publicly held unified collaborative communications solutions company, since January
1999 and as Chief Financial Officer since January 1995. He served as Vice President, Finance and Administration of Polycom from January 1995
to January 1999 and as Vice President, Finance and Operations from July 1991 to January 1995. Mr. Kourey holds a B.S. in managerial
economics from the University of California, Davis and an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University. Mr. Kourey also serves on the Advisory Board of
the Business School at Santa Clara University.

Stanley J. Meresman has been a member of our board of directors since March 2005. Mr. Meresman was a Venture Partner with
Technology Crossover Ventures, a private equity firm, from January through December 2004 and was General Partner and Chief Operating
Officer of Technology Crossover Ventures from November 2001 to December 2003. During the four years prior to joining Technology Crossover
Ventures, Mr. Meresman was a private investor and board member and advisor to several technology companies. From 1989 to May 1997,
Mr. Meresman was the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Silicon Graphics, Inc. Prior to Silicon Graphics, he was Vice President
of Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Cypress Semiconductor. Mr. Meresman holds a B.S. in Industrial Engineering and
Operations Research from the University of California, Berkeley, and an M.B.A. from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr. Meresman is
also a director of Polycom, Inc., a publicly held company.

Blake G. Modersitzki has been a member of our board of directors since December 2003. Mr. Modersitzki has been a general partner of
UV Partners, a venture capital firm, since May 2002.
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Prior to joining UV Partners, he was Vice President of Strategic Business Development at Novell, Inc. and a Managing Director at Novell Ventures,
the venture capital division of Novell, Inc. Mr. Modersitzki holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Brigham Young University.

Christopher J. Schaepe has been a member of our board of directors since December 2002. Mr. Schaepe is a founding general partner
of Lightspeed Venture Partners, a venture capital firm. Prior to joining Lightspeed in September 2000, he was a general partner at Weiss, Peck &
Greer Venture Partners, a venture capital firm, which he joined in 1991. Mr. Schaepe holds B.S. and M.S. degrees in Computer Science and
Electrical Engineering from MIT and an M.B.A. from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr. Schaepe is also a director of eHealth, Inc., a
publicly held company.

James R. Swartz has been a member of our board of directors since November 2002. Mr. Swartz is a founding general partner of Accel
Partners, a venture capital firm. He holds a B.S. degree from Harvard University with a concentration in Engineering Sciences and Applied Physics
and an M.S. in Industrial Administration from Carnegie Mellon University.

Corporate Governance

Board Composition

Our board of directors is currently composed of seven members. Messrs. Kourey, Meresman, Modersitzki, Schaepe and Swartz qualify as
independent directors in accordance with the published listing requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market, or Nasdaq. The Nasdaq independence
definition includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at least three years, one of our employees and
that neither the director nor any of his family members has engaged in various types of business dealings with us. In addition, as further required
by the Nasdaq rules, our board of directors has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationships exist which,
in the opinion of our board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.
In making these determinations, our directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and us with regard to each director’s
business and personal activities as they may relate to us and our management. Our directors hold office until their successors have been elected
and qualified or their earlier death, resignation or removal.

Classified Board

Our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide for a classified board of directors consisting of three
classes of directors, each serving a staggered three year term. As a result, only one class of our board of directors is elected each year. Messrs.
Modersitzki, Schaepe and Swartz have been designated Class I directors whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held
in 2007. Messrs. Kourey and McCanne have been designated Class II directors whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to
be held in 2008. Messrs. Kennelly and Meresman have been designated Class III directors whose terms will expire at the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2009. Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the number of authorized
directors may be changed only by resolution of a number of directors that is more than half of the number of directors then authorized (including
any vacancies), and that, except as otherwise required by law or by resolution of the board, any vacancies or new directorships on the board may
be filled only by vote of the directors and not by stockholders. The classification of the board of directors may have the effect of delaying or
preventing changes in control of our company.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance
committee. Our board of directors and its committees set
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schedules to meet throughout the year and also can hold special meetings and act by written consent from time to time, as appropriate. The
independent members of our board of directors also will hold separate regularly scheduled executive sessions at least twice a year at which only
independent directors are present. Our board of directors has delegated various responsibilities and authority to its committees as generally
described below. The committees will regularly report on their activities and actions to the full board of directors. Each committee of our board of
directors has a written charter approved by our board of directors. Copies of each charter are posted on our Web site at http://www.riverbed.com
under the Investor Relations section. The inclusion of our Web site address in this report does not include or incorporate by reference the
information on our Web site into this report.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of our board of directors oversees our accounting practices, system of internal controls, audit processes and financial
reporting processes. Among other things, our audit committee is responsible for reviewing our disclosure controls and processes and the
adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls and internal audit functions. It also discusses the scope and results of the audit and interim
reviews with our independent auditors, reviews with our management our interim and year-end operating results and, as appropriate, initiates
inquiries into aspects of our financial affairs. Our audit committee is responsible for establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment
of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and for the confidential, anonymous submission by our
employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. In addition, our audit committee has sole and direct responsibility
for the appointment, retention, compensation and oversight of the work of our independent auditors, including approving services and fee
arrangements. All related party transactions will be approved by our audit committee before we enter into them or will be approved in accordance
with our Related Person Transactions Policies and Procedures.

The current members of our audit committee are Messrs. Kourey, Meresman and Modersitzki, each of whom are independent for audit
committee purposes under the rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing standards of Nasdaq. Mr. Meresman chairs the audit committee.

Our board of directors has determined that Messrs. Kourey and Meresman are each an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in
Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K. The designation does not impose on Messrs. Kourey and Meresman any duties, obligations or liability that are
greater than are generally imposed on them as members of our audit committee and our board of directors.

Compensation Committee

The current members of our compensation committee are Messrs. Modersitzki, Schaepe and Swartz. Mr. Swartz chairs the compensation
committee. The compensation committee reviews and approves our overall compensation strategy and policies. Specifically, the compensation
committee reviews and approves corporate performance goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our executive officers and other
senior management, reviews and approves the compensation and other terms of employment of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive
officers, approves the individual bonus programs in effect for the Chief Executive Officer, other executive officers and key employees for each
fiscal year, recommends to the board of directors the compensation of our directors, recommends to the board of directors the adoption or
amendment of equity and cash incentive plans, approves amendments to such plans, grants stock options and other stock-related awards; and
administers our stock option plans, stock purchase plan and similar programs. The compensation committee may, to the extent permitted under
applicable law and the rules of Nasdaq and the SEC, delegate its authority to subcommittees when appropriate. A more detailed description of the
compensation committee’s functions can be found in our compensation committee charter.

The compensation committee met seventeen times during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The compensation committee also
acted by written consent four times during the fiscal year
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ended December 31, 2006. Our Chief Executive Officer does not participate in the determination of his own compensation or the compensation of
directors. However, he makes recommendations to the compensation committee regarding the amount and form of the compensation of the other
executive officers and key employees, and he often participates in the compensation committee’s deliberations about their compensation. No
other executive officers participate in the determination of the amount or form of the compensation of executive officers or directors.

The compensation committee has retained The Omura Consulting Group as its independent compensation consultant. The consultant
provides the committee with data about the compensation paid by a peer group of companies and other companies that may compete with us for
executives, and develops recommendations for structuring our compensation programs.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The current members of our nominating and corporate governance committee are Messrs. Kourey, Meresman and Schaepe. Mr. Kourey
chairs the nominating and corporate governance committee. The nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directors
oversees the nomination of directors, including, among other things, identifying, evaluating and making recommendations of nominees to our
board of directors and evaluates the performance of our board of directors and individual directors. Our nominating and corporate governance
committee is also responsible for reviewing developments in corporate governance practices, evaluating the adequacy of our corporate
governance practices and making recommendations to our board of directors concerning corporate governance matters. A more detailed
description of the nomination and corporate governance committee’s functions can be found in our nominating and corporate governance
committee charter.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

The members of our board of directors, our executive officers of the Company and persons who hold more than 10% of our outstanding
common stock are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (Section 16(a)), which require them to file reports
with respect to their ownership of our common stock and their transactions in our common stock. Based upon (i) the copies of Section 16(a)
reports that we received from such persons for their fiscal year 2006 transactions in the common stock and their common stock holdings and
(ii) the written representations received from one or more of such persons that no annual Form 5 reports were required to be filed by them for
fiscal year 2006, we believe that all reporting requirements under Section 16(a) were met in a timely manner by the persons who were executive
officers, members of the board of directors or greater than 10% stockholders during such fiscal year.

Codes of Ethics and Business Conduct

Our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and a code of ethics. The code of business conduct applies to all of our
employees, officers and directors. The code of ethics is in addition to our code of business conduct and applies to our chief executive officer and
senior financial officers, including our chief financial officer and principal accounting officer. The full texts of our codes of business conduct and
ethics are posted on our website at http://www.riverbed.com under the Investor Relations section. We intend to disclose future amendments to our
codes of business conduct and ethics, or certain waivers of such provisions, at the same location on our Web site identified above and also in
public filings. The inclusion of our Web site address in this report does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our Web site into
this report.
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 Item 11.    Executive Compensation

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

As noted above, the compensation committee of our board of directors currently consists of Messrs. Modersitzki, Schaepe and Swartz.
None of these individuals was at any time during fiscal year 2006, or at any other time, an officer or employee. None of our executive officers has
ever served as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive
officers serving as a member of our board of directors or our compensation committee.

2006 Director Compensation

Our directors do not currently receive any cash compensation for their services as members of our board of directors or any committee of
our board of directors. However, we have a policy of reimbursing directors for travel, lodging and other reasonable expenses incurred in
connection with their attendance at board or committee meetings. On March 28, 2006, we granted Michael R. Kourey a stock option to purchase
60,000 shares of our common stock in connection with his commencement of service on our board of directors. On April 12, 2006, we granted
Mr. Kourey an additional stock option to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock in connection with his appointment to the audit committee
of our board of directors. On September 1, 2006, we also granted Stanley J. Meresman a stock option to purchase 32,000 shares of our common
stock. All options vest in 48 equal monthly installments from the grant date and will fully vest if we are acquired while the directors are in our
service.

Future non-employee directors will be entitled to an initial stock option award to purchase 60,000 shares of our common stock upon such
director’s election to our board of directors, plus an additional 10,000 shares if serving on our audit committee and an additional 10,000 shares if
serving as chairman of our audit committee. Each initial option will become exercisable for the shares in 48 equal monthly installments and will
fully vest if we are acquired while the directors are in our service. Each year thereafter, each non-employee director will receive an annual stock
option award to purchase 20,000 shares of our common stock on the date of our annual stockholders meeting, plus an additional 8,000 shares if
serving on our audit committee and an additional 4,000 shares if serving as chairman of our audit committee, each of which will vest in 48 equal
monthly installments and will fully vest if we are acquired while the directors are in our service. Annual grants are not made in the same year as
the initial grants. All such options will be granted at the fair market value on the date of the award.

The following table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our directors in fiscal year 2006.
 

Name (a)   
Option Awards

($) (1)   
Total

($)
Michael R. Kourey   61,531(2)  61,531
Stanley J. Meresman   15,813(3)  15,813
Blake G. Modersitzki, Christopher J. Schaepe and James R. Swartz   0(4)  0

(1) The amounts in this column represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the fiscal
year in accordance with FAS 123(R).

 

(2) On March 28, 2006, Mr. Kourey was granted an option to purchase 60,000 shares of our common stock. The grant date fair value of such
option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was $275,490. On April 12, 2006, Mr. Kourey was also granted an option to purchase
10,000 shares. The grant date fair value of the April 12 option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was $49,185. As of
December 31, 2006, Mr. Kourey held outstanding options to
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 purchase an aggregate of 70,000 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements contained
elsewhere in this Annual Report for a discussion of all assumptions made by us in determining the grant date fair value of its equity awards.

 

(3) On September 1, 2006, Mr. Meresman was granted an option to purchase 32,000 shares of our common stock. The grant date fair value of
such option, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R), was $191,505. As of December 31, 2006, Mr. Meresman held outstanding options
to purchase an aggregate of 32,000 shares of our common stock. See Note 1 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report for a discussion of all assumptions made by us in determining the grant date fair value of its
equity awards.

 

(4) As of December 31, 2006, Messrs. Modersitzki, Schaepe and Swartz held no outstanding options.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The compensation committee of our board of directors is comprised of three non-employee members of our board of directors. The
compensation committee’s basic responsibility is to review the performance of our management in achieving corporate goals and objectives and to
ensure that our executive officers are compensated effectively in a manner consistent with our strategy and competitive practices. Toward that
end, the compensation committee oversees, reviews and administers all of our compensation, equity and employee benefit plans and programs
applicable to executive officers.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

As a quickly growing high-technology company, we operate in an extremely competitive and rapidly changing industry. We believe that the
skill, talent, judgment and dedication of our executive officers are critical factors affecting the long-term value of our company. Therefore, our goal
is to maintain an executive compensation program that will fairly compensate our executives, attract and retain qualified executives who are able
to contribute to our long-term success, induce performance consistent with clearly defined corporate goals and align our executives’ long-term
interests with those of our stockholders. The specific goals that our current executive compensation program rewards are focused on revenue
growth, consistency of revenue growth and the value of our stock. At this stage in our development, we believe that growth-oriented targets are
more appropriate than targets focused on profitability or other criteria.

Our goal is to provide overall compensation (assuming that targeted levels of performance are achieved) that is at least above the median
compensation at a peer group of technology companies selected for similarities in business model and other criteria, including whether we may
compete with that company for employees generally. The elements of compensation included in the competitive analysis generally are base
salaries, short-term cash incentives, and long-term incentives in the form of stock options.

Each year, our management provides the compensation committee historical and prospective breakdowns of the total compensation
components for each executive officer. Our decisions on compensation for our executive officers are based primarily upon our assessment of each
individual’s performance and potential to enhance long-term stockholder value. We rely upon judgment and not upon rigid guidelines or formulas
in determining the amount and mix of compensation elements for each executive officer. Factors affecting our judgment include performance
compared to strategic goals established for the individual and the company at the beginning of the year, the nature and scope of the executive’s
responsibilities, and effectiveness in leading our initiatives to achieve corporate goals.
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In 2006, the compensation committee established a peer group of companies to evaluate target compensation based on median

competitive data. Our peer group was selected by a compensation consultant based on the criteria described above. The compensation
committee intends to review the peer group periodically to take into account any changes in our company, our industry and other factors.

When we make executive compensation decisions, we review individual performance and corporate performance. The compensation
committee measures our performance against the specific goals established at the beginning of the fiscal year and determines the overall budget
and targeted compensation for our executive officers. Our Chief Executive Officer, as the manager of the members of the executive team,
assesses the executives’ individual contributions to their respective departmental goals as well as achievement of their individual goals and makes
a recommendation to the compensation committee with respect to any merit increase in salary, cash bonus and stock option replenishment grant
for each member of the executive team, other than himself. The compensation committee evaluates, discusses and modifies or approves these
recommendations and conducts a similar evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer’s contributions to corporate goals and achievement of individual
goals.

Role of Executive Officers and Compensation Consultant

Our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Human Resources support the compensation committee in its
work by providing information relating to our financial plans, performance assessments of our executive officers and other personnel-related data.
In addition, the committee has the authority under its charter to engage the services of outside advisors, experts and others to assist it. In
accordance with this authority, the compensation committee consults from time to time with Gary Omura, Principal of The Omura Consulting
Group, who advises the committee on matters related to the compensation of executive officers. In 2006, the compensation committee consulted
with The Omura Consulting Group in connection with developing recommendations for structuring our compensation programs to retain our highly
experienced executive management team, to keep management focused during the expected period of growth following our initial public offering
and to motivate management to maximize stockholder value. Mr. Omura assisted our Vice President of Human Resources in preparing the
information that was presented to the compensation committee. His fees were approved and paid by us.

Principal Elements of Executive Compensation

Our executive compensation program consists of the three components discussed below. In general, the compensation committee’s
determination with regard to one component does not affect its determinations with regard to the other components.

Base Salaries.    The salaries of our Chief Executive Officer and our other executive officers are established based on the scope of their
responsibilities, taking into account competitive market compensation based on compensation surveys and benchmarking salaries paid by the
peer group of companies for similar positions. In the spring of 2006, the compensation committee analyzed the base salary of each executive
officer based on the 2005 Radford Survey and the 2005 Pre-IPO San Francisco Bay Area Survey. Compensation data from peer companies was
also considered. Our base salary levels were found to be below levels necessary to achieve our compensation objectives based on companies in
Northern California and technology companies throughout the United States, because they generally were established during the first few years of
our operation when our revenue levels were lower. Therefore, we increased the executive officers’ salaries. We believe that compensation below
the higher levels of the market could, in the long run, jeopardize our ability to retain our executive officers. Due to the intensely competitive market
for highly qualified employees in our industry, our geographic location and our aggressive performance goals, we may choose to set our
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cash compensation levels at the higher end of the market in the future. We conduct reviews of our employees, including our executive officers, in
two cycles per year, in May and November. Additional salary adjustments are expected to be based on competitive conditions, market increases in
salaries, individual performance, our overall financial results and changes in job duties and responsibilities. Although currently our executive
officers are still paid below high end of the market in cash compensation, we believe that their total compensation (including stock options) is
appropriate.

Annual Incentive Compensation.    Annual cash incentives for our executive officers are designed to reward performance that furthers
key corporate goals. In 2006, the compensation committee approved annual performance goals for that year. The annual incentive awards for
executive officers are determined on the basis of our achievement of these goals. The performance metrics against which our executive officers
are measured are clearly communicated, measurable and consistently applied, and focus on corporate objectives. Our executive officers
participate in our management bonus program that is designed to motivate management to achieve specific goals related to revenue relative to
our plan and consistency in achieving our revenue goals from quarter to quarter. These metrics were selected because we believe that, at this
stage of our development, they are most closely correlated with stockholder value. We believe that our revenue and consistency goals are
aggressive and not easy to achieve.

A target cash incentive amount is set for each executive officer’s award after considering targets for comparable positions at the peer group
of companies. These awards are paid quarterly, based on our performance against the predetermined goals. As noted above, these target
amounts are determined so as to contribute to overall compensation that is at least above the median level of compensation at the peer group of
companies.

To date, the compensation committee has not exercised discretion to increase or reduce the bonus amounts that resulted from the
application of our management bonus plan. However, the committee has the authority to do so in the future if it determines that an adjustment
would serve our interests and the goals of the management bonus program.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation.    Generally, a significant stock option grant is made in the year when an executive officer
commences employment. This grant is made within our written guidelines for new-hire grants, consistent with the executive’s position. The
guidelines were developed based on our historical practices as well as information provided to us by The Omura Consulting Group, using the VC
2005 Pre-IPO, SF Bay Area survey and the Pre-IPO, SF Bay Area, All IT survey. The size of each grant is generally set at a level that the
compensation committee deems appropriate to create a meaningful opportunity for stock ownership based upon the grant guidelines, the
individual’s position with us and the individual’s potential for future responsibility and promotion. The relative weight given to each of these factors
will vary from individual to individual at the compensation committee’s discretion. Adjustments may be made as the compensation committee
deems reasonable to attract candidates in the competitive environment in which we operate.

Subsequent option grants may be made at varying times and in varying amounts in the discretion of the compensation committee.
Historically, they have been made during our semi-annual review cycles, in May and November. Each May and November, the compensation
committee considers replenishment grants for existing employees, including our executive officers, who have completed approximately one year of
service since their last review. Each executive officer’s performance during the prior year is measured during the performance review process, but
corporate performance is also considered when follow-on options are granted. The vesting schedule and the number of shares granted are
established to ensure a meaningful incentive to remain in the company’s employ. The option will provide a return to the executive officer only if he
or she remains in our employ, and then only if the market price of our common stock increases over the option term.
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In 2006, the compensation committee granted follow-on stock options to our named executive officers during our May review cycle, as

follows:
 

Name   Number of Shares
Jerry M. Kennelly   400,000
Randy S. Gottfried   50,000
Steven McCanne, Ph.D.   400,000
Eric Wolford   200,000

David M. Peranich received a grant of 400,000 option shares in July of 2006 in connection with the commencement of his employment.

When a new executive officer is hired, an option grant will be made at the first regularly scheduled meeting of the compensation committee
after the officer commences employment. Replenishment option grants to officers are made at regularly scheduled meetings of the compensation
committee in accordance with the semi-annual schedule described above. The exercise price of stock options is always equal to the closing price
of our Common Stock on the day of the committee’s action.

To date, we have not awarded shares of restricted stock to our executive officers. Since we have been in a high-growth phase of our
business and our stock has only recently become publicly traded, the compensation committee believes that options currently provide a more
powerful incentive to our officers. However, the compensation committee may make restricted stock grants in the future.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

We currently do not require our directors or executive officers to own a particular amount of our Common Stock. The compensation
committee is satisfied that stock and option holdings among our directors and executive officers are sufficient at this time to provide motivation and
to align this group’s interests with those of our stockholders.

Perquisites

Our executive officers participate in the same group insurance and employee benefit plans as our other salaried employees. At this time,
we do not provide special benefits or other perquisites to our executive officers.

Post-Termination Protection

We have not entered into employment agreements with our executive officers. We issued offer letters to Messrs. Gottfried, Peranich and
Wolford when they were recruited for their current positions. Each offer letter provides for accelerated vesting of equity in the event that we are
subject to a change in control and the executive officer’s employment terminates for specified reasons. Mr. Peranich’s offer letter also provides for
severance benefits in the event of his termination without cause. See “Employment Agreements” below for a summary of the offer letters. The
terms of each offer letter reflect arm’s length negotiations between us and the executive officer that occurred when the executive officer was
recruited.
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Financial Restatements

The compensation committee has not adopted a policy with respect to whether we will make retroactive adjustments to any cash- or
equity-based incentive compensation paid to executive officers (or others) where the payment was predicated upon the achievement of financial
results that were subsequently the subject of a restatement. Our compensation committee believes that this issue is best addressed when the
need actually arises, when all of the facts regarding the restatement are known.

Tax and Accounting Treatment of Compensation

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code places a limit of $1 million on the amount of compensation that we may deduct in any one
year with respect to our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and each of our three most highly paid executive officers. There is an
exception to the $1 million limitation for performance-based compensation meeting certain requirements. To qualify for the exemption, our
stockholders were asked to approve a limit under our 2006 Equity Incentive Plan on the maximum number of shares for which a participant may
be granted stock options in any calendar year. Because this limit was adopted, any compensation deemed paid to an executive officer when he or
she exercises an option with an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of the option shares on the grant date should qualify as
performance-based compensation and should not be subject to the $1 million deduction limitation. Restricted stock awards are generally not
considered performance-based under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code and, therefore, are generally not deductible. However, such
awards may qualify for the exemption if vesting is based on stockholder-approved performance metrics. To maintain flexibility in compensating
executive officers in a manner designed to promote varying corporate goals, the compensation committee has not adopted a policy requiring all
compensation to be deductible. However, to date we have not exceeded the $1 million limit for any executive officer. Moreover, exceeding that
limitation may not result in the current payment of increased federal income taxes due to our significant net operating loss carryforward.

We account for equity compensation paid to our employees under the rules of SFAS 123(R), which requires us to estimate and record an
expense for each award of equity compensation over the service period of the award. Accounting rules also require us to record cash
compensation as an expense at the time the obligation is accrued.

Summary

The compensation committee believes that our compensation philosophy and programs are designed to foster a performance-oriented
culture that aligns our executive officers’ interests with those of our stockholders. The compensation committee also believes that the
compensation of our executives is both appropriate and responsive to the goal of improving stockholder value.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth above with our
management. Based on its review and discussions, the committee recommended to our board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis be included in this report.

Blake G. Modersitzki
Christopher J. Schaepe
James R. Swartz
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2006 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and the three other highest paid executive officers whose total compensation in fiscal year 2006 exceeded $100,000. We refer to these
executive officers as our “named executive officers”.
 

Name and Principal Position  Year  
Salary

($)  
Option Awards

($) (1)  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)   
Total

($)
Jerry M. Kennelly
    President, Chief Executive and Chairman of the Board  

2006
 

$ 286,666
 

$ 318,441
 

$ 194,917(2)

 
$ 800,023

Steven McCanne, Ph.D.
    Chief Technology Officer and Director  

2006
 

 226,666
 

 318,441
 

 92,358(3)

 
 637,464

Randy S. Gottfried
    Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Business

Services  

2006

 

 205,000

 

 39,804

 

 81,823(4)

 

 326,626

Eric Wolford
    Senior Vice President of Marketing and Business

Development  

2006

 

 231,666

 

 159,216

 

 95,183(5)

 

 486,064

David M. Peranich
    Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales  

2006
 

 107,812
 

 215,853
 

 172,624(6)

 
 496,289

(1) The amounts in this column represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the fiscal
year in accordance with FAS 123(R). These amounts may reflect options granted in years prior to 2006. See Note 1 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report for a discussion of all assumptions made by us in determining
the FAS 123(R) values of its equity awards.

 

(2) This number represents $131,167 that was earned and paid in fiscal year 2006, and $63,750 that was earned in fiscal year 2006, but will
not be paid until fiscal year 2007.

 

(3) This number represents $62,608 that was earned and paid in fiscal year 2006, and $29,750 that was earned in fiscal year 2006, but will not
be paid until fiscal year 2007.

 

(4) This number represents $54,198 that was earned and paid in fiscal year 2006, and $27,625 that was earned in fiscal year 2006, but will not
be paid until fiscal year 2007.

 

(5) This number represents $64,158 that was earned and paid in fiscal year 2006, and $31,025 that was earned in fiscal year 2006, but will not
be paid until fiscal year 2007.

 

(6) This number represents $74,938 that was earned and paid in fiscal year 2006, and $97,686 that was earned in fiscal year 2006, but will not
be paid until fiscal year 2007.

Employment Agreements

We entered into an offer letter dated October 4, 2002 with Jerry M. Kennelly, our President and Chief Executive Officer. The agreement
provides for an annual salary of not less than $200,000. His current annual salary is $300,000.

We entered into an offer letter dated October 4, 2002 with Steven McCanne, Ph.D., our Chief Technology Officer. The agreement provides
for an annual salary of not less than $190,000. His current annual salary is $230,000.
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We entered into an offer letter dated as of January 21, 2004 with Randy S. Gottfried, our Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President

of Business Services. The agreement provides for an annual salary of not less than $170,000 and an option to purchase 500,000 shares of
common stock. Of these shares, 25% will vest after Mr. Gottfried completes 12 months of continuous service, and the balance will vest in equal
monthly installments over the following 36 months. In addition, 50% of the shares subject to the option will also vest if we are subject to a change
in control and Mr. Gottfried’s employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the change in control. His current annual salary is
$215,000.

We entered into an offer letter dated as of April 10, 2003 with Eric Wolford, our Senior Vice President of Marketing and Business
Development. The agreement provides for an annual salary of not less than $200,000 and an option to purchase 500,000 shares of common
stock. Of these shares, 25% will vest after Mr. Wolford completes 12 months of continuous service, and the balance will vest in equal monthly
installments over the following 36 months. In addition, 50% of the shares subject to the option will also vest if we are subject to a change in control
and Mr. Wolford’s employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the change in control. His current annual salary is $240,000.

We entered into an offer letter dated as of July 7, 2006 with David M. Peranich, our Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales. The
agreement provides for an annual salary of $225,000 and target incentive compensation of $200,000 based on performance. The agreement is for
no specific term of employment. If we terminate Mr. Peranich’s employment without cause (as defined in the agreement) within the first 12 months
following his commencement of employment, then we will continue to pay his salary and reimburse his health insurance premiums for up to six
months. Mr. Peranich was granted options to purchase a total of 400,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $6.50 per share,
which will vest over four years. A complete description of the vesting schedules is set forth in the subsection titled “Description of Awards Granted
in 2006.” Mr. Peranich will vest in all of the shares subject to his option if we are subject to a change in control and his employment is involuntarily
terminated within 12 months following the change in control. Involuntary termination includes a discharge without cause or resignation following
any material change in authority, duties or responsibilities, a reduction in base salary or target bonus opportunity, a material reduction in the kind
or level of benefits to which he is entitled, a relocation of his workplace more than 50 miles from its current location, the failure of any successor to
assume our obligations under the agreement, or any material breach of the agreement by us.

Salary and non-equity incentive compensation in proportion to total compensation

The amount of salary and non-equity incentive compensation earned in 2006 in proportion to the total compensation reported for each of
our named executive officers was:
 

 � Jerry M. Kennelly: 60.2%
 

 � Steven McCanne, Ph.D.: 50.0%
 

 � Randy S. Gottfried: 87.8%
 

 � Eric Wolford: 67.2%
 

 � David M. Peranich: 56.5%
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2006 Grants of Plan Based Awards

The following table sets forth each equity award granted to our named executive officers during fiscal year 2006.
 

Name  Grant Date 

Estimated Future
Payouts Under

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Awards
Target ($) (1)  

All Other Option
Awards: Number

of Securities
Underlying
Options (#)  

Exercise or Base
Price of Option
Awards ($/Sh)  

Grant Date Fair
Value of Stock

and Option
Awards ($) (2)

Jerry M. Kennelly  05/01/06  316,670 $ 6.00 $ 1,518,749
 05/01/06  83,330  6.00  399,651
  $ 150,000   

Steven McCanne, Ph.D.  05/01/06  316,670  6.00  1,518,749
 05/01/06  83,330  6.00  399,651
  $ 70,000   

Randy S. Gottfried  05/01/06  50,000  6.00  239,800
  $ 65,000   

Eric Wolford  05/01/06  116,670   6.00  559,549
 05/01/06  83,330  6.00  399,651
  $ 73,000   

David M. Peranich  07/19/06  338,464  6.50  1,576,295
 07/19/06  61,536  6.50  286,585
  $ 200,000   

(1) This column sets forth the target amount of each executive’s non-equity incentive plan payment for 2006.
(2) Represents the fair value of each stock option as of the date it was granted, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R).

Description of Awards Granted in 2006

Each of Messrs. Kennelly and Gottfried and Dr. McCanne was granted options to purchase additional shares of common stock on May 1,
2006 at an exercise price of $6.00 per share. The May 1 options vest and become exercisable ratably over 48 months from the grant date.

Each of Mr. Kennelly and Dr. McCanne was granted an option to purchase 316,670 shares of common stock and an option to purchase
83,330 shares of common stock on May 1, 2006. The options granted to each of Mr. Kennelly and Dr. McCanne will also vest as to 25% of the
shares subject to the option if we are acquired and will vest in an additional 50% of such shares subject to the option if we are acquired and such
officer’s employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the change in control.

Mr. Gottfried was granted an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock on May 1, 2006. The option granted to Mr. Gottfried will
also vest as to 50% of such option shares if we are acquired and his employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the change
in control.

Mr. Wolford was granted an option to purchase 116,670 shares of common stock on May 1, 2006 (Wolford NSO) at an exercise price of
$6.00 per share. 1,786 shares of the Wolford NSO will vest on the first day of every month from June 2006 through December 2006. 2,778 shares
of the Wolford NSO will vest on the first day of every month from January 2007 through December 2009. Lastly, 834 shares of the Wolford NSO
will vest on the first day of every month from January 2010 through May 2010.
 

94

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007



Table of Contents
Mr. Wolford was also granted an option to purchase 83,330 shares of common stock on May 1, 2006 (Wolford ISO) of an exercise price of

$6.00 per share. 2,381 shares of the Wolford ISO will vest on the first day of every month from June 2006 through December 2006. 1,389 shares
of the Wolford ISO will vest on the first day of every month from January 2007 through December 2009. Lastly, 3,333 shares of the Wolford ISO
will vest on the first day of every month from January 2010 through May 2010.

The options granted to Mr. Wolford in 2006 will also vest as to 50% of such option shares if we are acquired and his employment is
involuntarily terminated within 12 months following the change in control.

Mr. Peranich was granted an option to purchase 338,464 shares of common stock on July 19, 2006 (Peranich NSO). 89,140 shares of the
Peranich NSO will vest on July 10, 2007. 7,428 shares of the Peranich NSO will vest on the tenth day of every month from August 2007 through
December 2007. 7,051 shares of the Peranich NSO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2008 through December 2008. 7,051
shares of the Peranich NSO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2009 through December 2009. Lastly, 6,135 shares of the
Peranich NSO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2010 through July 2010.

Mr. Peranich was also granted an option to purchase 61,536 shares of common stock on July 19, 2006 (Peranich ISO). 10,859 shares of
the Peranich ISO will vest on July 10, 2007. 905 shares of the Peranich ISO will vest on the tenth day of every month from August 2007 through
December 2007. 1,282 shares of the Peranich ISO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2008 through December 2008. 1,282
shares of the Peranich ISO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2009 through December 2009. Lastly, 2,197 shares of the
Peranich ISO will vest on the tenth day of every month from January 2010 through July 2010.

The options granted to Mr. Peranich will also vest as to 100% of such option shares if we are acquired and his employment is involuntarily
terminated within 12 months following the change in control.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2006

The following table sets forth information regarding each unexercised option held by each of our named executive officers as of
December 31, 2006.
 
   Option Awards

    

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options (#)   

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options (#)   

Option
Exercise
Price ($)

  
Option

Expiration
DateName   Exercisable   Unexercisable    

Jerry M. Kennelly
  

12,152
46,181

(1)
(2)  

71,178
270,489

(1)
(2)  

$
 

6.00
6.00  

04/30/16
04/30/16

Steven McCanne, Ph.D.
  

12,152
46,181

(3)
(4)  

71,178
270,489

(3)
(4)  

 
 

6.00
6.00  

04/30/16
04/30/16

Randy S. Gottfried   7,291(5)  42,709(5)   6.00  04/30/16
Eric Wolford

  

25,000
12,500
16,666

(6)
(7)
(8)  

0
104,170

66,664

(6)
(7)
(8)  

 
 
 

0.10
6.00
6.00  

05/02/14
04/30/16
04/30/16

David M. Peranich
  

0
0

(9)
(10)  

338,464
61,536

(9)
(10)  

 
 

6.50
6.50  

07/18/13
07/18/13
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(1) Starting on May 1, 2006, the option vests with respect to 1,736 shares after each month of service, provided that Mr. Kennelly remains
employed with us.

 

(2) Starting on May 1, 2006, the option vests with respect to 6,597 shares after each month of service, provided that Mr. Kennelly remains
employed with us.

 

(3) Starting on May 1, 2006, the option vests with respect to 1,736 shares after each month of service, provided that Dr. McCanne remains
employed with us.

 

(4) Starting on May 1, 2006, the option vests with respect to 6,597 shares after each month of service, provided that Dr. McCanne remains
employed with us.

 

(5) Starting on May 1, 2006, the option vests with respect to 1,041 shares after each month of service, provided that Mr. Gottfried remains
employed with us.

 

(6) Starting on May 1, 2004, the option vests with respect to 520 shares after each month of service, provided that Mr. Wolford remains
employed with us.

 

(7) Starting on June 1, 2006, the option vested with respect to 1,786 shares on the first of every month until December 2006. Starting on
January 1, 2007, the option vests with respect to 2,778 shares on the first of every month until December 2009. Starting on January 1,
2010, the option will vest with respect to 834 shares on the first of every month until May 2010.

 

(8) Starting on June 1, 2006, the option vested with respect to 2,381 shares on the first of every month until December 2006. Starting on
January 1, 2007, the option vests with respect to 1,389 shares on the first of every month until December 2009. Starting on January 1,
2010, the option will vest with respect to 3,333 shares on the first of every month until May 2010.

 

(9) On July 10, 2007, the option will vest with respect to 89,140 shares. Starting on August 10, 2007, the option will vest with respect to 7,428
shares on the tenth day of every month until December 2007. Starting on January 10, 2008, the option will vest with respect to 7,051
shares on the tenth day of every month until December 2009. Starting on January 10, 2010, the option will vest with respect to 6,135
shares on the tenth day of every month until July 2010.

 

(10) On July 10, 2007, the option will vest with respect to 10,860 shares. Starting on August 10, 2007, the option will vest with respect to 905
shares on the tenth day of every month until December 2007. Starting on January 10, 2008, the option will vest with respect to 1,282
shares on the tenth day of every month until December 2009. Starting on January 10, 2010, the option will vest with respect to 2,197
shares on the tenth day of every month until July 2010.

2006 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

No shares were acquired upon exercise of options by any of our named executive officers during fiscal year 2006.

Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

Acceleration

The named executive officers are entitled to the following option acceleration upon the occurrence of certain events:

Each option granted to Messrs. Kennelly and McCanne in 2005 and 2006 will vest with respect to 25% of the shares subject to their
options if we are subject to a change in control and will vest in an additional 50% if there is a change in control and such employees’ employment
is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after the change in control.

Each option granted to Mr. Gottfried will vest with respect to 50% of the shares subject to his options if there is a change in control and his
employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after the change in control.
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The options granted to Mr. Wolford in 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006 will vest with respect to 50% of the shares subject to his options if there

is a change in control and his employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after the change in control.

Each option granted to Mr. Peranich will vest with respect to 100% of the shares subject to his options if there is a change in control and
his employment is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after the change in control.

A change in control includes:
 

 � a merger of Riverbed after which our own stockholders own 50% or less of the surviving corporation or its parent company; or
 

 � a sale of all or substantially all of our assets.

Severance

If Mr. Peranich is terminated by us for any reason other than cause on or before July 10, 2007, then we will continue to pay his base salary
until the earlier of (A) six months following his termination or (B) the date that he commences employment with, or provides services as a
consultant to, any entity other than us. If his remuneration from his new position is less than his base salary was from us, then we will continue to
pay his severance less his remuneration from his new position for the duration of the six month period. Mr. Peranich commenced employment with
us on July 10, 2006.

If Mr. Peranich elects to continue his health insurance coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA)
following his termination of employment, then we will pay the same portion of his monthly premium under COBRA as we pay for active employees
until the earliest of (A) the close of the six month period following his termination, (B) the expiration of his continuation coverage under COBRA or
(C) the date when he becomes eligible for substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or
self-employment.

Estimated Payments and Benefits Upon Termination

The amount of compensation and benefits payable to each named executive officer in each termination and change in control situation has
been estimated in the tables below. The value of the option and common stock vesting acceleration was calculated based on the assumption that
the change in control and the executive’s employment termination occurred on December 29, 2006. The closing price of our stock as of
December 29, 2006 was $30.70, which was used as the value of our stock in the change in control. The value of the vesting acceleration was
calculated by multiplying the number of accelerated option shares and common stock as of December 29, 2006 by the spread between the closing
price of our stock as of December 29, 2006 and the exercise price for such unvested option shares and common stock.
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Jerry M. Kennelly

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination before or after a change in control for
Mr. Kennelly, our President and Chief Executive Officer, as if his employment terminated as of December 29, 2006, the last business day of our
last fiscal year.
 

Executive Benefits
and Payments
Upon Termination     

Voluntary
Resignation

Not for
Good

Reason  

Voluntary
Resignation

for Good
Reason  

Termination by
Company Not

for Cause  

Termination
by Company
For Cause  

Change in
Control   

Involuntary
Termination in

connection with or
following Change

in Control  
Compensation:       

Base Salary  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Highest Target Bonus  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Last Fiscal Year Target Bonus  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Unvested Option Shares and

Unvested Common Stock
Accelerated  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 10,075,000(1)  $ 25,788,760(2)

Benefits and Perquisites:       
Health Care Premiums/Contributions $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Accrued Vacation Pay (3)  $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 23,077  $ 23,077 

                    

Total  $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 23,077 $ 10,098,077  $ 25,811,837 
                    

(1) Represents 25% of the shares subject to options held by Mr. Kennelly that will vest upon a change in control.
 

(2) Represents 25% of the shares subject to options granted to Mr. Kennelly that will vest upon a change in control plus an additional 50% of
such shares that will vest if he is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after a change in control.

 

(3) Assumes that Mr. Kennelly had four weeks of accrued but unused vacation, which was paid based on his annual base salary for the last
fiscal year.
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Steven McCanne, Ph.D.

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination before or after a change in control for
Dr. McCanne, our Chief Technology Officer, as if his employment terminated as of December 29, 2006, the last business day of our last fiscal
year.
 

Executive Benefits
and Payments
Upon Termination     

Voluntary
Resignation

Not for
Good

Reason  

Voluntary
Resignation

for Good
Reason  

Termination by
Company Not

for Cause  

Termination by
Company For

Cause  
Change in

Control   

Involuntary
Termination in

connection with
or following
Change in

Control  
Compensation:       

Base Salary  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Highest Target Bonus  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Last Fiscal Year Target Bonus  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Unvested Option Shares and

Unvested Common Stock
Accelerated  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 10,075,000(1)  $ 25,788,760(2)

Benefits and Perquisites:       
Health Care Premiums/Contributions  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0  $ 0 
Accrued Vacation Pay (3)  $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 17,692  $ 17,692 

                    

Total  $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 17,692 $ 10,092,692  $ 25,806,452 
                    

(1) Represents 25% of the shares subject to options held by Dr. McCanne that will vest upon a change in control.
 

(2) Represents 25% of the shares subject to options granted to Dr. McCanne that will vest upon a change in control plus an additional 50% of
such shares that will vest if he is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after a change in control.

 

(3) Assumes that Dr. McCanne had four weeks of accrued but unused vacation, which was paid based on his annual base salary for the last
fiscal year.
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Randy S. Gottfried

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination before or after a change in control for
Mr. Gottfried, our Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Business Services, as if his employment terminated as of December 29,
2006, the last business day of our last fiscal year.
 

Executive Benefits and
Payments Upon Termination   

Voluntary
Resignation

Not for
Good

Reason   

Voluntary
Resignation

for Good
Reason   

Termination by
Company Not

for Cause   

Termination by
Company For

Cause   

Involuntary
Termination in

connection
with or

following
Change in

Control  
Compensation:           

Base Salary   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Highest Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Last Fiscal Year Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Unvested Option Shares and

Unvested Common Stock
Accelerated   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 5,840,520(1)

Benefits and Perquisites:           
Health Care

Premiums/Contributions   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Accrued Vacation Pay (2)   $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 12,238 

                     

Total   $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 12,238  $ 5,852,758 
                     

(1) 50% of the shares subject to options held by Mr. Gottfried will vest if he is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after a change in
control.

 

(2) Assumes that Mr. Gottfried had 2.96 weeks of accrued but unused vacation, which was paid based on his annual base salary for the last
fiscal year.
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Eric Wolford

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination before or after a change in control for
Mr. Wolford, our Senior Vice President of Marketing and Business Development, as if his employment terminated as of December 29, 2006, the
last business day of our last fiscal year.
 

Executive Benefits and
Payments Upon Termination   

Voluntary
Resignation

Not for
Good

Reason   

Voluntary
Resignation

for Good
Reason   

Termination by
Company Not

for Cause   

Termination by
Company For

Cause   

Involuntary
Termination in

connection
with or

following
Change in

Control  
Compensation:           

Base Salary   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Highest Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Last Fiscal Year Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Unvested Option Shares and

Unvested Common Stock
Accelerated   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 5,478,088(1)

Benefits and Perquisites:           
Health Care

Premiums/Contributions   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Accrued Vacation Pay (2)   $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 18,462 

                     

Total   $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 18,462  $ 5,496,550 
                     

(1) 50% of the shares subject to options granted to Mr. Wolford will vest if he is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after a change in
control.

 

(2) Assumes that Mr. Wolford had four weeks of accrued but unused vacation, which was paid based on his annual base salary for the last
fiscal year.
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David M. Peranich

The following table describes the potential payments and benefits upon employment termination before or after a change in control for
Mr. Peranich, our Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales, as if his employment terminated as of December 29, 2006, the last business day of
the our fiscal year.
 

Executive Benefits and
Payments Upon Termination   

Voluntary
Resignation

Not for
Good

Reason   

Voluntary
Resignation

for Good
Reason   

Termination by
Company Not

for Cause   

Termination by
Company For

Cause   

Involuntary
Termination in

connection
with or

following
Change in

Control  
Compensation:          

Base Salary   $ 0  $ 0  $ 112,500(3)  $ 0  $ 0 
Highest Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 
Last Fiscal Year Target Bonus   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0 

Unvested Option Shares and Unvested
Common Stock Accelerated   $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 0  $ 9,680,000(1)

Benefits and Perquisites:          
Health Care Premiums/Contributions   $ 0  $ 0  $ 6,203(4)  $ 0  $ 0 
Accrued Vacation Pay (2)   $ 1,038  $ 1,038  $ 1,038  $ 1,038  $ 1,038 

                     

Total   $ 1,038  $ 1,038  $ 119,741  $ 1,038  $ 9,681,038 
                     

(1) 100% of the shares subject to options held by Mr. Peranich will vest if he is involuntarily terminated within 12 months after a change in
control.

 

(2) Assumes that Mr. Peranich had 0.24 weeks of accrued but unused vacation, which was paid based his annual base salary for the last fiscal
year.

 

(3) Payment is based on Mr. Peranich’s last monthly base salary prior to the termination for a period of 6 months following the date of
termination. This number assumes that Mr. Peranich did not commence employment with, or provide services as a consultant to, an entity
other than us within 6 months after his termination.

 

(4) Assumes that Mr. Peranich’s monthly health care premium under COBRA is $1,033.87 per month and payment of such premium for a
6-month period.

 Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table provides information concerning beneficial ownership of our capital stock as of January 31, 2007, by:
 

 � each stockholder, or group of affiliated stockholders, that we know owns at least 5% of our outstanding capital stock;
 

 � each of our named executive officers;
 

 � each of our directors; and
 

 � all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

The following table lists the number of shares and percentage of shares beneficially owned based on 66,203,349 shares of common stock
outstanding as of January 31, 2007.
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Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and generally includes voting

power and/or investment power with respect to the securities held. Shares of common stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable
within 60 days of January 31, 2007 are deemed outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options for purposes of computing
the number of shares and percentage beneficially owned by such person, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the
percentage beneficially owned by any other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table, and subject to applicable community
property laws, the persons or entities named have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock shown as
beneficially owned by them.

Unless otherwise indicated, the principal address of each of the stockholders below is c/o Riverbed Technology, Inc., 199 Fremont Street,
San Francisco, California 94105.
 
   Beneficial Ownership  
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner   Number   Percent 
5% Stockholders     
Entities affiliated with Accel Partners(1)

428 University Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94301   

13,356,528

  

20.2%

Entities affiliated with Lightspeed Venture Partners (2)
2200 Sand Hill Road
Menlo Park, CA 94025   

13,095,098

  

19.8 

Entities affiliated with UV Partners(3)

2755 East Cottonwood Parkway
Suite 520
Salt Lake City, UT 84121   

6,360,579

  

9.6 

Directors and Named Executive Officers     
Jerry M. Kennelly(4)   6,091,666  9.2 
Steven McCanne(5)   6,001,474  9.1 
Michael R. Kourey(6)   17,291  * 
Stanley J. Meresman(7)   121,866  * 
James R. Swartz(8)   14,840,588  22.4 
Blake G. Modersitzki(9)   6,360,579  9.6 
Christopher J. Schaepe(10)   13,095,098  19.8 
Randy S. Gottfried(11)   561,458  * 
Eric Wolford(12)   667,810  1.0 
David M. Peranich(13)   —    * 
All current directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons) (14)   47,757,830  71.8 

* Less than 1% of the outstanding shares of common stock.
 

(1) Represents 10,410,078 shares held by Accel VIII L.P., 2,044,885 shares held by Accel Internet Fund IV L.P. and 901,565 shares held by
Accel Investors 2002 L.L.C. The general partner of Accel VIII L.P. and Accel Internet Fund IV L.P. is Accel VIII Associates L.L.C. and the
managing members of the general partner and Accel Investors 2002 L.L.C. are James R. Swartz, James W. Breyer, Arthur C. Patterson,
Theresia Gouw Ranzetta and J. Peter Wagner. Each of the managing members exercises shared voting and investment power over the
shares held by the Accel entities. Each of the managing members disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Accel entities
except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.
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(2) Represents 11,520,413 shares held by Lightspeed Venture Partners VI, L.P., 86,297 shares held by Lightspeed Venture Partners VI-A,
L.P., 1,031,893 shares held by Lightspeed Venture Partners VI Cayman, L.P., 402,936 shares held by Lightspeed Venture Partners
Entrepreneur VI, L.P. and 53,559 shares held by Lightspeed Venture Partners Entrepreneur VI-A, L.P. The general partner of the
Lightspeed entities is Venture Investors General Partner L.L.C. and the Members of the general partner are Christopher J. Schaepe, Gill
Cogan, Barry Eggers, Ravi Mhatre, Peter Nieh and Carl Showalter. Each of the Members exercises shared voting and investment power
over the shares held by the Lightspeed entities. Each Member disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Lightspeed entities
except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

 

(3) Represents 6,230,188 shares held by Utah Ventures III, L.P. and 130,391 shares held by Utah Entrepreneurs Fund III, L.P. The general
partner of Utah Ventures III, L.P. is Utah Venture Partners III, L.L.C. and the managing members of the general partner are Blake G.
Modersitzki, James Dreyfous, Allan Wolfe, Carl Ledbetter and Heidi Huntsman. Each of the managing members exercises shared voting
and investment power over the shares held by Utah Ventures III, L.P. Each of the managing members disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares held by Utah Ventures III, L.P. except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein. The general partner of Utah
Entrepreneurs Fund III, L.P. is Utah Entrepreneur Partners III, L.L.C. and the managing members of the general partner are Blake G.
Modersitzki, James Dreyfous, Allan Wolfe, Carl Ledbetter and Heidi Huntsman. Each of the managing members exercises shared voting
and investment power over the shares held by Utah Entrepreneurs Fund III, L.P. Each of the managing members disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares held by Utah Entrepreneurs Fund III, L.P. except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.

 

(4) Represents 6,000,000 shares of common stock held by Kennelly Partners, L.P. and 91,666 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. 583,334 of these shares are subject to a right of repurchase by us in
the event Mr. Kennelly’s service terminates prior to vesting of these shares. Does not include 13,820 shares held by family members of
Mr. Kennelly or 308,334 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.

 

(5) Represents 5,850,000 shares held by Steven McCanne and Tamara R. White, Trustees of the McCanne Family Trust dated July 8, 2002
and successor Trustees thereunder, 29,904 shares held by Steven McCanne, Trustee of the Steven McCanne Revocable Trust u/a/d
11/29/00, 29,904 shares held by Steven McCanne, Trustee of the McCanne K Trust u/a/d 7/21/00 and 91,666 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. 583,334 of these shares are subject to a right of
repurchase by us in the event Dr. McCanne’s service terminates prior to vesting of these shares. Does not include 99,808 shares held by
family members of Dr. McCanne or 308,334 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.

 

(6) Represents 17,291 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. Excludes
52,709 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. Mr. Kourey has a pecuniary interest in shares held by
Accel Internet Fund IV, L.P., but has no voting or investment power over the shares held by this entity. The shares set forth in the table
above do not reflect shares held by this entity.

 

(7) Represents 117,200 shares of common stock held by Stanley J. Meresman & Sharon A. Meresman, Trustees of the Meresman Family
Trust U/D/T dated 9/13/89, as amended, and 4,666 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days
of January 31, 2007. 46,667 of these shares are subject to a right of repurchase by us in the event Mr. Meresman’s service terminates prior
to vesting of these shares. Excludes 27,334 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.
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(8) Represents 889,374 shares held by Burn3 LLC, 494,686 shares held by Homestake Partners L.P., 100,000 shares held by the Swartz
Foundation and 13,356,528 shares held by entities affiliated with Accel Partners. Burn3 LLC and Homestake Partners L.P. purchased their
shares directly from us in our convertible preferred stock financings. See the section titled “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions.” See footnote (1) above regarding Mr. Swartz’s relationship with Accel Partners. Mr. Swartz is the manager of Burn3 LLC,
the general partner of Homestake Partners L.P. and the Trustee of the Swartz Foundation and exercises sole voting and investment power
over the shares held by these three entities. Mr. Swartz disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Accel VIII L.P., Accel Internet
Fund IV L.P., Accel Investors 2002 L.L.C., Burn3 LLC and Homestake Partners L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
Mr. Swartz has pecuniary interests in shares held by Utah Ventures III, L.P. and entities affiliated with Meritech Capital Partners, which are
stockholders of ours, but has no voting and investment power over the shares held by these entities. The shares set forth in the table
above do not reflect shares in these entities.

 

(9) See footnote (3) above.
 

(10) See footnote (2) above.
 

(11) Represents 550,000 shares of common stock held by Randy S. Gottfried, Trustee of the Randy S. Gottfried Trust dated January 7, 2005
and 11,458 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. 164,585 of these
shares are subject to a right of repurchase by us in the event Mr. Gottfried’s service terminates prior to vesting of these shares. Excludes
38,542 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.

 

(12) Includes 70,832 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007. 85,417 of
these shares are subject to a right of repurchase by us in the event Mr. Wolford’s service terminates prior to vesting of these shares.
Excludes 154,168 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.

 

(13) Excludes 400,000 shares subject to options not exercisable within 60 days of January 31, 2007.
 

(14) Includes 287,579 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of options within 60 days of January 31, 2007.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2006 certain information regarding our equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 
   A   B   C

Plan category   

Number of securities to
be issued upon

exercise
of outstanding options,

warrants and rights   

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding
options, warrants

and rights   

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

equity compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in Column A)
Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders   7,043,869  $ 6.18  3,332,859
Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders   —     —    —  
          

Total   7,043,869  $ 6.18  3,332,859
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 Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

In addition to the compensation arrangements with directors and executive officers and the registration rights described below, the
following is a description of each transaction since January 1, 2004 and each currently proposed transaction in which:
 

 � we have been or are to be a participant;
 

 � the amount involved exceeds $120,000; and
 

 � any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any immediate family member of or person
sharing the household with any of these individuals, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Private Placement Financings

Series C Financing

In December 2004, we sold 9,345,796 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at a price of $2.14 per share to various investors,
including entities affiliated with Accel Partners, entities affiliated with Lightspeed Venture Partners, entities affiliated with UV Partners, entities
affiliated with Goldman, Sachs & Co., a managing underwriter in this offering, entities affiliated with James R. Swartz and a family member of Jerry
M. Kennelly. All shares of Series C convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of our common stock in connection with the initial public
offering of our common stock in September 2006.

Series D Financing

In February 2006, we sold 3,738,318 shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock at a price of $5.35 per share to various investors,
including entities affiliated with Meritech Partners, entities affiliated with Accel Partners, entities affiliated with Lightspeed Venture Partners, entities
affiliated with UV Partners, entities affiliated with Goldman, Sachs & Co., a managing underwriter in this offering, and entities affiliated with James
R. Swartz. All shares of Series D convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of our common stock in connection with the initial public
offering of our common stock in September 2006.

Investors’ Rights Agreement

In connection with our Series D financing described above, we entered into an amended and restated investors’ rights agreement with
several of our significant stockholders, including entities affiliated with Accel Partners, entities affiliated with James R. Swartz, entities affiliated
with Lightspeed Venture Partners, entities affiliated with UV Partners, entities affiliated with Goldman, Sachs & Co., a managing underwriter in this
offering, entities affiliated with, and family members of, Steven McCanne, a family member of Jerry M. Kennelly, and Eric Wolford. Pursuant to this
agreement, we granted such stockholders certain registration rights with respect to the shares of our common stock issued upon conversion of the
shares of the preferred stock held by them. These registration rights have been waived with respect to this offering.

Transactions with our Executive Officers, Directors, Significant Stockholders and Underwriters

Customer, Underwriter and Stockholder Relationships

In the ordinary course of our business, our products were sold to Goldman, Sachs & Co., Citigroup and Thomas Weisel Partners LLC.
From our inception through December 31, 2006, we
recognized approximately $5.4 million in aggregate revenue from these sales. Goldman, Sachs & Co.,
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Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Thomas Weisel Partners LLC were managing underwriters in our IPO. We believe that these transactions have
been entered into on terms consistent with terms offered to unrelated third-party customers.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers and certain other key employees. The
form of agreement provides that we will indemnify each of our directors, executive officers and such other key employees against any and all
expenses incurred by that director, executive officer or other key employee because of his or her status as one of our directors, executive officers
or other key employees, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, our restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated
bylaws (except in a proceeding initiated by such person without board approval). In addition, the form agreement provides that, to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law, we will advance all expenses incurred by our directors, executive officers and such other key employees in connection
with a legal proceeding.

Registration Rights

As of December 31, 2006, holders of approximately 39,538,961 shares of common stock and the holders of warrants to purchase 32,967
shares of our common stock will be entitled to rights with respect to the registration of those shares under the Securities Act. Under the terms of
the amended and restated investors’ rights agreement between us and the holders of these registrable securities, if we propose to register any of
our securities under the Securities Act, either for our own account or for the account of other security holders exercising registration rights, these
holders are entitled to notice of registration and are entitled to include their shares of common stock in the registration. Certain of the holders of
the registrable securities are also entitled to specified demand registration rights under which they may require us to file a registration statement
under the Securities Act at our expense with respect to our shares of common stock, and we are required to use our commercially reasonable
efforts to effect this registration. Further, the holders of these registrable securities may require us to file additional registration statements on Form
S-3. All of these registration rights are subject to conditions and limitations, among them the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the
number of shares included in the registration and our right not to effect a requested registration within six months following the initial offering of our
securities.

Director Independence

See the information set forth in the section titled “Corporate Governance—Board Composition” in Part III, Item 10 of this Annual Report.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Parties

We have adopted a written policy requiring that certain transactions, subject to specified exceptions and other than one that involves
compensation, between us and any of our directors, executive officers or beneficial holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any immediate
family member of, or person sharing the household with, any of these individuals, be consummated only if approved by our audit committee and
only if the terms of the transaction are determined not to be inconsistent with the best interests of our company and our stockholders. The
approval of our compensation committee is required to approve any transaction that involves compensation to our directors and executive officers.
This approval process does not apply to any transaction that is available to all of our U.S. employees generally.
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 Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Ernst & Young, LLP, which was our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2006, has been
selected by our audit committee to be the independent registered public accounting firm of Riverbed Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries for the
year ended December 31, 2007.

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees we paid to Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, for
professional services provided during 2006.
 

(in thousands)   2006   2005
Audit fees(1)   $ 489  $ 103
Audit-related fees(2)    1,298   —
Tax fees    —   —
All other fees    —   —

        

Total fees   $ 1,787  $ 103
        

(1) Audit Fees consist of fees incurred for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements and
review of the quarterly consolidated financial statements that are normally provided by Ernst & Young LLP in connection with regulatory
filings or engagements. Audit related fees consist of audit work performed and billed through the date of this filing.

 

(2) Audit related fees relate to professional services rendered in connection with assurance and related services that are reasonably related to
the performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” These fees
primarily consist of matters related to our initial public offering. Audit related fees consist of audit related work performed and billed through
the date of this filing.
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Part IV

 Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements on page 53.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this Annual Report

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes
thereto.

SCHEDULE II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 

   
Beginning

balance  

Additions
charged to
operations  Write-offs  

Ending
balance

   (in thousands)
Trade receivables allowance        

Year ended December 31, 2004   $—  $ 31  $ —  $ 31
                

Year ended December 31, 2005   $31  $ 75  $ (16)  $ 90
                

Year ended December 31, 2006   $90  $ 474  $ (92)  $ 472
                

(c) Exhibits

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference or filed herewith.
 

Exhibit No. Description
3.1

 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.

333-133437).
3.2

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.

333-133437).
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.
4.2

 
Form of Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.

333-133437).
4.3

 

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated February 10, 2006, by and among the Registrant and the
investors listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437).

10.1
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors, executive officers and certain key
employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
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Exhibit No. Description
10.2  

 
Riverbed Technology, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration

No. 333-133437). *
10.3  

 
Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Registrant’s Form S-1

Registration No. 333-133437). *
10.4  

 
Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Officers and Key Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of

Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *
10.5  

 
2006 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreement thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Registrant’s Form

S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *
10.6  

 
2006 Director Option Plan and forms of agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Registrant’s Form

S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *
10.7  

 
2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.

333-133437). *
10.8  

 
Warrant to Purchase Stock issued March 31, 2003 to Silicon Valley Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of

Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.9  

 
501 Second Street Office Lease, dated January 23, 2003, between 501 Second Street Associates, LLC and the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.10

 
First Amendment of Lease, dated January 16, 2004, between 501 Second Street Associates, LLC and the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.11

 
Second Amendment of Lease, dated June 9, 2004, between 501 Second Street Associates, LLC and the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.12

 
Third Amendment of Lease, dated May 24, 2005, between 501 Second Street Associates, LLC and the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.13

 
Legacy Shoreline Center Office Lease, dated November 30, 2005, between WXIII/Crittenden Realty A/B LLC and the

Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.14

 
Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 7, 2004, between Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. and the Registrant

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.15

 
Amendment No. 01, dated September 30, 2004, to Loan and Security Agreement with Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.16

 
Amendment No. 02, dated February 4, 2005, to Loan and Security Agreement with Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
10.17

 
Amendment No. 03, dated September 14, 2005, to Loan and Security Agreement with Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).

10.18
 

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated May 23, 2002, between Steven McCanne and Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.22 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *
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Exhibit No. Description

10.19

 

Stock Restriction Agreement, dated November 7, 2002, among Steven McCanne, Steven McCanne and Tamara R. White,
Trustees of the McCanne Family Trust dated July 8, 2002, and Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.20
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 12, 2005, with Steven McCanne (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.21
 

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated May 23, 2002, between Kennelly Partners, L.P. and Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.25 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.22
 

Stock Restriction Agreement, dated November 7, 2002, among Jerry Kennelly, Kennelly Partners, L.P. and the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.23
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 12, 2005, with Jerry Kennelly (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.24
 

Offer Letter with Randy S. Gottfried, dated January 21, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of Registrant’s Form
S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.25
 

Offer Letter with Eric Wolford, dated April 10, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.26
 

General Release Agreement, dated January 12, 2006, between William Messer and the Registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.30 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.27
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated March 16, 2005, with Stanley J. Meresman (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.31 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.28
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated March 28, 2006, with Michael R. Kourey (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.29
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated April 12, 2006, with Michael R. Kourey (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.33 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.30
 

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Installment Vesting) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.31
 

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Officers and Key Employees) (Installment Vesting) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.32
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 1, 2006, with Steven McCanne (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.33
 

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 1, 2006, with Jerry Kennelly (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.37 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *
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Exhibit No. Description

10.34
 

Fourth Amendment to Office Lease, dated June 10, 2006, between 501 Second Street Associates, LLC and the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).

10.35
 

Offer Letter with David M. Peranich, dated July 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.36
 

Agreement of Sublease dated September 26, 2006 between PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the Registrant (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2006).

21.1   List of subsidiaries.
23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Riverbed Technology, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 8, 2007.
 

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.
By:  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

 
Jerry M. Kennelly,
President and Chief Executive Officer

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.
By:  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED

 
Randy S. Gottfried,
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY
Jerry M. Kennelly   

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)  

February 8, 2007

/S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED
Randy S. Gottfried   

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

February 8, 2007

/S/    STEVEN MCCANNE
Steven McCanne   

Director
 

February 8, 2007

/S/    MICHAEL R. KOUREY
Michael R. Kourey   

Director
 

February 8, 2007

/S/    STANLEY J. MERESMAN
Stanley J. Meresman   

Director
 

February 8, 2007

/S/    BLAKE G. MODERSITZKI
Blake G. Modersitzki   

Director
 

February 8, 2007

/S/    CHRISTOPHER J. SCHAEPE
Christopher J. Schaepe   

Director
 

February 8, 2007

/S/    JAMES R. SWARTZ
James R. Swartz   

Director
 

February 8, 2007
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company

Riverbed Technology Ltd. (UK)
Riverbed Technology S.A.R.L. (France)
Riverbed Technology Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
Riverbed Technology GmbH (Germany)
Riverbed Technology Australia Ltd. (Australia)
Riverbed Technology Korea, Inc. (Korea)
Riverbed Technology Ltd. (Hong Kong)
Riverbed Technology KK (Japan)
Riverbed Technology BV (Netherlands)
Riverbed Technology India Ltd. (India)
Riverbed Technology International, Inc. (Delaware)
Riverbed Technology AG (Switzerland)
Riverbed Technology SRL (Spain)
Riverbed Technology Canada Ltd. (Canada)
Riverbed Technology South Africa (Proprietary) Limited (South Africa)
Riverbed Technology, S.r.l. (Italy)

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-137502) pertaining to the 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan, 2006 Director Option Plan, and the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Riverbed Technology, Inc., of our report dated
February 8, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Riverbed Technology, Inc. included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 8, 2007

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry M. Kennelly, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Riverbed Technology, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: February 8, 2007  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

 Jerry M. Kennelly

 
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Randy S. Gottfried, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Riverbed Technology, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: February 8, 2007  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED

 Randy S. Gottfried

 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Riverbed Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Jerry M. Kennelly, as President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and Randy S. Gottfried, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
Date: February 8, 2007  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

  

 Jerry M. Kennelly

 
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 8, 2007  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED
  

 Randy S. Gottfried

 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

_______________________________________________
Created by 10KWizard     www.10KWizard.com

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 09, 2007
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